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FOREWORD 

The fi~st I.N.A .. trial has been perhaps the most not­
able trial m the hlStory of British India; indeed in some 
respects it may rank as one of the most notable trials in 
history. 

It had a double aspect. It was the occasion of a debate 
on far-reaching ~nd in some respects altogether novel 
propositions of International Law, a subject of lasting in­
terest to lawYers and those interested in law. To the ordi­
nary citizen it was the fascinating and inspiring story of 
a heroic effort-the most famous in Indian history-of 
a great Indian patriot, supported by thousands of his 
coWltrymen, to liberate their country. 

War has always been held legal by International Law . .; 
It has been defined as "a state of regulated violence in 
'.vhich the conduct of hostilities is governed by certain 
principles and rules which rest in part on custom and in 
part on convention and which are sanctioned in the last 
resort by the action of international society, however un­
certain may be their operation." It is further a well ac­
<:epted proposition of that law that anything done in t~e 
prosecution of war, according to civilised notions of war­
fare, has and can have no consequences in municipal law. 

Taking its stand on these accepted principles of Inter­
national Law, the Defence in the I.N.A. trial contend~d 
that the acts in respect of which the charges were lald 
were acts done in the prosecution of war. 

· · nal But could a state of war exist between a ProVJS10 

Government of Free India s~h as was shown to have 
existed by the evidence and a sovereign state such o.s 
Great Britain? 

to be able At one time it was thought that in order a 
to declare war the state must be an independent 0~ter 
sovereign State. International Law, however, in the ma es 
of war has grown with the change of circumstanc r 
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Modem 1.ntenLational Law has recognised tha: a st~te of 
.....,~ 't!a"e.~ ~ "tle:~~n. "a. State a:o..O. a Su:t.e'ttl.O, a~ \.'0. t~ 
~ ~:..:r::-- ~ '\.\ i!!ll..4.'j e-m\ -.."tt.e'te I:)'O.e l:)'l \'he ~\\\~'te'D..'ts 

cUUm.s so'ie'te'l.~ n~ts aga'mst tne otner, "'nether in a 
iedeTa\ or a. unitary State. A civil war between members 
of the same society has also been accepted as ,war \\"ithin 
the meaning of International Law. In a civil ·war if the 
party seeking to dislodge the existing Government succeeds 
and the independence of the Government it has set up is 
recognised, then the acts of such Government are from 
the commencement of its existence regarded as those of 
an independent State. If, however, the political revolt 
fails, still if actual war has been waged, acts of legitimate 
warfare cannot, according to International Law, be 
made the basis of individual liability. It was on this basis 
that the confederate Government of the southern States 
in the· American Civil War was regarded by the, American 
Courts as the military representative of the insurrectionists 
against the military authority of the United States . 

../The matter is ca.nied a step further when the subjects 
of a State rise in revolt against the State itself. Could the 
insurgents be said to be waging war against their parent 
State in a legal·sense? Here again, International Law lays 
down that if the insurgents are sumciently large in num­
bers and set up a 'de facto• political organisation with 
resources to carry on the duties of a state and to employ 
an anny to fight on its behalf, the struggle will be regard­
ed as a state of war. 

International Law must il1 the nature of things evolve 
doctr~ to suit the changing conditions and notions of 
mankind. The Defence contended that modern Interna­
tional Law has recognised the right of subject races not at 
the moment independent, ~ be so organised as to fight for 
their liberation an orgarused war through an organised 
anny. The individual members of an army so organised 
were, it was contended, not answerable before any muni­
cipal Court for what was done in due prosecution of that 
war. 
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So iar. as the ma~ter rest:ed on facts, Defence hao. 
establish tnat th~ Indian Nat1on.a\ !....-m:y was an c.r~anlo-~0. 
a~y belonging ~o ~ duly orga~ised State Whic~ had.T 
c1a.red war on Bntam and Am.enca and was fighting Br·t· e-

. Th" . 1 l.'>h Forces in due prosecution of that war. 1s, 1t appears th 
Defence were able to do in a ~re~t measure by relying 0~ t~ 
evidence led by the Prosecution Itself. The Prosecution 

· d f a d 'not aware perhaps of the lme of e ence, n concentrat· 
•t b 1. lno· on the gravity of the acts of what 1 e Ieved to be insllr"' 

gents and rebels, tendered a considerable body of evict -
which proved the formation of the Provisional Goy:nce 
ment of Free India, the raising of for~es by it, anct t~l­
putting of those forces in the .field agamst Britah1. 'rh e 
indeed was the material which _tlU: Defence needect f~t: 
theit· contentions based upon prmc1ples of Internati 
Law. In the result, the Defence established that the 011~1 
which were the subject-matter of the charges were ~\ 3 

done in the course of the operations of the organised arc s 
of a Government which had attained to the status n"ly 
statehood, which possessed territories cede_d. to it by t~f 
Japanese, which had been accorded reco~mt1on as a Go e 
ern~ent by other States, which had received the Plent V­

tentlary of another state, and which had formally Illa.Q Po­
declaration of war against Britain and America. e a 

Interesting questions also arose in regard to the 1 
of. bJ;!Iigerency. It was contended by the Defence that~ 
existence of war was purely a question of fact. Wheth · 
a struggle runounted to a war or not was to be deternun er 
not from the relation of the combatants to each oth eel 
bu~ from the mode in which the struggle was carried er, 
If In exercise of what has been called "the sacred ri 0~· 
of rebellion" a considerable body of subjects of a State .g t 
in revolt and the struggle became one in which a lllas~ o~; 
the Population engaged itself in warlike operations again 
the State that .POPulation was entitled to be treatecf as bell~ 
gerents. In other words, if in making its struggle for free­
do_m, a subject people reached a stage at which it COUld be 
sa1d to be a struggle waged by an organised anny 

. a~-
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cording to the accepted rules of war that army must be 
accorded, all the rights, privileges and imrnuniti~s 
of the army of a belligerent in war. That status of bell1-

, gerency will involve immunity in respect of all_ acts d_one 
in the prosecution of that war. Insurgents fightmg agamst 
their parent State for liberation may fail or succeed. 
According to the maxim of International LaW, the success­
ful revolution would be the Government established by 

. law. But even if the revolution fails, if the fight tlrey 
carried on was a fight by an organised army in t~e. man­
ner of war, they would still be entitled to recogmt1011 as 
belligerents. 

An interesting argument also arose in regard to ~he 
allegiance owed by officers and other ranks of the Indu~n 
army who had joined the I.N.A. Allegiance may be said 
to be owed to the King and the country. A charge of 
tr~ason in England is a charge of working against ~he I King and the country. But a difficult question anses 
where "the country and the King do not coincide and 
where t_here is an imposed allegiance on a subject people." 
The eVIdence was overwhelming that the object of the 
I.N.A. was to fight for the liberation of India, and that 
they had no other object except the liberation of theh· 
coun~ry. ~ese soldiers were, therefore, though nominall:Y 
fightmg agamst the King really fighting to liberate their 
country. It wa.s further contended that they were freed 
from the allegiance owed by them by the events that had 
happel_led. Soon after the Japanese had overrun Malaya 
and ~mgapore the Indian officers and ranks numbering . 
anythmg between 30,000 to 45 000 duly assembled were 
panded over by Colonel Hunt 'on behalf of the British 
Government to a representative of the Japanese Govern­
ment., The Japanese representative thereupon addressed 
the Indian pris?~ers of war stating that those of them 
who wanted to Jom an army for the purpose of liberation 
of their own country were free to do so. In the circunl­
stances, those who were so handed over had justification 

/to believe that the only allegiance they owed was allegi­
ance to their country. 
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A further point of controversy was the applicability of 
the principles of International Law in the circumstances 
of the case. The Crown contended that International Law 
as such had no binding force before the Tribunal which 

., w~ de!Hing with the matter and that the Tribunal could 
take cognizance only of the rule of domestic or municipal 
law. This contention led to an interesting argument on be­
half of the Defence to the effect that even in municipal 
Courts the law of nations had as binding a force as statute 
or any other law. The Defence contended that the setting 
and the circumstances of the acts charged as offences re­
moved them altogether from the pale of municipal law 
and brought them in the domain of the laWOf nations. 

It must remain a matter of regret tha.t legal issues so 
far-reaching and involving subtle questions of Interna­
tional Law should have arisen before a Tribunal which 
was not composed of men trained in law and which was 
unfamiliar with the administration of justice. 

That fact, however, only enhances our adi11jiration for 
the greatness and grandeur of the argument advanced on 
behalf of the Defence before that Tribunal. In dealing 
with a Tribunal of this character, the work of the Counsel 
for the Defence became ever so much more dim.cult. His 
was the task of giving an exposition of complicated mat­
ters of International Law in very simple language so that 
the Judges whom he was addressing, men of war and 
common sense, may grasp and understand them. It was 
to this end that Shriyut Bhulabhai used his penetrating 
intellect and his persuasive eloquence. No one Who reads 
his speech for the Defence can fail to realise that it is an 
effort worthy of a great and eminent advOcate. 

M. C. _SETALV.Ab 



THE CASE 

Captain Shah Nawaz Khan of 1f14 Punjab Regiment. 
• Captain Premkumar Sahgal of 2/10 Baluch Regiment and 

Lieutenant Gurubax Singh Dhillon of 5/14 Punjab Regi­
ment who hl\d all joined the Indian National Army, orga­
nised by the Provisional Government of Free Ind!a under 
the leadership of Sri Subhas Chandra Bose, at Singapore 
(Shonan) during 1943-45, were arrested as prisoners of 
war after the Allied forces recaptured Malaya and Bu~na 
and were later put on trial before a Court Martial in the I Red .Fort of Delhi. They were all charged with waging 
war against His Majesty the King Emperor of India, Lt. 
Dhillon with the offence of committing murder of Hari 
Singh, Dulichand, Daryao Singh and Dharam Singh, on or 
about 6th March, 1945, and the other two with abetment 
of murder. 

The Court Martial that tried the accused in this case 
consisted of Major-General A. B. Blaxland (President) 
Brigadier A. J. H. Bourke, Lt.-Col. C. R. Stott, Lt. Col. T. I: 
Stevenson, Lt.-Col. Nasir Ali Khan, Major B. Pritam Singh 
and Major Banwari Lal, all of Indian Army. Col. F. c. A. 
Kerin was appointed as the Judge-Advocate. Sit· Nusser-

' wanji P. Engineer, Advocate General of India, assisted by 
Lt.-Col. P. Walsh conducted the Prosecution, while the 
accused were defended by a Committee consisting of Sri 
Bhulabhai J. Desai, Rt. Hon. Sir Tej Bahadur Sapru, Pandit 
Jawaharlal Nehru, Dr. Kailash Nath Katju, Mr. Asaf Ali, 
Bukshi Sir Tek Chand, Rai Bahadur Badri Dass, Kanwar 
Sir Dalip Singh, Dr. P. K. Sen, Md. Shaft Daudi, Inder Deo 
Dua, Shiv Kumar Shastri, Ranbeer Chand Soni, Rajinder 
Narayan, Sultan Yar Khan, Sri Narayan Andley and J. K. 
Khanna. 

The trial continued with short intervals for more than 
two months during which the Prosecution tendered volumi­
nous documentary. evidence and cited many witnesses in 
support of the grave charges against the accused. At the 
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concluding stage of the case Sri Bhulabhai J. Desai. Advo­
rate, Bombay, as the leading c~unsel for the Defence, de-

, livered his address, which will take a very high rank in 
the history of such trials on account of fullness, f~ic 
skill, the exposition of the principles of International Law ana the brilliance of argument. The whole of that address 
has such a pOITtlCal value that the Congress Publications 
thought it worthwhile to depart from its rule of issuing 
32 page booklets and publish it in bookform. 

The great trial came to a clO'se on 3rd January 1946 
when H. E. the Commander-in-Chief. Sir Claude Auchin­
lek, as the Confirming Officer in this case issued the fol­
lowing 'communique':-

"Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan, Capt. Sahgal a11d Lt. 
Dhillon h9.ve stood their trial by Court Martial on charges 
against all three of waging war against the King Emperor. 
Lt. Dhillon being also charged with murder and the other 
two with abetment of murder. 

"The findings of the Court are that all three arc guilty 
of the charge of waging war, while Cap::. Shah Nawaz 
Kh:m is also convicted of the charge of abetl•lcnt of mm·­
der, It. Dhillon is acquittcJ of the charge of murder and 
Capt. Sahgal of the charge of' abetment of murder. 

"Having found the accused guilty of the charge of wog­
mg w:tr. the Court was bound to sentr.n•~e ~.he accused 
E'tther to dcat.h or to transportation for life; no lesser :;en­
tence was permissible under the law. 

"The sentence of the Court on all three accused is trans­
portation for life, casheering and forfeiture o.ll arrears of 
pay anci allowances. 

"No finding or sentence by Court Martial is complet.e 
until confirmed. . The Confirming Officer, in this case the 
Commander-in-Chief, is satisfied that the findings of the 
Court a1·e in each instance in conformity with the evidence 
and he has, therefore, confirmed them. 

ix 



"The confirming Officer is, however, competent to 
itl te commute or remit the sentences. As already 

~~at!~ ~ the Press, it is the policy of the Government of 
In · · to bring to trial in ~uture only such persons as are 
:.lll~:ed in addition to waging war against the State, to 
have c~mmitted acts of gross brutality; and it has been 
announced that in reviewing sentences in any trials the 
competent authority will have regard to the extent. t.o 
which the acts proved offend against the canons of ClVl-
lised behavoiur. ' 

"Lt. Dhillon and Capt. Sahgal have been acquitted of 
the charges of murder, and abetment of murder and it 
has not been alleged that they were guilty of other ads 
of brutality. Although Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan has been 
round guilty of abetment of murder and the acts proved 
against him were harsh; the prevailing circumstances ho. ve 
been taken into account by the Confirming Officer. 

"The Commander-in-Chief! has decided, therefore, to 
treat all three a~cused in the same way in the matter of 
sentence, and to remit the sentences of transportation 
for life against alr three accused. 

"He has, however, confirmed the sentences or cash­
e~ring ~~ forfei~ure of arrears , of pay and allowances, 
smce it IS 111 all ctrcumstances a most serious crime for an 
officer or sc:>ldier to throw of! his allegiance and wage war 
against the State. 

"This is a principle Which it is essential to uphold in 
the interests oi! the stability of any Government by L~w 
established, present or future." 

Congress House, 
Bombay 4. 
subhas Day, 
2srd January, 1945. 

I 
l CONGRESS PUBLICITY BOARD 
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PROCLAMATION 
OF THE 

PROVISIONAL GOVERNMENT OF 

AZAD HIND 

After their first defeat at the hands of the British in 
1757 in Bengal the Indian people fought an uninterrupted 
series of hard and bitter battles over a stretch of one 
hundred years. The history of this period teams with ex­
amples of unparalled heroism and self-sacrifice. And in 
the pages of that history, the names of Sirajuddaula and 
Mohanlal of Bengal, Haider Ali, Tippu Sultan and Velu 
Tampi of South India, Appa Sahib Bhons~e and Peshwa 
Baji Rao of Maharashtra, the Begums of Oudh, Sardar 
Shyam Singh ~tariwala of Punjab and last but not least 
Rani Laxmibai of Jhansi. Tatia Topi, Maharaj Kunwar 
Singh of Dumraon and Na.na Sahib among others-the 
names of all these warrio1·s are forever engraved in letters 
of gold. Unfortunately for us, our forefathers did not 
at first realise that the British constituted a grave threat 
to the whole of India and they did not therefore put up 
a united front against the enemy. Ultimately, when the 
Indian people were roused to the reality of the situation, 
they made a concerted move and under the :flag of Bahadur 
Shah in 1857, they fought their last war as free men. In 
spite of a series of brilliant victories in the early stages 
of this war, ill-luck and faulty leadership gradually 
brought about their final collapse and subjugation. Never­
theless, such heroes as the Rani of Jhansi, Tatia. Topi, 
Kunwar Singh and Nana Saheb live like eternal stars in 
the nation's memory to inspire us to greater deeds of sacri­
fice and valour. 
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Forcibly disarmed by the British after 1857 and sub­
jected to terror and brutality the Indian people lay !'ro­
strate for a while-but with the birth of the Indian 
National Congress in 1885 till the end of the last Worl_d 
War, the Indian people, in their endeavour to recover t~e1 r 
lost liberty tried all possible methods-namely, a.!?;itatlDn 
and propaganda, boycott of British goods, terrorism and 
sabotage-and finally, armed revolution. But an these 
efforts failed for a time. Ultimately, in 1920, when the 
Indian people haunted by a sense of failure, were groaping 
for new methods, Mahatma Gandhi came forward witl":. 
the new weapon ~f non-co-operation and civil-disobedience. 

For two decades thereafter, the Indian people went 
through a· phase of intense patriotic activity. The mes­
sage of freedom was carried to every Indian home. Through 
personal example, people were taught to suffer, to sacri­
fice, and to die in the cause of freedom. From the cities 
to the remotest villages, the people were knit together 
into one political organisation. Thus the Indian people 
not only recovered their political consciousness, but be-

. came a political entity once again. They could now speak 
with one voice and strive with one will for one common 
goal. From 1937 to 1939, through the work of the Congress 
Ministries in eight provinces, they gave proof of their 
'I'eadiness and their capacity to administer their own 
affairs. 

Thus, on the eve of the present World War, the stage 
was set for the final struggle for India's liberation. During 
the course of this war, Germany with the help of her allies, 
ha~ dea~t shatte~ing blows to our enemy in Europe-· 
while Nippon, With the help of her allies has inflicted a 
knockout blow to our enemy in East Asia. Favoured by 
a most happy combination of circumstances, the Indian 
people today have a wonderful opportunity for achieving 
their national emancipation. 

For the first time in recent history, Indians abroad 
have also been politically roused and united on -one organi-
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sation. They are not only thinking and feeling in tune wiLh 
their countrymen at home, but are also marching in step 
with them along the path to freedom. In East Asia in 
particular, over two million Indians are now organised 
as one solid phalanx, inspired by the slogan of "Total \ 
Mobilisation". And in front of them stand the serried 
ranks of India's Anny ·of Liberation, with the slogan "On­
ward to Delhi" on their lips. 

Having goaded Indians to desperation by its hypocrisy 
and having driven them to starvation and death by plun­
der and loot, British rule in India has forfeited the good­
will of the Indian people altogether, and is now liVing· a 
precarious existence. It needs but a flame to destroy the 
last vestige of that unhappy rule. To light that flame is 
the task of India's Army of Liberation. Assured of the en-

-thusiastic support of the civil population at home and also 
of a large section of Britain's Indian Army, and backed 
by gallant and invincible allies abroad, relying in the first 
instance on its own strength, India's Anny of Liberation 
is confident of fulfilling its historic ro!e. 

Now that the dawn of freedom is at hand, it is the 
duty of the Indian people to set up Provisional Govern­
ment of their own and launch the last struggle under 
the banner of that 'Government. But with all the IndinJ1 
leaders in prison and the people at home totally disarmed 
-it is not possible to set up a Provisional Government 
within India or to launch an armed struggle under the 
aegis of that Government. It is therefore the duty of the 
Indian Independence League in East Asia, supported by 
all patriotic Indians at home and abroad, to undertake 
this task-the task of setting up a Provisional Govern­
ment of Azad Hind (Free India), and of conducting .the 
last fight for freedom, with the help of the ArmY of ~be; 
ra.tion <that is, the .Azad Hind Fauj or the Indian Natwna 
ArmY) orgahised by the League. 

Having been constituted as the Prov.lsfona.l Gover1.1-

ment of Azad Hind bY the Indian Independence League m 



East Asia, we enter upon our duties with a full sense of 
the responsibility that has devolved on us. We pray that 
Providence may bless our work and our struggle for the 
emancipation of our Motherland, and our comrades in 
a.rms for the cause of her Freedom, for her welfare and 
her exaltation among the nations of the world. 

It will be the task of the Provisional Government to 
launch and to conduct the struggle that will bring about 
the expulsion of the British and of her allies from the soil 
of India. It will then be the task of the Provisional Gov­
ernment to bring about the establishment of a 
permanent National Government of Azad Hind con­
stituted in accordance with the will of the Indian peo­
ple and enjoying their confidence. After the British and 
their allies are overthrown, and until a permanent Na­
tional Government of Azad Hind is set up in Indian soil, 
the Provisional Government will administer. the affairs of 
the country in trust for the Indian people. 

The Provisional Government is entitled to and hereby 
claims, the allegiance of every Indian. It guarantees re­
ligious liberty, as well as equal rights and equal opportuni­
ties to all its citizens. It declares its firm resolve to pursue 
the happiness and prosperity of the whole nation and of 
all its parts, cherishing all the children of the nation 
equally and transcending aU the differences .cunningly 
fostered by an alien government in the past. 

.t' 
In the name of God, in the name of bygone generations 

who have welded the Indian people into one nation, at1d 
in the name of the dead heroes who have bequeathed to us 
a. tra.dition of heroism and self-sacrifice, we call upon the 
Indian people to rally round our banner, and to strike for 
India's freedom. We call upon them to launch the final 
struggle against the British and all their allies in India., 
and to prosecute the struggle with valour and perseverance 
and with full fai~h in ?Nnal Victory-until the enemy is 
expelled from Ind1an so11, and the Indian people are once 
again a Free Nation. 
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I. N. A. DEFENCE 
ADDRESS BY 

SRI BHULABHAI J. DESAI 

During the last many days you have heard evidence 
on the two charges with which my clients, the accused be­
fore you, have been arraigned. _Shortly stated, the two 
charges are waging war against the King and without de­
tailing anything, murder and abetment of mdrder, in that 
certain deserters were tried and ordered to be shot. My 
submission to the Court is that substantially there is really 
one charge before the Court, because in so far as the charge 
of murder is concen1ed it is a part oD the first charge; and 
I say so for this reason that it would be quite possible, in 
the case of a charge of waging war against the King, to be 
able to charge every single act of firing a shot, which would 
be, I think, 'reducio ad absurdem'; and therefore it will be 
my duty later on to point out to the Court that really and 
truly there is only one charge before the Court and that 
is waging war against the King. Evidence has been admit­
ted on other matters to which I do not wish at this stage 
to refer, so that for the moment, I will occupy the time of 
the Court i'or the purpose of considering what facts have 
been established in support of the first charge, namely, 
V{aging war against the King; and in due course it will 
also be my ctuty to point out to the Court that in so !ar ~s 
the second charge is concerned, there is no foundation m 
fact for it except to this extent that in reference t~ the 
four persons who are alleged to have been shot there IS on 
record evidence that they were tried and sentence passerl. 
In reference to Muhammed Hussain, there is nothing on 
record to show that any sentence was passed. In all these 

•-
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cases it will be my duty to submit that on the evidence the 
Court is bound to come to the conclusion that though sen­
tence was passed in one case and not at all passed in the 
other, none of these sentences was actually carried out. 
That is the nature of the examination on flacts which will 
be necessary for me to place before this Honourable Court. 

There are one or two matters which I am bound to 
mention to the Court before I come to the actual facts of 
the case. This case raises issues which are not of the nor­
mal type which a Court Martial is called upon to decide, 
because most, if not all, of such cases are generally cases 
of individual derelection of: duty or individual offences. 
Here is a case in which, I venture to say-and the evidence 
supports it-that it is not at all a case of what you might 
call three individuals wag,ing war against the King. The 
evidence amply bears out the fact that these men charged 
before you were a part of an organised army which waged 
war against the King even according to the Prosecution. 
Therefore the case before the c·ourt is not a personal case 
of any kind or sort. The honour and the law of the Indian 
National Army are on trial before this Court. What is nm"lr 
on trial bef'ore the Court is the right to wage war with im­
munity on the part of a subject race for their liberation. 
I shall be able to cite authorities on International Law 
that a nation or part of a nation does reach a stage where 
it is entitled to wage war for its liberation, and I shall be 
:able to prove that point to your Honours' sa.tisfaction. 

There is another thing I wish to say, and I say it with 
a certain degree of earnestness. This case has naturally 
aroused. a considerable amount of public interest. It is not 
for me to say whether it is right or not but the fact re­
mains that.it is so, and opinions have been expressed from 
the point'ofl view of the public and from the point of view 
of what I might call 'omcial sources' beginning with the 
Viceroy of India. You, Sirs, having sworn to do justice to 
these men on the evidence before you will, I have not th_e 
smallest doubt, come to your own decision guided by your 
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conscience and entirely unaffected , by opinions for or 
against them. For in all trials of th~ kind-and in a few 
of them I have had the honour to be engaged-it is very 
difficult for the human mind to maintain that detachment 
which justice requires. In the case of Juries I have had 
to caution them against the use or abuse of the effect of 
public expressions of opinions on matters which it is for 
them to decide. In this case what I wish to say is this. 
Having studied the rules which guide the proceedings be­
fore this Court I find that you, Sirs, are the judges both of 
law and of fact. I am aware that the Judge-Advocate who 
is your adviser, will take care to do justice to everything 
that myself or my learned friend on the other side Will 
place before you on questions of' law and fact, and while 
you will very seriously regard his advice in the end, the 
final decision is your privilege and your responsibility. 
Therefore what I might have done in another place I do 
not do before you and that is, I cannot say that I will 
address the Judge on law and the Jury on the facts. There 
it is an easier process because I must confess that before 
a trained Judge it is easier to deal with the question of 
law than before a tribunal of this character. At the same 
time I h'ave this consolation that sometimes if the law is 
plain-as I submit it is in this case, it will probably be 
much easier appealing to commonsense, to establish the 
law on which I rely, and I desire to ask your indulgez:ce 
and your attention in the somewhat difficult task which 
I am undertaking. 

My next submission to the Court is that I desire, as far 
as possible, to state categorically the conclusions of f~t 
which are established in this case. Having done that I Will 
proceed to deal with the law applicable to· them. In deahl-

t ·ein te ing with any single item, should any doub ans 
Court's mind I trust that you will be pleased to tell _me, so 
that if it is ~ecessary I will go into the details of evldtehnce, 

, . , . d I d t d . unless ere because as at present advise , o no esrre, . 
is a real doubt about it, to weary you with readu~-~~:r 
250 pages of evidence and about 150 pages of e 1 1 s, 
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which are before the Court. A few important ones I will 
certainly read where necessary. Having regard to the at­
tention which the Court has paid to the evidence as it was 
recorded, I will avoid. reading them in extenso. 

With these remarks I now proceed to place before the 
Court what I submit are the conclusions of fact justified 
by evidence. , Before I do that, I will give you a few im­
portant events. In the month of December 1941, war was 
declared by Japan against Britain and America. Then fol­
lowed certain events which are the subject-matter of con­
troversy to a certain extent before this Court. The next 
event of importance is the surrender of the British Indian 
forces at Singapore, which took place on 15th February, 
and then the most important material event took place 
on 17th February at Farrer Park. · 

The next event or importance, after that which the 
Court will have to bear in mind, is the formation of what 
I shall shortly describe as the first Indian National Army 
in the month of September 1942. The next event of im­
portance is the dissolution of that Army in the month of 
December 1942 and the arrest of Capt. Mohan Singh. The 
next important events thereafter are the efforts which were 
being made for the formation oJ; the second Indian Na­
tional Army. On 2nd July 1943, Sri Subhas Chandra Bose 
arrived in Singapore. He later took command of the In­
dian National Army and there was a conference of what 
is called Greater East Asia attended by Indians, with dele­
gates belonging to the Indian Independence League from 
different parts of the Far Eastern countries. One of the 
resolutions at that Conference was that a Provisional Gov­
ernment of Free Ind(a should be established. The next 
event of importance is that on the 21st October 194:3 there 
was proclaimed a Provisional Government of Free Indin. 
which for brevity I will call 'Provisional Government'. That 
Proclamation is one to which I shall refer later, but now 
I will try to give the Court events of importance which the 
Court will have to bear in mind. On the proclamation of 
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that Government the different Ministers concerned with 
the functions of the State took oaths of Allegiance, of 
course headed by Netaji Subh3.$ Chandra Bose as the head 
of the State. The next event of! importance is the declara­
tion of war by that Government on Britain and America. 
The next event of importance thereafter is that so far as 
the I.N.A. was concerned it began to carry out its functions 
under the orders of the new State. Thereafter the events 
of importance so far as the actual facts are concerned, are 
only three: the movement of this Government from Singa­
pore to Rangoon; the movement of the Indian National 
Army from Burma into, beyond and within the territories 
of India right up to Kohima; and the rest, dealing with 
the retreat of that Army back again until the event which 
took place at Rangoon slightly before, at the time, and 
slightly after the occupation of Burma by the British 
Forces. These, Sirs, are the main undisputed events with 
which the Court is concerned. Bearing in mind these 
events, I shall now place before the Court the conclusicns 
of facts which we submit have been established either in 
cross-examination of the evidence of the prosecution or in 
the affirmative evidence which we have called in defence. 

The first conclusion of fact which we ask this Court 
to accept is that the Provisional Government of Free India 
was formally established and proclaimed. I submit, Sirs, 
there can be no doubt about this event and no cross-exa­
mination of witnesses who have been called to prove that 
event, as far as I can see, has been seriously attempted. 
You have to remember, Sirs, the picture of the procla"ll.a­
tion of that Government and Exhibits put in on that point. 
Before I proceed a~y further, I wish to call attention to 
that proclamation. It is Exhibit FFFF before this Court, 
I do not wish to read the whole of that document; the only 
passages which I wish to read are passages which bear 
on the issue before this Court. 

(Reads paragraph 2 of Exhibit FFFF) 
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Then I do .not need to read the next paragraph. 
(Reads the next paragraph beginning with words 
"Thus on the event of' the present world war" and end­
ing with the words "total mobilization".) 

I stop here to submit to the Court that evidence has been 
adduced as to the number of Indians in East Asia and the 
figure ·mentioned here is more or less what is borne out 
before the Court. 

(Reads rest of the paragraph up to the word 'exist­
ence'.) 

I will ;:ead the last but one paragraph. 

(Reads last but one paragraph of Exhibit FFFF be­
" ginning with the words "It will be the task of the 

Provisional Government" and ending with the 
word "freedom.") 

Then follows the signature ·of the members of the Gov­
ernment. The reason why I called attention to this docu­
ment is the purpose for which the Provisional Government 
was f'ormed, and the means by which that Provisional Gov­
ernment intended to carry out its purpose. The fact that 
it failed to achieve its purpose is entirely irrelevant to the 
issue before this Court. That is the first fact which we 
say has been established. The second fact which we say 
has been established is that it was an organised Govern­
ment. It does not require many words to establish that 
proposition. Witnesses have -spoken before the Court as 
to the allocation of duties which appear at the end of the 
document which I have just read to the Court, and it is 
1 0 in evidence before the Court that the Indian Inde­

a s dence League became the executive of the Provisional 
pen ernment which organized, so 1'ar as it was possible to 
Go~ tb.ose warlike conditions, the care of the people who 
do 1~ allegiance to it. In the month of June 1944, as the 
ow_e e is quite clear-it is also in the Exhibit-in Malaya 
ev1den~ 30 000 persons actually took written Oaths of Alle­
a~one, t' 'the Government. That was in June 1944, and 
g1ance o 
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it is in evidence that thereafter the process continued. 
The object of stating the figures is that it was not a case 
of a Government of what you may call, or what somebody 
being my opponent may facetiously call, a set of rehels, a 
desultory sort of crowd oi' no consequence. I wish to give 
a lie to that kind of suggestion, and that is the reason 
why I suggest that the Provisional Government was an 
organized Government to whom the whole of the two mil­
lion odd people owed allegiance, and out of whom 2,30,000 
persons actually took the Oath of Allegiance in Malay:\. 

Then, Sir, the next fact which I submit is established 
before the Court is that this Government was recognized 
by the Axis powers. I use that expression briefly because 
it is quite unnecessary either in law or in fact to prove 
that the recognition must be by a particular number of 
Governments or by a particular class of Governments. The 
recognition is proof and more than proof that it had the 
right to declare war for the purpose for which it intended 
to fight, and having the right to declare war in so far as 
its armies were concerned they became subject to the in­
ternational laws of war. 

On the question of recognition, I wish to call atten­
tion to certain cross-examination by my learned friend. 
Of course in so far as recognition by Germany or Italy was 
concerned there could be no cross-examination and none 
was attempted. But with reference to certain East Asia 
matters in those days, a suggestion was made that those 
Governments were under the control of Japan. I for my 
part, with very great respect, fail to understand the sig­
nificance of the suggestion. Supposing Japan had an Em­
pire, that is to say succeeded in keeping the territories it 
conquered without giving them liberty, the recognition 
would be none the less effective because it makes no dif­
ference whether and _which Government recognised this 
particular Government of Free India. The point still re­
mains, and I assert that the recognition is but a proof of 
what I may call a statehood which gives it the capacity 
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of declaring and making war for the liberation of' its own 
countrymen. The materia1 point therefore is whether it 

/ had attained that degree of statehood which gave it that 
power. Once you have a State which can and is entitled 
to declare war, the war itself is its own justification. There 
is no question that any two independent States have a 
right to declare war. Any act done in the prosecution of 
that war is justified by the mere fact of the war itself. 
Barring this, it may be asked why trials are going on in 
parts of Asia and elsewhere, and in Germany. In f'act they 
themselves emphasize the truth of the correctness of the 
proposition that any act done in due prosecution of war 
cannot be the subject of any municipal court by way of 
examination. What has hapened is that in addition to the 
due prosecution of war according to civilised laws, indivi­
duals have been guilty of acts outside the pale of civilised 
warfare, which we popularly call now war crimes. But the 
very f'act that you can only deal with and do deal with 
war crimes, emphatically and clearly proves that in so far 
as the normal civilised conduct of war is concerned includ­
ing the use of an atomic bomb, is outside the pale of exa­
mination by way of right or wrong by any municipal tri­
bunal. 

'!'hen Sirs, the next fact which I submit is established 
is that th~s s.tate had an army which was properly orga­
nised, havmg lts own distinctive badges and emblems, func­
tioning under :egu~arly appointed officers. I am obliged 
to the Prosecu~lOn 1n this matter for I was spared the ne­
cessitY of havmg to Prove this proposition. They put ill. 
document after document to show that the Indian National 
.1'1rrnY was properly or_ganised. First, that it was regulat-

d bY an Indlan National Army Act. The only point as 
~ as I could see from the cross-examination which was 
far de was with reference to certain items of corporal 
111~1isl"unent. On that it is necessary to point out to the 
pU ·t that for the moment those who pursue that course 
coni t the course of legislation in Britsih India itself. It 
forge that Lieut. Nag told the court that apart from the 
is true 
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Indian Army Act certain prov1s1ons relating to corporal 
punishment were incorporated in the Indian National 
Army Act. It was probably fbrgotten that a little while 
before, in the Indian Army Act were incorporated provi­
sions in Section 45 of that Act, headed "Corporal Punish­
ment." I am reading from Section 45 of the Indian Army 
Act of 1911: 

"Where any person subject to this Act, and under 
the rank of warrant officer-

(a) on active service, is guilty of any offence; 

or 

(b) at any time is guilty of the offence specified 
in clause (d) of section 31: or 

(c) at any time is guilty ofl a civil offence which. 
would be punishable with whipping under the 
law of British India, and is triable by court­
martial under this Act, 

it shall be lawful for a court-martial to award for that 
offence corporal punishment not exceeding thirty lashes." 

It is true that about the time of this war this parti~ 
cular provision was omitted. But it is a mistake to think 
that a similar provision in the Indian Statute Law dirl not 
exist. As a matter of fact, in so far as the Defence of In­
dia Act and certain Ordinance·s are concerned, the pro­
vision was definitely made, making corporal punishment 
as part of the punishment applicable to the personnel of 
the Indian Army. Ordinance 37 of 1943 practically replac­
ed the provisions of the Indian Army Act which were not 
found in it; a certain amount of effort was made as if 
under an Act governing a civilised army corporal punish­
ment was not permissible as against the provisions which 
were to be found in the Indian National Army Act. I am 
quite certain that it was done under misapprehension. 

The Military Operation Areas Special Powers Ordin­
ance, Part II, Section 22 and 23 read: 



"Sec. 22: Whoever commits an offence punishable 
under section 121-A, 122, 125 or 131 of the Indian Penal 
Code (XLV of 1860) may, in lieu of any punishment. to 
which he is liable under the said code, be punished Wlth 
death. 

"Sec. 23: Whoever contravenes any of the provi­
sions ·of Rule 36 of the Defence or India Rules or is deem­
ed under the provisions of the said Rules to have contra­
vened such provision, may, in lieu of any puni~iunent. to 
which he is liable under the said Rules, be punished Wlth 
death, or with whipping, in addition to any punishment to 

· which he is liable under the said Rules." 

I will be able if necessary to read out all the Rules 
which clearly show that under the Indian Law, taken as a 
whole, the punishment with reference to whipping exists, 
such as the provision which was made in the Indian Army 
Act. I have got, Sirs, a summary made out of the provi­
sions w~th reference to whipping which I sh~.ll afterwards 
hand over to the Court. Shortly stated, my submission to 
the Court is this that the only attack made by the Advo­
cate-General on the making and framing of the Indian 
National Army Act, was the provision with reference to 
whipping, and I submit to the Court that that was done 
under a misapprehension, for it is as mu_!:ll a part, though 
not technically quite, in the Indian Army Act but in the 
Defence of India Rules and the Ordinance. It makes no 
difference. But taking in the aggregate, Indian legisla­
tion does sanction corporal punishment throughout tht> 
period with which we are concerned and therefore it is 
that I say and submit to the court that this was a pro­
perly organised army, having a code of its own, which for 
all practical purposes is the Indian Army Act and any con­
demnation of the rules under which that army functioned 
is a condemnation of the Indian Army Act itself, which I 
submit is not the purpose of the Prosecution in this case. 
Therefore, we come back, Sirs, to this point that this was 
an organized army functioning under a civilised code. As 
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regards the appointment of officers and the regular me­
thod by which it was done, as regards the different bran­
ches and the functions, you, Sirs, are more competent than 
myself to judge from the documents which have been 
placeQ. before you. They are in the shape of army orders 
or orders of' the day and so on, which have been placed 
before the Court. On a question of fact we have arrived 
so far that there was a state which declared war for the 
purpose of fighting for the liberation of the country and 
it had an organised army, organised under a code which 
for all practical, substantial purposes, accorded with the 
aggregate law on the same subject prevailing in British 
India. I use the word aggregate, because I must bring 
·in the other laws also which provided for and permitted 
the infliction of corporal punishment in all these ca...c:;es. 

The next fact which is established beyond all dispute 
was that the object of the declaration of war by the Fro­
visional Government of Free India was the liberation of 
India. 

The next important fact which I think must be men­
tioned is that the Indian National Army was formed with 
two purposes. The main purpose was the securing the 
liberation of India and no doubt, Sirs, from the most im­
portant witness that the prosecution called, it has never 
been difficult to establish that that was the object with 
which that Atmy was formed and that was the object with 
which the individuals who joined it. The other 
object also was which was somewhat subordinate, but use­
ful purpose, the protection such as could be afforded to 
the Indian inhabitants of Burma and Malaya, particularly 
during the days when law and order ip. those parts of the 
country was poorly looked after, the lives and the honour 
and the property of the people was not quite so easily 
protected. 

The first object is the one which the army was called 
upon to fulfil as a part of its duties. Again taking the 
evidence as a whole, I submit it has been amply proved 
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before this court that the I.N.A. was formed with the 
object of fighting for the liberation of India ancl also 
with the object of protecting the lives, honour and pro­
perty of people residing in East Asia at that time. 

The next point which is established, I submit, is this­
though I speak with less confidence because I do not see 
it admitted-but the fact has been proved and it is my 
duty to examine the evidence on it, is that the Japanese 
Government or the Nippon Government as it is called, 
ceded to the new InQ.ian state the islands of Nicobar and 
Andamans, that the Indian State acquired territory in the 
form of Ziawadi, which was about fifty square miles in 
area, and that it administered for a period of four to six 
months the Manipur and Vishnupur areas. 

As regards the first, in so far as Lieut. Nag was con­
cerned, he has given definite evidence that the two islands 
were ceded. The evidence falls under· three parts: the 
first is a declaration to that e:f:Iect by the Japanese Gov­
ernment, announced by a document which. has been prov­
ed before this Court. That document is a statement by 
General Tojo that they were about to concede the islands 
of Andamans and Nicobar to the Free Indian Government. 
That document is UUUU. (Counsel reads relevant portions 
of the document) : This was on the 5th November 1943. 

Then followed events which clearly showed that that 
purpose was carried out. You have· in evidence that that 
declaration was made and that the new Indian State was 
called upon to administer it by means of a Commissioner, 
that a Commissioner was in fact appointed, that the Com­
missioner in fact went, and you have evidence of' a de11-
nite ceremony at which the naval and military authori­
ties then in charge handed over the islands to the Com­
missioner on behalf of the Indian State at Port Blair. 
These are points on which, as far as I am able to see the 
evidence, very little criticism has been made by way of 
cross-examination. 
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The point on which there has been a difference bet- · 
ween the Prosecution and ourselves is the actual form and 
extent of the administration of the islands. But it is 
clearly a misconception to confuse the ceding of a terri­
tory and taking over every item of administration of. that 
territory, particularly under the conditions then prevail­
ing. The fact is-and it is commonsense I submit-that a 
house might well be sold and completely sold, sold out­
right and yet possession for a time may not be wholly 
given. It is a familiar illustration I am giving, so that it 
is easy to appreciate. In the somewhat elaborate cross­
examination for this purpose of Col. Loganadhan, it was 
intended merely to point out that the whole of the admi­
nistration was not taken over-which is not denied-he 
said it over and over again; and I think it is established 
and I•ask the Court to hold it is established that he went 
for the purpose of taking over the administration. It is 
true that he did not take over more than two items-one, 
education and the fact that the area was small and the 
people ignorant is hardly an argument that he had not 
taken over the administration. I dare say in other cowl­
tries where the standard of literacy is something like 99 
percent, there are many more schools than in this unfor­
tunate country where the standard of literacy is probably 
15 percent': Therefore the argument that schools were 
few and the expenditure was so little-! think there is very 
little point in the cross-examination on this matter. I did 
enter a protest but it was overruled and it is not for me 
to say anything more about it. But you do not detract 
from the cession of a territory in quantity or time by 
pointing out that the whole of the administration was not 
and could not be taken over. Colonel Loganadhan told 

·the Court again and again-almost painfully over again-­
of the f'act that until he got complete control of the police 
in the matter of spies (which seemed to be a sore point 
with the local inhabitants), he was not prepared to take 
over any other part of the administration. But there is 
one significant thing that my learned friend got out of 
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colonel Loganadhan, and that is that one of the officers 
who went with him, administered what you may call very 
elementary justice which it was possible to do in the con­
ditions then prevailing in the islands. So much so that 
having asked it and got it, he tried to shake it off but he 
could not, and it was proved to the hilt that Justice and 
Education were taken over. True, police was not taken 
over because the Japanese from the point of view of 
deft!nce were keen on retaining control over what you may 
call the spy population of these islands. But one thing 
remains and that is the most significant fact, and that 
is the renaming of the islands. So that any amount of 
examination as to why or how month by month or day by 
daY further acts of ~dministration were not made, cannot 
possibly get rid of three important facts: first, the clear 
solemn declaration that the islands would be hande•d over 
shortly. A suggestion was made-it remained at a sug­
gestion only-that they would be handed over after the 
war. Where my ~iend got the words "after the war" t 
do not know. I hope he will point it out and that is why 
1 read out this document. The document clearly shows 
that they were to be very shortly handed over. 

The second fact was that it was to be administered 
through a Co~missioner, which was a definite eproposition 
xnade at that tune. A Commissioner was in fact nominated 
bY the Provisional Government and the Commissioner in 
fact reached there and began to function. No doubt, 
as in every case of this kind, I presume this Court will take 
aiJllost judici~l notice of the fact as to how Germany and 
ther countnes are being administered today. No ,doubt 

~he xnan was qualified, and he may book the bes_t educated 
xnan froxn amongst his staff, and he hoped that the local 

chineTY would soon adapt itself fror the purpose of con­
rx::uing the administration, because it is unthinkable that 
t can transfer quickly and at one stroke the whole ad-
you h' · . tstrative mac. 1_nery from one country to another. Any-
rn~ whO is fam1har With the administration of this very 
bO Y try iS aware that Britain administers this country 
coun ' 



through practically the entire machinery of the Indian 
People themselves. ~o _that the nu~ber of men and all 
the rest of it, I submit, Is so much, Without any disrespect 
hot air. The real point is, were or were not the island: 
ceded? And I say there is so much evidence that they-s 
were. 

The last point is the re-naming of the islands: Shahid 
and Swaraj. 

I submit that it is clearly established on the eviden 
beJtore this court that though by reason of the exigenc·ce 
of the situation, it may not have been possible to take 0 Ies 
the complete administration, in law and in fact the isla:~r. 
were given over to the Indian State, or to what I waul~ 
call the Provisional Government. 

Next I deal with the question of Ziawadi. The P . 
t . .d 0Sl­Ion is this, accordance to the evi ence_ on. the record. 
that this was a property, about 50 sq. miles m area, With 
15,000 inhabitants who were Indians. It had on it a su 
factory and various other means of production, agri g~lr 
t h f d . . cu­ural or otherwise and every branc o a numstration 
tha~ territory was carried out by ~en appointed by d:.! 
Indian National Army and belongmg to the Azad II" 
Dal. Ind 

My learned friend did not even venture, in the cour 
of cross-examination, to challenge t~e truth _ofl the stat!~ 
ments made before this court by Witness Sh1v Singh 
Arshad on this head. Shiv Singh said that every bra~n~ 
of administration was taken over. He gave the names ~. 
the person who was the officer in charge of. every bran ~ 
of administration, Revenue, Police, P.W.D., Justice bo~h 
civil and criminal. Under these circumstances, the le 
position is simple. I shall come to it in s:reater det~~~ 
afterwards. Japan conquered Burma.. ~Y nght of con­
quest it was in a position to dispose as It lll\:ed of the Who! 
or any portion of any territory and as the witness tal~ 
you clearly, by reason of the agreement betwe;n the Pr 
visional Government and the Nippon Government, th~ 
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territory was handed over as a part of the liberated ter­
ritory to the I.N.A. and the Azad Hind Dal. At this stage 
let me point out to the Court that the Azad Hind Dal, it 
has been proved, was an organization of men trained for 
the purpose of administering areas as soon as they came 
under the control or occupation of the I.N.A. or as soon as 

• they were handed over to them. I must also remind the 
Court that it has been proved beyond question-because 
as far as I see there was-no cross-examination or effective 
cross-examination any way, that as soon as the I.N.A. 
crossed the borders of Burma into India a proclamation 
was issued in two parts, one signed by the Head of the 
Indian State and the other signed by General Kawabe 
under the orders of the South Eastern Command. In that 
it was distinctly stated that any part of the Indian terri­
tory which would be acquired by conquest or otherwise by 
the Japanese Army would be handed over to the I.N.A. 
ftor the purpose of forming part of the liberated territory 
and to be administered by them. That is the history of 
the ceding. 

Then we come to Manipur and Vishnupur areas. Evi­
dence has been given before the Court without any rea­
sonable demur to the effect that during the time the 
Japanese and the I.N.A. were operating, those portions of 
India were in fact administered by the I.N.A. through its 
organization, the Azad Hind Dal, and the area was 15,000 
square miles. The duration of administration has no bear­
ing on this,issue, for indeed it can happen, as it did hap­
pen in this war, that territories were as easily acquired as 
lost. This Court is not concerned with the question of 
duration. I would ask the Court to hold that the two 
islands, Andamans and Nicobar, were in fact ceded, that 
Ziawadi became a part of liberated Indian territory, and 
that, though for a short period of} time, Manipur and Vish­
nupur areas were exactly in the same position. 

The next point to which I wish to refer is the resources 
of the state. In order to judge of the existence of the 
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State, the resources of the State is also one of the mat­
ters to be considered. It has been proved before the Court 
that some 20 crores of rupees were in fact donated to the · 
State, out or: which was maintained the civil government 
and the army. Dina Nath, who impressed this Court, gave 
extremely clear evidence on .this head. He was one of the 
Directors of the Azad Hind Bank and he told the Court 
that between Burm~ and Malaya, during that short period 
of time, the State 1\ad resources to the tune of 20 crores 
of rupees, in addition to the produce of Ziawadi. It i§..a 
remarkable thing to notice that on the reoccupation of 
Burma and Malaya every single document which was in 
the possession of this Indian State was found intact. It 
was amazing. See the monthly reports which the Prose­
cution was able to produce with reference to the adminis­
tration of the Andamans and Nicobar! It only empha­
sizes-and I wish to make a point of this-that there was 
a complete organisation, and that organisation was as 
good as could reasonably be expected. That alone accounts 
for half the documents which my learned friend was able 
to produce. 

The point is that we were a little handicapped owing 
to the lack of certain documents. As the evidence before 
the court shows, this Bank was closed after the occupa­
tion of Rangoon, and in fact it is in evidence that some 
35 lakhs worth of property was sequestered. I am not com­
plaining o:ft the sequestration. That I think was the right 
of the conquerors. What I am saying is that in so far 
as the resources of the State were concerned, they were 
full and adequate for the purposes which the new State 
had then in view. 

Here I wish to refer to a bulletin. It ~ not what I 
might call technical evidence before the Court but it will 
be my duty to submit that it is a document of which the 
Court should take judicial notice. The document is dated 
the lOth November 1945 and called stamp Collecting. 
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Sir N. P. Engineer: My learned friend is reading from 
a document· which has not been accepted. 

Sri Desai: I am only making a submission to the Court. 
Is it my friend's contention that if I read a book on law, 
it should be put in as an exhibit? 

Judge-Advocate: The document itself cannot be ad­
mitted at this stage. 

Sri Desai: All I am doing now is to make a submission 
to the Court. 

Section 57 says: 
"The Court shall take judicial notice of the following 
facts: 

"In all these cases and also in all matters of published 
history, literature, science or art the Court may resort 
for help to appropriate books or documents of refer­
ence." 

And if the Learned Advocate-General solemnly sug­
gests that every single book of history, literature, science, 
and art is to be an exhibit belJore it can be. referred to, I 
am very sorry that it is a statement which tiefeats 'itself. 

Judge-Advocate: Mr. Desai, will you read out what 
you want the Court to take judicial notice of? 

Sri Desai: May I not apply that the Court may con­
sider it? All I am asking is that this application be con­
sidered. Of course the Court may reject it; I am not sug­
gesting that the Court is bound to accept it. My submis­
sion is that under Section 57 it may be taken judicial notice 
of. 

I was referring to an issue of November 10, 1945, of a 
weekly publication called "Stamp Collecting" published in 
London and edited by Douglas Armstrong, a well-known 
philatelist. In that issue at page 136, column 1, the fol­
lowing appears:--

"Imphal Stamp that failed. 
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••so confident were the Japs that they would occupy 
Imphal, when they invaded Southern Assam that they 
actually prepared a special issue ofl stamps for use 
there. Needless to say these stamps failed to mate­
rialise," but our correspondent, Flying· Officer T. A. 
Broomhead, informs us that he has seen proof im­
pressions in the hands of the man who was responsible 
for the printing (in Rangoon). Two denominations 
appear to have been prepared,. viz., 3 pice plum and 1 
anna red, both in the same design and roughly per­
forated ll%X9Y2 (approx.) The subject of the vig­
nette (illustrated) is the old Mogul Fortress at Old 
Delhi accompanied by the slogan "On to Delhi". Bi­
lingual inscription reads "PROVISIONAL GOVERN­
MENT OF FREE INDIA". When it became evident that 
the Imphal stamps would not be required, the dies were 
destroyed and the bulk supply of sheets printed in 
readiness was burnt with the exception of a small 
quantity salvaged by the printer." 

At the top corner on the left-hand side is a fp.csimile of 
the stamp referred to in the above quotation. 

It is submitted that this document should be taken 
judicial notice of in support 'inter alia' of proof that the 
Provisional Government of Free India had got prepared, 
issued or were about to issue postal stamps of that cha­
racter. As appears from the above quotation, the--dies were 
prepared under the direction of the Japanese. 

Counsel for the Prosecution: I submit .... 

Judge-Advocate: Would it not be more convenient to 
deal with this point in your arguments, and so shall r. 
There is no point, when the document is read, whether the 
Court accepts it or not. 

Sri Desai: I frankly submit to the Court that it is not 
~ matter of such an importance, but as the document 
was b~ought to my notice I thought it was my duty to 
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put it before the Court. Nobody should question books 
of history, science, literature, and art. It is a very acc~pt­
ed magazine in England dealing with this subject, edlt~d 
by a very well-known man indeed. 

'I'lien, Sir, it appears from the evidence that this 
Indian State had a Civil, and what I may call, an Army 
Gazette of its own. That is also established before this 
Court. 

On these facts Sir the first question of law which I 
wish to raise is this: 'Having regard to the condition in 
which this Free Government of India had been formed 
and was functioning, it was entitled to make war and it 
did make war for the purp.ose of liberating this country. 
That is the first and the main issue before the Court. This 
Court is trying civil offences under the Indian Penal Code, 
and there are two ways of looking at this question. One 
is that when two States declare a war-and I may assume 
for the purpose of this argument, because I cannot do 
more than place evidence before this Court for its accept­
ance, that ·the condition in which the new Indian State 
found itself, it was in a position to declare war-and hav­
ing declared war, in so far as any acts in the prosecution 
of that war are concerned, they are outside the pale of 
municipal law. I will tell you, Sir, what I mean because 
I will elaborate this sufficiently to make myself under­
stood by the Court. Supposing a German during the pro­
secution of the war had shot two or three or ten Britishers 
in England and was found in England, the question is, 
could he be charged with having committed murder. I 
submit never, for the simple reason that those acts were 
done during the due prosecution of the war which, unfor­
tunately, in the present world of infirmities the Inter­
national Law accepts. That is to say, what International 
Law accepts is that two independent countriea or two 
States, as they are called, may make war on each other, 
and those who carry out any action 1n due prosecution 
of the war (apart f..rom :war criminals) is out$de the pal.&-
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of municipal law. Alternatively, if that is not SUfficient 
for this Court (though I submit it should be in view of 
what I am going to read to you from accepted authorities 
on International Law) under Section 79 of the Indian 
Penal Code the acts done in due prosecution of the war 
were not offences. Section 79 of the Indian Penal Code 
reads thus: 

"No~hin_g is an offence which is done b~ ~ny person 
who is JUStified by law ...... " And my submission to the 
Court is that under the term 'law'·ls covered 'International 
Law', and for that reason in so far as that German-con. 
tinulng the example which I was giving-who was arrested 
in England was concerned, his defence would be: "M 
country, my State, was at war with your States. Under th~ 
orders of my State, and in due prosecution of the war I 
did the acts which under ordinary normal circumstan~es 
might be offences, but which having regard to the circum. 
stances are no offences at all." 

Sir, it is unthinkable that any member of any orga. 
nized army could be charged with. a~ offence merely be. 
cause he fought one or ten or a milhon men belonging to 
an army of the State with which he is at war. It is Per­
fectly obvious to anybody that during the prosecution Of 
the war, the municipal law relating to that country doe 
not apply, ~xcept, I quite agree, when one soldier steal~ 
the po'hket-book of another soldier. That I appreciat 
But the question which· we have got to bear in mind ~· 
the very important distinction: Was that act done in d~s 
prosecution of the war which one State declared upon an: 
other . 

. Once you get to that state, it is perfectly o~vious that 
- that municipal law must and is bound ~o ~emalll in abe _ 

ance. It Is impossible to arraign any md1vidua1 for· ca;_ 
rying out as a matter of duty acts which might otherw· 
be offences-killing a man every day, destroyiug Prope:Se 
every day. In fact it is a very part of the war itself. Tb.er~ 
fore the agreeme~!. _is _t~_o!o!~: ·--~e alternatives are eitne; 

~· ,,.,. ... ~F A"' • -. 
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t anY act done in due prosecution of war is outside the 
tb~e of municipal law-that is why I pointed out to you 
pa tbe commencement that the charge against tbese young 
in be:flore you is not as if they had committed an act of 
lll~~ate murder by reason of some private quarrel. The­
prJ. ments accepted by the prosecution clearly bear out 
dOC~ whatever they did, they did as part of the prosecution 
tlla war. Remember that always, because without that the 
of cannot be appreciated with reference to the facts in 
laW 
issue. 

:aut there is another-way of looking at it, if you must. 
t is whether the exception provided by section 79 is 

'J'llS. equallY applicable to the case. My submission to the 
not t is that whether you ac~e?t the one or th~ other 
cour no difference to the dec1s1on that I am askmg for 
Jllakestbe immunity from those acts being offences at all; 
as to se the very language of Section 79 is: "Nothing is an 
becau e which is justified by law." The Section ·assumes 
o:tfen~n private lif.e it might otherwise have been an offence. 
tllat ~ gentlemen, in the due prosecution of war committed 
If Y~~rs, could the civil laws as propounded by the other 
n:ur be put into action against you, wh,en in all honour 
s1de acted in prosecution of your duties as members of an 
you ised army of a State that had declared war? It stands 
org;:ason-and it must-that any act done by a member 
to organised army fighting under the orders of one 
of an against another State between which war exists, is 
statect entirely outside municipal law. But assuming for 
an a urpose of argument, the Court requires some nearer 
~be .P cation. In the eye of the Court, in so far as the 
Just~ istration by this Court is concerned, it is fortunate 
ad~ am able to find the exception in the Indian Penal 
tbat ·tself, because these young men are being chai"tred 
~ode r 1 under section _121 or Secti~n 302 of the Indian Penal 
e1tbe and I am relymg on Sectwn 79 of the same C~de 
code ays in terms that it is not an offence. supposmg 
wbicb 5 declared between two States and when peace time 
war wa~ every individual soldier is called upon to say 
returne 
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whether he killed so and so. I am quite sure that as I am 
addressing men of commonsense, you would laugh at the 
idea. But then I quite agree that I would have t() satisfy 
you that the new Indian State that declared war was en­
titled to do it in the sense of international law. 

And now I will proceed to quote from books of inter­
national law on the question oJt right to make war. I am 
reading to you Vol. II Pitt-Cobett's Cases in International 
Law under the heading of "War" 1937 Edition. 

"International war is a contest carried on by an armed 
force either between States or between a State and some 
community or body which is treated as a State for the , 
purpose of the conduct of host-ilities. International war 
differs from other kinds of war in that it has the effect of 
setting up a new relation in law both as between the belli­
gerents thell:lselves and as between each of them and the 
other States. As between the belligerents, the State of 
war although it departs trrom normal relations, is never­
theless a State of regulated violence in which the conduct 
of hostilities is governed by certain principles and rules 
which rest part on custom and part on convention, and 
which are sanctioned in the last resort by the action of 
international society however uncertain may be their ope­
ration." 

I next call attention to Wheaton's International Law. 
[ am reading Wheaton's "International Law", 1945 edi­
tion, Vol. II, page 98: 

"War in the absence of any international authority 
competent to suppress effectively international wrongs 
has always been held legal by international law." 

Remember that aS' a definite proposition that so long 
as there are two States, if they declare war against each 
other, there is no justification required for it. And once 
you have a war, any person being a member of an organis­
ed army or one of the warring States, cannot be called 
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upon individually to account for the acts, whi~h in civil 
matters or normal times if done individually m private 
capacity Jlor private motive, be considered to be an offence. 

"War in the absenc~ of any international authority 
comp~tent to suppress effectively international wrongs, 
has always been held legal by internat~onal law ..... . 
Even the creation of the League of NatiOns leaves war 
in certain cases legal, though there is now on record 
the unanimous Assembly condemnation of aggressive 
war. war is essentially a struggle between States, in­
volving the application of force. Mere armed occupa­
tion, as in the -seizure of Strassburg by Louis XIV in 
1680-81 or as in that of Corfu by Italy in 1923, is not 
war unless the state affected declares it so, and simi­
larly, as regards pacific blockade. The States need not 
necessarily ·be fully sovereign: in 1876, Serbia and 
Montenegro warred on Turkey, though vassal States· 
in 1877, Rumania :!followed suit. In 1885, Bulgaria war: 
red on Serbia, then fully sovereign, and in the treaty 
of peace of March 3, 1886, though Turkey as suzerain 
took part, Bulgaria appeared independently as a party. 
So the South African Republic warred on the United 
Kingdom in 1899 .... " 

So, the first step in the argument is that the state 
Which declares war is and must be in a position to do it. 
But once i~ declares war against any other State, then 
there can be no question of its propriety, justice or right. 
In the particular case before the Court, and notwithstand­
ing their territories which were occupied, I do say that 
this war at all events was completely a justified war. In­
ternational law in the question of war is not static. It is 
law that has grown from time to time with the progress 
of civilization. 

Therefore the question really is, once it comes to war 
there is no question oJ; justification. But hitherto at all 
events now in the global war a great many events have 
occurred of which international conscience takes note. I 
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'\\rill read out to you two· passages, one from Mr. Winston 
<Jhurchill from the Hansard and another from Mr. Eden 
'I'he position now is that international law has reached 
this stage that if liberty and democracy are to have any 
lneaning all over the world, and not merely just for a Part 
<lf it, and this is not politics, it is law-any war made fol' 
the purpose of liberating oneself from foreign yoke is com­
llletely justified by modern international law. And it Will 
be travesty of justice 1f we were to be told as the result 
<lf any decision arrived at here or otherwise, that the 
Indian may go as soldier and fight for the freedom of Eng­
land against Germany, for England against Italy, for Eng­
land against Japan, and yet a stage may not be reached 
When a f'ree Indian State may not wish to free itself from 
any country, including England itself. ~e maintain that 
this particular war, according to the decisions, requires 110 
justification. If one State can declare war, then the other 
State can also declare war and fight, and anything done 
in its due prosecution has no civil consequences of any 
kind. In other words, not one of these men now charged 
before you can be called upon to account for his action 
We can show that they have done nothing outside th: 
scope of the due prosecution of war on a civilized basis 
That is an emphasis which I always wish to Put. It i~ 
not alleged against these men that there was any question 
about the acts with which they are charged. They were 
acts carried out in due prosecution of the war, Under What 
You may call civilised rules. There1!ore the question be­
fore the Court is a very narrow one. 

To continue what I was reading: 

"A civil war between different members of the S<> ..... 
. d ......... e 

society is, what Grotius calls, a _mlXe war. It is ac-
cording to him public on the s1de of the established 
Government and private on the part of people resist­
ing its authority. The general usage of nations is as 
regards such a war as entitling both _the contending 
parties to all the rights of war as agamst each othe:r 



and even as respects neutral nations. It seems to be· 
now settled that it is unnecessary in order to consti-. 
tute war that both parties should be acknowledged as 
independent nations or sovereign States." 

'!'here was at one time the old idea that you had to 
be an independent State or a sovereign State in order to 
be able to declare war. Of course that created a vicious 
circle, that a subject race will remain in perpetuity a sub­
ject race. It can never make a legitimate war for the 
purpose of liberating itself. Hence modern international 
JaW has now recognised the right of subject races which 
are not for the time being or at the moment independent,. 
to be so organized, and if they are organised and fight an 
organised war through an organised army, the individual 
Jllembers of that army are unanswerable before any muni-· 
cipal court for what was done in due prosecution of that 
war. 

It seems to be now settled that it is unnecessary in 
order to constitute a war that both parties should be 
acknowledged as independent nations or sovereign States. 
A war may certainly exist between a State and its suze­
rain as in the Boer War. May I appeal to this Court and 
all of you who are familiar with British history,-what 
about Charles I and his death? What about the Magna 
charta? What about James II? It is all recorded in his­
tory. In· other words, you do reach a stage where the 
organisation, call it rebel if you like, call it insurgent;­
insurgents or rebels may reach a stage of organisation for 
the purpose of liberating themselves when what thEW do 
after declaring war is subject to the laws of war. 

"A war may certainly exist between a Sta,te and a 
suzerain as in the Boer War. Moreover, a war may 
exist where one of the belligerents claims sovereign 
rights as against the other, whether in a federal or a 
unitary State .... " 



But it is quite an unnecessary requisite. If! ever a-. 
subject race finds itself in a position where its organisa­
tion is able to declare war, then acts done by the armies 
on either side come under this. I put a very simple ques­
tion: What about the acts of those who fought on the side 
of the British in this War? They killed lots of people. 
Would they be put up before this Court under Section 302?· 
Most amazing! It was a properly fought war, no doubt 
as in other wars one or the other side lost, and the fact 
that a war is lost has no effect on the immunity from the 
consequences in acts done in due prosecution of the war. 
He says further: 

"Whether the struggle is a war or not is to be deter­
mined not from the relation of the combatants to each·. 
other, but from the mode in which it is carried on. 
The Gov~nment of the State may recognize its sub­
jects as belligerents, in which case other States wilt 
normally but need not follow the same course. Or 
other States may recognize belligerency, in which case 
the parent State will all but certainly follow suit." 

That is the crux of the matter. I quite agree that if ten 
persons in a village declare war on Britain, they are rebels, 
and I am not here to justify it. What I am saying is this: 
in a struggle between two organizations a stage must be· 
reached where the organisation of: the State and the orga­
nisation of the army are such that it is a war recognised 
by civilised nations; and if it is once recognised, then the· 
immunity follows. As the books point out, we had the 
instance of the war between the South and the North of 
America and you have a declaration from Abraham Lin­
coln downwards that it was a proper war and there was. 
nothing more to be said about it as soon as the hostilities 
ceased. It goes on to say: 

"Among the tests are the existence of a de facto poli­
tical organization of the insurgents sufficient in cha­
racter, population and resources to constitute it, if 
left to itself, a state among nations capable of dis-
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~harglng the duties of a State; the actual employment 
of military forces on each side acting in accordance 
with the rules and customs of war .... If all these ele­
ments exist, the condition of things is undoubtedly 
war; and it may be war before they are all ripened into 
activity." 

Therefore what I wish to say is this: that the test by 
which you will judge this case is, have we or have we not 
proved the existence of a de facto political organization or. 
insurgents? I do not deny that they were insurgents. 
Apart from the other question to which I shall come pre­
sently, I will assume against myself that the people who 
declared war and who declared the Provisional Govern­
ment of Free India were a set of insurgents, a set of rebels 
-I will assume that against myself. 

"As President Grant said in his message of June 13, 
1870: 'The question of belligerency is one of; fact not 
to be decided by sympathies for or prejudices against 
either party. The relations between the parent State 
and the insurgents must amount, in fact, to war in 
the sense of international law'." 

I call upon you. to do the same. It is not a question of 
prejudice; it is not a question of prestige or what happens 
to the Army, to this or the other person. Please remem­
ber that you are here as judges; you are not politicians, 
I agree, and I do not want you to be such. If :.vou find 
that there is a de facto political organization sufficient in 
numbers, sufficient in character and sufficient in resources 
to constitute itself capable of declaring and making war 
with an organised army, your verdict must be in 'favour 
of these men-no more and no less than the verdict on 
your own men for killing others, of which act you are 
justly proud. 

That is the position in law. 

Then I wish to call attention to another book on In­
ternational Law-an accepted book and what is more, it is 
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borne out by all the earlier cases in which war was waged 
by what you may call insurgents against their own sove­
reign, if you must use that expression. This book is by 
Lawrence--page 309. The whole question before the Court 
under this particular head is whether or not there was a 
properly declared war in prosecution of which the accused 
before you did the acts which they did. And if they did 
that in due prosecution of that war, then there can be 
no question of any civil offence, as I think all o! you in 
your own person will easily realise. I am not obliged in 
my civil life to kill anybody except on pain of conviction 
but you are. " 

Lawrence says: 

"War may be defined as a contest carried on by pub­
lic force between states, or between states and com­
munities having with regard to the contest the rights 
of states, the parties to it having the intention of end­
ing peaceful relations, and substituting for them those 
of hostility with all the legal incidents thereof.'" 

These were no private acts done with a Private motiv 
or .done ibr private individual benefit. They came to b: 
done by them as members of an organised army, having 
declared war and the law says to them that no such con­
sequences as the government demands can arise. Lawrence-- -
goes on: 

"It is true that two States are said to be at war 
soon as one of them has received a declaration of w:~ 
from the other." t 

Here there was 1n fact a formal declaration of 'W'a 
Then I call attention to a well-known work of Oppenhei r~ 
on International Law. Oppenheim was Professor of Inte~ 
national Law at Cambridge University. H~ says this-_ 
(Vol. n. page 166) : 

"War is a contention between two or more al'llled for 
through their armed forces for the. purpo.se or Olf ces 
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powering each other .... war is a fact recogmsect, and 
with regard to many points, regulated but not estab­
lished_ by International Law." .. . 

•Once you get to the stage of war, naturallY it is the pri­
·maiY purpose of each party to overpower the. other. There­
fore in due prosecution of it, acts which might be called 
. offences under civil law are not offences: t~e ver~ purpose 
is to destroy men and property: the verY thmg which would 
.otherwise be unlawful becomes right, becomes patriotic, 
:becomes a duty. · 

"In any case it is universallY recognised that war 
is a contention, i.e., a violent struggle through the ap­
plication of armed force .... 

To be war, the contention must be between States 
.... On the other hand, to an armed contention between 
a suzerain and its vassal state the character of war 
ought not to be denied, for both parties are States, al­
thOugh the action of the vassal maY, from the stand­
point of constitutional law, be rebellion." (Para 56). 

I have already said that states are those which 
·have the right to make war like states. 

The first proposition for which I stand before this 
.court is this, that the two States sufficient in number, in 
organisation B:nd in resources may make war against each 
other. That IS the_ proposition to which I stand, and if 
theY made ~r against each other, then there is complete 
immunitY for what might otherwise be a private offence. 
'I'hat must necess_ar~y follow from the acceptance of war 

5 a necessary evil m this infirm world, and no individual 
~eJllber can be called upon to answer for the consequences 

f hiS acts so long as it is properly declared war. I shall 
0 Il the court's attention to Mr. Hyde's book ori 'Interna-
-ca 'Vol ill t . nal Law. · , page 1792, para 648 . 
. 10 

"So soon as a man is armed by a sovereign gbvern­
xnent and takes the soldier's oath of fidelity, he is a 



belligerent; his killing, wounding or other war like acts 
~e not individual crimes or offences. No belligerent 
has a ,right to declare that enemies of a certain class 
colour or condition, when. properly orgaQised as sol~ 
diers, will not be treated by him as public enemies." 

In other words the position is simple. Any act done 
by members of an armed force against any opponent 
which in ordinary times in a personal case would be a civii 
.offence, ceases to be an offence altogether. Otherwise 
war and recognition is not a possibility. ' 

There is a very important decision of the Federal 
Court of the United States expressing the same thing. I 
may be pardoned for multiplying authorities, but I do so 
because I feel that instead of paraphrasing the idea my­

.self, if I do it through the medium of an accepted autho­
rity, I might be able to carry better conviction. It is Voir 
168 United States Reports, page 250. It is the case of 
·underhill v. Hernandez. I am reading the judgment of 
.Chief Justice Fuller. The opinion of the Court is as follows: 

"Nor can the principle be confined to lawful or 
recognised Govermnents or to cases where redress can 
manifestly be had through public channels. The im- . 
munity of individuals from suits brought in foreign 
tribunals for acts done within their own States in the 
exercise of Governmental authority, whether as civil 
officers or as military 'c-ommanders, must necessarily 
extend to the agents of governments ruling by para­
mount force as a matter of fact. Where a civil war 
prevails, that is, where the people of a country are 
divided into two hostile parties, who take up arms and 
oppose one another by military force, generally speak­
ing foreign nations do not assume to judge of the 
merits of the quarrel. If the E_a.rty seeking to dislodge 
the existing government suc~ds,- and the independ­
ence of the government it has set up is recognised, 
then the acts of such government from the commence­
ment of its existence are regarded as those of an inde-
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pendent nation. If the political revolt fails of suc­
cess, still if actual war has been waged, acts of legiti­
mate warfare cannot be made the basis of individual 
liability." 

Chief Justice Fuller was deciding the case arising out 
of the war between the North and the South. A war might 
exist between what you might call an existing State and 
inSurgents, and yet the insurgents, as they were called by 
the Federal Government, may ha.ve such organ.i.S.ation, 
force and strength that the relation between the two par­
ties is one of the existence of war._ Once the war exists, 
what is the legal position? If the party seeking to dislodge 
the existing Government succeeds, it is now accepted law 
that a successful rebellion is a Government established by 
laW. The question is-what is the position in case of an 
unsuccessful rebellion. The law is, I submit, that if the 
stage is reached where the rebels or insurgents are suffi­
cientlY organised and are sufficiently resourceful to make 
war then it is entitled to be regarded as waJ.", and there 
will' be no individual consequences to persons who take 
part in it. If actual war has been waged, and my learned 
friend himself was at pains to prove that a regular wax 
was being waged, and he put forward document after do-

UJllent to prove it, then the question is: What is the dis­
~inction be~ween . a private individual waging war on his 
own and hiS wagm? war as a ~e~be.r of a force or orga­
nised state. That 1s the real d1stmctwn which makes one 
J.nll!lune from the consequences. If actual war has been 
waged, then acts of legitimate warfare cannot be made 
t}1e basis of individual liability. 

'J'here is another case belonging to the same period. 
lt is Ford v. Surget, 97 United States RepOrts, page 594, 

Ual to 24 Law F.D.) : 
(eQ 

s2 

"The Confederate Government can be regarded by 
tbe courts in no other light than as simply the mill­
tan' representative of the insurrection against the mi-
litarY authority of the United States. · 



"To. the Confederate Army was however conceded, 
in the mte~est of hlllnalli.ty and to prevent the. cruel­
ties of l'epriSals and retaliation such belligerent rights. 
as belonged, under the laws or' nations to the annies 
of indepe~~ent Governments engaged in war against 
each othei • that concession placing the soldiers and 
officers of t~e rebel army; as to all matters directly 
connected Wlth the mode of prosecutina the war on the 
footing of t~os: .engaged in lawful wa; and exempting 
them from llablllty for acts of legitimate warfare." 
The first proposition is this that in view of the fact 

that a state of war. eXisted between the Provisional Gov­
ernment of Azad Hmd and the British any act done in 
prosecution of that war· has not the c~nsequences which 
the Crown claims or might have claimed in the case of a 
private individual. 

In International Law it is permissible for those who are 
subject to a foreign authority to organise themseh•es, and 
having 'reached that stage of reorganisation and having 
an organised army to fight for liberation, whether it is 
successful or not, during the process while the war is be­
ing ca:J;ried on, there is immunity, so far as in~ividual 
member~ of the organised army are concerned for all acts 
done i11 due prosecution of war o11 a civilised basis <other 
than war crimes like those which are the subject of trial 
now in different parts of the world). That being so, my 
submission is that the accused men before you are entitled 
to be declared innocent in that there is no civil or crimi­
nal responsibillty for those acts. In terms of the language 
of the boolcs on law, the liability is on the State under 
whose direction they fought, and such liability in interna­
tional law on the cessation of hostilities does not exist. Of 
course if a rebellion is successful, then it becomes a ne\v 

. Government, and there is the end of it and there will be 
no tribunals but it is only in a case in which it is not ' . . successful that the question arises and the answer 1s given 
in my clients' favour by international law. 
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The next point to which I wish to advert is the alter­
native point which I made under Section 79 of the Indian 
Penal Code. The issue which arises apart from the Indian 
Penal Code is an issue of great international importance. 
It has arisen, if I may say so, in its actual form for the 
first time though the authorities directly or indi­
rectly support the principles on which my contention 
is based. At the same time, appearing before this Tribu­
nal, it becomes my duty to justify it on what I may call 
a. narrower ground to the extent to which it is necessary, 
for I do feel that before a Tribunal constituted as this 
is, it is equally important that I should put myself 
within the narrow sphere of the Indian Statute itself. Then 
I submit, assuming my submissions are correct and accept­
ed, the hands of the Tribunal are fairly strengthened. The 
words which I referred to in Section 79 of the Indian 
penal Code are 'justified by law'. The question is what is 
the meaning of the word 'law' appearing in Section 79 
~the Indian Penal Code. If I can satisfy this Court that 
th~ IaW there comprehends and includes international law, 
I submit my Honourable Friend 011 the other side would 
have hardly a1~y case to present to the Court at all. If 
the word 'l~w· m ~ection 79 includes In~ernational Law so 
far -as the 1mmumty which I have descnbed before _is con-

rned, then I submit the three men at your bar are en­
~~Ied to plea? that they were so justified in the actions 

1 hich in ordmary private personal life might have been 
wifences under the Indian Penal Code. I wish to call your 
0 ttention to a certain number of authorities ·on the ques-
8: n The first authority to which I call your attention is 
tlO ~kStone's. C~mmentaries in Book -IV, but it is Vol_u~e 
1318:n this bmdmg. It is accepted at all events by British 
tl 1 ers that Blackstone's commentaries are the fountain­
l::t wY e of Common Law of England and it is a matter whicll 
soll~c b to particularly assert before this Court. The page 
1 W'.i.S 1 am reading is 2237 (Vol. II, edited by W. c. Jones>. 
tll:;~.t f us who are rfot lawyers are familiar with Black­
].\4ost .: commentaries and know that he is father, to a 
5 tone rge extent, of Common Law. Blackstone's commen­
verY Ia 

s" 



taries are relied upon British Courts _as a very auth . 
tive exposition of the law on the particular question ~~~a­
he has dealt with. lch 

"In arbitrary states this law, wherever it c 
diets or is not· provided for by the municipal 1~ntra­
the country, is enforced by roy~l power; but sin:' ?f 
England no royal power can mtroduce a new ~ 111 

or suspend the execution of the old, therefore th aw, 
of nations (wherever any question arises Which . e law 
perly the object of its jurisdiction) is here ado~~e~r?­
its full extent by the common law, and is held to ~11 

a part of the law of the land." e 

So that, as soon as the Court has ascertained wh t . 
the international law on a particular point before a t~s 
Court, it is the bounden duty of the Court to admu1iste~ 
that part of Intet~national Law as a pat:t ?f the law of the 
land, and hence 1t is that I am submtttmg to the Cou t 
that the word 'law' in Section 79 should be given that e~­
tensive meaning which the law has by the Common Law 
of England. 

The next work on which I rely for the purpose of th 
meaning of the word 'law', meaning thereby that 'nothin: 
is an offence which is justified by law,' is Oppenheim's 
~nternational Law. The question is what is law, and it i3 
ih support of that that I am s~bmitting next Oppenheim's 
International Law Vol. I, Fifth Edition, page 36, article 2la: 

"In view of this wide divergence of doctrine it is 
necessary to inquire into the actual legal position in 
the principal countries in the matter of International 
Law and Municipal Law. 

(1) As regards Great Britain, the following points 
must be noted: 

(a) All such rules of customary International Law 
as are either universally recognised or have at 
any rate received the assent of this country are 
'per se' part of the law of the land. To that 



extent there is still valid in England tne uom­
mon Law doctrine, to which Blackstone gave 
expression in a striking passage, that the Law 
of Nations is part of the law of the land. It has 
repeatedly been acted upon by Courts. Apart 
from isolated 'obiter dicta' it has never been 
denied by judges. The unshaken continuity of 
its observance suffered a reverse as the result 
of the dicta of some judges in The Franconia 
Case in 1876, but West Rand Central Gold Min­
ing Co. v. The King decided in 1905, must be 
l'egarded as a reaffirmation of the classical 
doctrine." 

So that, ever since the time of Blackstone, until the 
last edition of Oppenheim, which belongs to the year 1937, 
there has never been any question that on any issue in 
which the doctrine of international law is accepted to be 
the international law, it becomes a part of the law of the 
land, law ot.the land in England, and law of the land here. 

Next, I call attention to the work of an American 
JUl'ist Hershey on International Public Law and Organisa­
tion, page 14, 1927 Edition: 
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"International Law· is a part of our law, and must 
be ascertained and admitted by the Court of Justice 
of appropriate jurisdiction as often as questions of 
right depending upon it are duly presented for their 
determination. For this purpose, where there is no 
treaty and no controlling executive or legislative act 
or judicial decision, resort must be had to the custom 
and usages of civilised nations; and, as evidence of 
these, to the works of jurists and commentators who, 
by years of labour, research, and experience, have 
made themselves peculiarly well-acquainted with the 
subjects of which they treat. Such works are resorted 
to by judicial tribunals, not for the speculations of 
their authors concerning what the law ought to be, but 
for trustworthy evidence of what the law really is." 



so, you will see from this quotation which has come 
from Justice Gray in the case which is cited-195 United 
States Reports, page 113 at page 163, that it has been ac­
cepted that while administering justice it is your bounden 
duty to find out, recognise and apply the principles of in­
ternational law where a person at your bar seeks justice 
on the ground that the act with which he is charged is 
an act justified by law and that for the pu1·pose of ascel'­
taining it you may have resort as it is stated by the learn­
ed Judge himself to "the usages and customs of civilised 
nations, and as evidence to this to the work, of jurists, 
commentators, who by years of labours research and ex­
perience have made themselves peculiarly well-acquainted 
with the subject of which they treat." 

Therefore I plead that when the time comes for your 
deliberation you will carefully, of which I have no doubt, 
and diligently, of which I am perfectly conscious, study 
and apply your mind to the citations which I have already 
given and which I am about to give. Because according 
to the well-accepted cannons, the commentators who by 
years of labourL research and experience have made them­
selves peculiarly well-acquainted with the subjects of which 
they treat, and such works are restored to and have to be 
restored to by judicial tribunals. I have got, Sirs, the ori­
ginal judgment· from which this quotation is given. The 
judgment is reported in 175 United States Reports in the 
judgment at page 700. The case is Paquet Haban.a, Appeals 
from the District Courts of the United States for Southern 
Districts of Florida. The judgment of Mr. Justice Gray on 
this question is to be found. at page 700. I do not wish to 
read it again, because I have already read it from the text­
book in which it is now accepted. At the same time I may be 
pardoned for pressing this point upon the Court because 
then the issue before this Court becomes exceedingly nar­
row. If I am .able to persuade this court, ·as I submit I 
llope to do, that in administering the law you are bou11d 
to have regard to international law, there will be no difti. .. 
curty Whatever in the way of the 4efence which I am 

37 



presenting. Then the Statute law has made it incumbent 
upon you, and in fact has declared that nothing is an 
offence which is justified by law. If therefore the acts 
which are said to be offences are declared not to be offenc­
es, and if I am able to show that the law so declares them, 
then it will be your duty to declare that, notwithstanding 
apparent confusion of thought, words like treason and so 
on, will have no value. 

The law of treason in .India is codified. It is to be found 
in. Chapter VI of the I.P.C. (Offences against the State) 
in Sec. 121 and following Sections. Therefore let me cau­
tion the Court against the general use of words like "trea­
son." The question is whether my clients who have been 
charged under Sections 121 and 302 have or have not, in 
doing those acts, been justified by law, i.e., the law of 
nations, and if they are so justified the law of this country 
declares that it is not an offence. In other words the law 
of this country recognises that there may be acts which if 
done in private life for private motive might be an offence 
but which in public life or public duty are not an offence. 
A Judge is not liable as an abettor of murder because he 
orders a man to be hung, because he is justified by law. 
Sirni!arly and equally, if not more emphatically, the mem­
ber of an armed force having declared war, if during the 
state of that war he has committed acts which in private 
life might be offences, the law says nothing shall be an 
offence. Therefore I do wish in so far as in me lies, to 
press this point upon your attention, because the first 
line of argument which I submitted to the Court stands, 
and I submit to the Court that is the law. In other words 
the law is that in the prosecution of war the acts which 
take place are beyond municipal law But assuming for 
th.e purpose of argument I have to take my stand ou a 
narrower ground. Then the law of this country, the Indian 
statute Law itself ·enjoins upon you that if I can show 
justification by means .of international law for those acts, 
then my clients ar.e entitled to a verdict in their favour. 
I say this to you in the language of one of your greatest 
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poets that if in so far as God grants me the tongue of 
persuasion and you the ears of hearing, I have not the 
least doubt that when you have considered the cases before 
you, you will have no difficulty or hesitation to decide in 
my favour on that narrow ground. 

The next point to which I wish to call attention is 
Moore's International Law and Digest, page 2, Vol. I, and 
this is how it is stated: 

"It is thus apparent that from the beginning the 
scene in question denoted something more than the 
positive legislation of independent States and the term 
international law which has in recent times so gene­
rally superseded the earlier titles served to empll.asisc 
his fact. It denotes a body of obligations which is in 
a sense independent of and superior to such legisla­
tion. The Government of the United States has on 
various occasions .announced the principle that inter­
national law as a system is binding upon nations, not 
merely as something which they may be tacitly· as­
sumed to agree but also as a fundamental condition 
for their admission to the full and equal participation 
in the intercourse of civilised nations." 

I therefore cannot more emphatically assert than the 
ground on which I appear before the Court and I have no 
doubt that it will rise superior (in the language of one of 
the cases that I read) to all question of prejudice and 
come to the right conclusion in considering Section 79 a.nd· 
the immunity granted by it. 

Just one more passage to which I wish to call atten­
tion. It is the judgment of the Privy Council on this 
question. The last under these heads is a judgment of 
their Lordships of the Privy Council, reported in a recent 
number, 1939 appeal cases, page 168. There a question of 
international law arose. The name of the case is Chang 
Chi Chu. It was a case of murder committed on a Chinese 
ship and that is how the question arose of the liability of 
the prisoner to be tried. And the question arose to what 



extent in international law it was necessary ~o consider 
whether the prisoner was liable. The contention shox:tlY 
stated was that the Chinese ship was so much float1?g 
Chinese territory. That was the claim made under the ~­
ternational law. Their Lordships of the Privy Council 
held that under international law it is probably not correct 
to say that a floating ship of foreign power is so much, 
what you may call, island foreign territory. But they have 
ruled by reason of the respect accorded to commity of 
nations, that anything that occurs on a foreign ship is not 
within the authority or jurisdiction of municipal law. In 
this particular case what they held was that in as much. 
as the ship itself accepted the authority of the power which 
was exercising authority in those waters, they held it be­
came an exception. But in considering the applicability 
of international-law to the question whether or not the 
Court of jurisdiction to try this particular Chinaman, the 
question arose to what extent international law has to be 
considered and the judgment of Their Lordships delivered 
by Lord Aitkins is very important from this point of view. 
I would not enter into the question of details which arose 
in that case -though by themselves they are interesting 
enough. But I may say this that the observations which 
I propose to read are necessary and essential because the 
whole defence to the charge of murder, and the want of 
jurisdiction of the Court, were based on the ground that 
under international law the Court had no jurisdiction 

• and for that purpose the Court went into the question of 
what was the appropriate international law on the ques­
tion. Their Lordships said with reference to the necessity 
of the application, or rather with reference to the obliga­
tion to ascertain and apply international law ourselves 
was a part of the law. That is how that part of the case 
is stated. 

Page 167: "Their Lordships entertain no doubt that '· 
the law is the correct conclusion, namely that a ship is 
not so much floating part of a foreign territory, but 
that immunity is gra.nted for whatever happens in 



that ship in so far as jurisdiction is concerned. It more 
accurately and logically represents the agreement of 
nations which constitute international law, and~ alone 
is consistent with the paramount necessity expressed 
in general terms for each nation to protect itself from 
internal disorder by trying and punishing offenders 
within its boundaries." 

It must always be remembered that in so far as, at 
any rate, the courts of this country are concerned, inter.=­
national law has validity in so far as its principles are 
accepted and adopted by domestic law. There is no exter­
nal power that imposes its rules upon om· code of substan­
tive law or procedure. The Courts acknowledge the exist­
ence of a body of rules which nations accept among them­
selves. On any judicial issue they seek to ascertain what 
the relevant rule is, and having found it, they will treat 
it as incorporated into the domestic law so far as it is not 
inconsistent with the rules enacted by any Statute or 
finally declared by their tribunals. What then are the 
immunities of public ships of other nations accepted by 
our courts and on what principle? I say that in this 
particular case not only there is no Statute to the contrary, 
but in fact the Statute imposes that obligation, coming back 
to the action of Section 79, viz., nothing is an offence which 
is justified by law. Therefore what you have got to do, 
Sirs, is to ascertain tbe l'elevant body of international 
law, and having done so, apply it to what is described as 
domestic law: Therefore there can be no reasonable doubt 
that in the construction and .application of Section 79 the 
submission which I have already made on the immunity of 
individual members of an anned force fighting in a war 
properly declared, that immunity is a part of international 
law and therefore is a part of national law. And I sub­
mit that your own experience whenever emergencies of 
war have arisen should bear ample tastimony to that po.si­
tion. Each time a soldier fights under the orders of a state 
in a war properly declared, if he were to consider what 
would be his liabilities, I am alrald the efficiency of war 
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would be a very difficult process indeed. It is an assumed 
part of the law of nations that once you become a member 
of a fighting force of a properly qualified State entitled to 
make a war, there is an end of all individual liability for 
the acts which if they were private acts for a private pur­
pose might be an offence within the law. Though accord­
ing to my submission the first is an essentially correct 
ground, in any case the justification by law is a sure ground 
on which I stand before this Court. Hence I submit that 
nothing is an offence which is justified by law, and I there­
fore say 'that the acts with which the accused are charged 
before the Court are justified by law, that is to say by the 
international law, and therefore, there can be no question 

.of a personal or individual liability. · 
"' 

This question has been considered in a different fot·m 
or perhaps in different language because I wish to point 
out to you, as you have seen in the earlier works to which 
I referred, the law of wa.r iS often described as the law ot 
belligerency. I wish to point out to the Court, as I sha.U 
presently do, what is the law of belligerency; in othet· 
words, who are entitled to be treated as belligerents in the 
light of international, and what I may· call, municipal or 
domestic law. 

For that purpose I wish to call attention to the autho­
rities which clearly show where and how the law of 'belli­
gerency rests. I again refer you to Oppenheim on Interna­
tional Law, 1944 edition, Vol. II: he was professor of inter­
national law at Cambridge and falls within the description 
which I gave of men who have by their labour and research 
and experience and knowledge, contributed to the formu­
lation of international law on many questions. The pre­
sent question is dealt with on page 200-Article 76A: 

"Recognition of belligerents by other states is not 
as a rule binding upon the State. Notwithstanding 
such recognition, it is entitled to treat the insurgents 
,as traitors; but the position is controversial with re­
gard to ·recognition as a bell1gerent power granted to 



separate armies which comprise subjects of the enemy 
who are fighting to free their nation from this rule and 
which are responsible to an authority recognised as 
representing the nation in question." 

That really epitomises the whole of the issue-"but 
the position is controversial with regard to the recognition 
as a belligerent power granted to separate armies which 
comprise subjects of the enemy who are fighting to free 
their nation from this rule and which are responsible to 
an .authority recognised as representing the na:tion in 
question." 

To translate it according to law, the accused before 
you were members of an army responsible to the Provi­
sional Government of Free India, fighting to liberate them­
selves from the rule of the army of those who were fight­
ing against them, and I submit that is precisely the case 
before us. The author goes on and gives instances of cases 
of that kind, and I want to draw your particular attention 
to those historical instances which fortunately have occur­
red before, so that I stand before you on much more solid 
ground than if this were perhaps actually the first in­
stance: 

"Thus, in the year 1918, during tl:e world war 
Great Britain, France, Italy and the Umted States,or 
America recognised Czecho-Slova~ as co-belligerents. 
Sii:nilar recognition was granted m the year 1917 to 
the Polish National Army, composed to a substantial 
degree of the subjects of the enemy po~vers. It has 
been maintained that as in the ~ase of msurgents in 
a civil war-(quotations of wh1~h I ,have already 
given)-the enemy is entitled to d1sreg~rd such recog­
nition and treat the members of the msurgent army 
when they fall into his hands, in accordance with the 
provisions of the criminal law. . '-:he ~etter opinion is 
probably that when s.ucli recogmtwn IS .granted by an 
adversary to large bodies of men ~ffectively organised 
on foreign soil iil anticipation of mdependent nation-



hood, a point is reached at which the belligerent, con­
fronted with disaffection and desertion of a consider­
a~e number of his sUbjects engaged in hostilities 
against him, can no longer, without exposing himself 
to justifiable retaliation, assert the provisions of his 
own criminal law as the only legally relevant element 
in the situation." 

I want to draw your attention pointedly to the condi­
tions which are here laid down and which, I submit, we 
have more than amply fulfilled. I ask this Court to declare 
that that is the better opinion, and I do say that we have 
reached a stage far in advance of the illustration given 
by Oppenheim. In this case not merely men were effect­
ively organised, but there was a regularly organised army. 
This has been amply proved by the Prosecution-thanks to 
them for that. They have amply proved that there was a 
regular army, a properly organised army,-on foreign soil 
it is true-but with this added qualification in my favour, 
that Indians residing in places where the army was orga­
nised, numbering not a few hundreds, even a few thou­
sands, but two million men and women and children, 
tbiough 2,30,000 adult men and women swearing allegiance 
to that Provisional Government, for the purpose of liberat­
ing their country-which unfortunately failed, but none 
the less the condition required that you may at your peril 
call to aid the criminal law of the country against such 
an organisation-effectively organised on foreign soil in 
anticipation of an independent nationhood.. It is true­
and that is why I read the Proclamation to this court-I 
read it with a view to show to you that the object with 
which on foreign soil an independent government was 
formed was with the object of liberation of their country: 
It was undoubtedly in anticipation of independent state­
hood; and of course if the independent state had been 
established by the successful prosecution of force, as I 
said, this tribunal would not hav.e been there to try them. 
It was because it was done in anticipation, which failed, 
and which does not detract from the point, that a stage is 



reached in which a belligerent confronted with the dis­
afi'e_ction and desertion of a considerable number of his 
subJects engaged in hostilities against him, can no longer 
assert the provisions of his own criminal law as the only 
legally relevant element in this situation. In other words, 
the legally relevant element in this situation is that we, 
:neant~g the two armies, had reached a stage where, hav­
mg reached a stage of war-there can be no question at 
all that under section 79 we are entitled to the justifica­
tion Which the laws of war give to belligerent armies. And 
that no acts done during the course of the prosecution of 
the War are matters of what you may call .domestic law 
pure al.1d simple; which would be as if any one of thes~ 
three accused went and did .any of these acts 
out of Private motive. Therefore, it is essential to 
remember that in all these cases the substance of the law 
is t_his: two independent states can always make war and 
the members of their combatant forces are unanswerable 
for their acts. Only the question arises, or the intermedi­
ate stage arises, whether without having reached the stage 
of independent statehood <to take the words of Oppen­
heim) you have attained a stage, and whether havina­
founded a state for the purpose of liberating your 0~ 
country, you are so organised, both the state and the 
army, that it asswnes the proportions of a state and as a 
result of the war-as much a war between two independ­
ent states. I am pleading before you that we have proved 
before this court, and the documents which otherwise we 
would not have had the benefi_t of and have generously 
been produced by the prosecut1on all of them distinctly 
and clea1·1y showed that we had reached that stage and 
this court would not only be justified but I submit, bound 
in law and in conscience to regard the accused as belong­
ing to that organisation, and as member of such belligerent 
army they are entitled to all the privileges of the laws of 
war. In other words, immunity for personal acts carri~d 
out in due prosecution of the war, as you yourself in Your 
own person would claim. 
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The next book to which I would call attention, is the 
British Year Book of International Law, 1937, page 18. It 
says: 

"What we call belligerent recognition Is not so 
much recognition, even temporary and provisional, of 
a new government, as the recognition of the existence 
of a war." 

I may explain what is meant here, because the recog­
nition comes as a stage when it has not yet succeeded in 
establishing its own government. Of course, if for instance 
perchance this very army had succeeded in its aim, as the 
maxim of international law is, the successful revolution is 
tile government established by law. But earlier than that 
there is the st.age at which it is in a state of war and that 
is all that is necessary for the purposes of my case. If I 
can establish that they were making war, which is regard­
ed as a stage of belligerency by international law, there are 
entitled to the same privileges .and immunities as would be 
accorded to the armies of two independent nations. It 
eontinues: 

"The existence of war is purely a question of fact;. 
but if. we recognise the fact that a war is being car­
ried on, then the recognition of the insurgerlt govern­
ment follows as a necessary consequence. Wars can 
only be carried on by governments, and there must 
be at least two parties to every war. Much of the 
confusion which obscures the current discussion of the 
Spanish problem arises from the failure to observe this 
correct logical consequence. The true doctrine is that 
recognition of the insurgent government is the neces­
sarY and logical consequence of recognising the fact 
of war." 

-...... 
Therefore I submit ~hat once you recognise, as I sub-

mit thiS court is bound to do on the evidence before it, that 
there was a regular properly declared and properly prose­
uted war, then I submit there can be no quesion that ihe acts of these men, done in due prosecution of that war, 
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~;e ~~~~Pletely just.ified by international law and therefore 

. The instances are given in the Year Book of Interna­
tional Law. This is what it says: 

"~est this should seem to be merely doctrinaire 
that ~~ the kind of criticism with which we people ar~ 
so:rneb:rnes apt to run away,-and theoretical opinion 
I shall try to fortify my doctrine by authority. In 182S 
Don Miguel, the Pretender to the throne of Portugual 
was carrying on war by sea and land against his niece 
and nominal fiancee the child-Queen Donna Maria 
Who was recognised by Great Britain and other power~ 
as the legitimate sovereign of Portugal. At no time dur­
ing the struggle was Don Miguel ever r~cognised by 
Great Britain under any form 'de jure' or 'de facto.' In 
1828 he proclaimed naval blockades of Oporto and of 
the Azores. These blockades were notified to the Bri­
tish Government which published the notices in the 
London Gazette and communicated them to the com­
-mittee of Lloyd's. The King's Advocate Sir Herbert 
Jenner advised the British Government that the block­
ades, if effectively maintained, might be recognised as 
valid, although no form of recognition had at any time 
been conceded to Don Miguel.'' 

In other words the distinction that is sought to be 
made is that you may recognise the state of belligerency 
without necessarily recognising the State. 

Refusal to recognise the blockade, so Jenner advised, 
would be a departure from the neutrality which this coun­
try had professed in the civil war. Twenty years later 
the Palmerston Government, following the advice of Sir 
John Dodson-.and I hope the Judge Advoc~te wlll advise 
you accordingly-then the Queen's Advocate decided to re­
cognise the blockade of Trieste by the Italian insurgents 
during the Revolution of 1848, although there had been no 
otheri1wt of recognition of the Insurgent government. 
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The point I am trying to emphasise is this that you 
need not necessarily recognise your opponent as a govern­
ment, and yet during the course of the war, once you re­
cognise that it was a. proper state of belligerency, then the 
immunities and privileges which I described before· follow, 
because the men, and in modem times the women, who 
are fighting for the insurgent government are recognised 
for the purpose of these immunities. It goes on: 

"Upon the point which we are now discussing Dodson's 
opinion is very clear. 'It is sufficient' he says 'to justify a 
blockade if duly maintained that a 'de facto' war is car­
ried on by Sardinia and Venice on one side and Austria 
on the other'." 

Even more clear is the opinion of a later Queen's Advo­
cate Sir John Harding when advising the Government in 
1860 upon the question raised by Garibaldi's rebellion. This 
is perhaps n~er in its application. This is the quotation 
from the opinion of Harding: 

"If Her Majesty's Government considers that a 
civil war actually exists between the dictatorial Gov­
ernment of Southern Italy and that of His Majesty the 
King of the two Sicilies in which Great Britain is to 
be strictly neutral and that the dictatorial government. 
has in fact attained (howsoever> an independent and 
sovereign existence and governs 'de facto' a portion of 
the Neapolitan dominions, then Her Majesty's Govern­
ment may without violating or disregarding the law 
of Nations and without encouraging piracy, so far re­
cognise the acts of this 'de facto' government as to 
admit the validity of an effective blockade, maintain­
ed by a competent naval force acting under its orders 
or to acquiesce in the capture .and condemnation b; 
it of articles of contraband of war designed for the 
use of the King of the two Sicilies." 
The belligerency which existed was between what you 

might call the King of Italy and the insurgents, and the 
advice of Sir John Harding was that if there was ··""B: 'de 
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facto' war between the two, then the rights of the belli­
gerents should be accepted and acknowledged. In other 
word,s, supposing they took as prize of war ships belong­
ing t'o what you might call the constituted King of Italy, 
it would stlll be a perfectly good prize. 

In the course of the same opinion, Harding pointed 
out that Garibaldi and his officers could not possibly be 
regarded as pirates, since they were carrying on war in a 
regular manner and had been dealt with on equal terms 
by British naval officers. The three opinions which I have 
just cited are· those of British law officers ranging over 
the period from 1828 to 1860. 

Without further multiplying citations, I will therefore 
summarise their effect by saying that what we recognise 
in these cases is the existence of war. The recognition of 

···. the insurgent government is merely incidental or conse­
quential since a war implies the existence of some inde­
pendP.nt authority which carries on the war . .... 

The next thing to which I wish to call your attention, 
is the recognition this ma.tter has received from the British 
Government through the then Foreign Secretary Mr. Eden. 
I am reading from the Hansard which is the recognised 
report of the Debates of the House of Commons. I am 
reading from the debates of the 14th April 1937, page 1133. 
This is what I have here: 

"The Leader of the Opposition spoke earlier today as 
though the Government had given something up in this 
case. Of course we have not given anything up, because 
you· can never grant belligerent rights to one side only: 
they must be granted to both sides, if they are granted at 
all." 

This issue arose on the question of the Spanish war. 

"The Honourable Gentleman remarked that he thought 
that never in history had there been any question of grant­
ing belligerent rights early in a dispute. As a matter of 
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fact, in the American Civil War we did grant belligerent 
rights within six weeks of the outbreak of the Civil War." 

"Mr. Noel Baker said: The Government themselves de­
clared a blockade, which as all international lawyers will 
agree, compels them to grant belligerent rights to both 
sides." 

"Mr. Eden: We ourselves made, in point of fact, a de·­
clara,-tion of neutrality out of which arose the granting of 
belliger~nt rights to both sides. That is what we did in 
the American Civil War. Of course that does not sta.nd 
alone. It is not the oniy example. The Honourable gen­
tleman is probably familiar. I think, as I know something 
of his association in this respect, with the Greek rebellion 
against Turkey in 1821-25. At that time also-remember 
that in each ca.se these were insurgents against their pa­
rent State fighting for their liberation, and it was during 
the course of that struggle that the rights of belligerents 
were granted by Britain. At that time also, belligerent 
rights. were granted and His Majesty's Government voiced 
this opinion to which I would draw the attention of the 
House; the character of belligerency was not so much a 
principle as a fact that a certain degree of force and con­
sistency acquired by any mass of population engaged in 
war entitled that population to be treated as a. belligerent 
and even if this title were questionable, rendered in the 
interest well-understood of all civilised nations so to treat 
them." 

The position of British politicians and British law on 
the question of the recognition of belligerency even as be­
tween what I might call the parent state a.nd the rebel 
states has always been rec_?gnition of belligerency. 

At that time Canning was Foreign Secretary of this 
country and Professor Philips in his History of Europe 
deals with this v~ry interesting chapter of modern Greek 
independence. He says: 

"Curiously enough as in the affairs of Spain, so now 
his (Canning's) attitude was frankly based upon the inte-
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rests of England. The interests of England in his opinion 
demanded peace .... The recognition of the belligerent cha­
racter of the Greeks was necessitated by the impossibility 
of treating as pirates a population of a million souls and 
of bringing within the bounds of civilised war a contest 
which had been marked at the out-set on both sides, by 
disgusting barbarities. 

"Those were both cases in which belligerent rights 
were granted. A third and perhaps, in a way, even more 
remarkable ca.se, was the revolt of the Spanish American 
Colonies against the Spanish Government, from which re­
sulted the establishment of the South American independ­
ent republics as we know them today." 

So that you have instances on both sides of the line. 
You have instances where those who rebelled against a 

, ·. State for their own independence ultimately succeeded, 
but while they were in a state of war both were recognis­
ed as belligerents; Those others in which they did not 
succeed but nonetheless during the interval of the strug­
gle, they were both recognised as belligerents. 

"A third, and perhaps, in a way, even more re­
markable case was the revolt of the Spanish American 
Colonies against the Spa.nish Government, from which 
resulted the establishment of the South American in­
dependent Republics as we know them today. In that- _, 
dispute we recognised the rights of the belligerent co­
lonies .... " 

People were actually revolting against their own Govern­
ment for their own freedom, and one need not be apolo­
getic in this period of world history to say that the subject 
race may free itself. 

"In that dispute we recognised the rights of the 
belligerent colonies long before we recognised them in 
any other wa.y, and, when I heard the Right Hon. 
Gentlemen below the Gangway speaking earlier this 
afternoon, I bethought me that he might well have 
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remembered the enthusiasm shown )>y the Liberal 
Party of that day for those new States across the At­
lantic to whom we accorded belligerent rights, though 
they were rebels against their own mother country." 

Sir, I say that I could not quote a stronger authority for 
your adoption than the action of the British Government 
as stated authoritatively by the Foreign Secretary of Bri­
tain and I would like to read it again in order that I may 
not miss the point: 

"I bethought me that he might well have remem­
bered the enthusiasm shown by the Liberal Party of 
that day for those new states across the Atlantic to 
whom we accorded belligerent rights, though they were 
rebels against their own mother country." 

And I say that the same point arises for you. It is 
true that those who fought were rebels from the point of 
view of constitutional law as against their own King-and 

- later on I will come to the question of allegiance-it will 
be my duty to analyse before you what that means, though 
it is irrelevant to the issue as I shall point out. The very 
fact that those colonies were fighting against their mother 
country as it is called, shows that at that time there was 
what you may call 'legal allegiance', but legal allegiance 
cannot be a matter of perpetuity because if it becomes a 
matter of perpetuity no subject race will ever attain free­
dom. For the moment, the point with which we are con­
cerned is merely this: that while in a state of belligerency 
Britain recognised the rebels .as proper belligerents, those 
wh~ ·were fighting against their mother country, and if 
that be~ligerency is recognised, I venture to submit it will 
be far too much to ask this Court to refuse it to th's 
Provisional Government of Free India and the Armies 
fighting under them. Mr. Eden goes on-because he want­
ed to make the point that the State will be recognised not 
only when it comes into existence, but while still the strug­
gle goes on. Now I read: 
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"What I wish to deduce from these three examples 
is that the natural thing .... " 

mark the words-

" .... when a struggle has reached the large· di­
mensions of the present war in Spain, would have 
been to recognise its belligerent character, and for 
States whose maritime interests are involved, as ours 
are, to grant belligerent rights to both sides." 

In other words, as he put it before, it is essentially a 
matter of fact. If we find that the struggle,-call it rebel­
lion, call it insurgence, call it what you like,-has reached 
such proportions that you cannot control it by normal 
means, then you must recognise that it is a state of war, 
and once you recognise that it is a state of war, those 
who fight in pursuance of the declaration of war and in 
prosecution of it are entitled to all the rights of bellige­
rency.· Then he goes on: 

"That would have been the natural thing to do. 
Recognition of belliger~ncy is, of course, quite distinct 
from recognising anyone to whom you give belligerent 
rights as being the legitimate Government of the 
country." 

And that is what I want to impress upon you, that if 
it is asserted on the other side that it is required for the 
purpose of immunity from all acts done in due prosecu­
tion of the war that the Provisional Government should 
have been recognised by Britain, it is a completely futile 
argument. In fact, the very hypothesis cannot exist. The 
hypothesis is this: The rebels as I have called them-! do 
not mind it-are fighting for their freedom against an­
other country. If they succeed, the Government will be 
recognised, but in the meantime, during the course of fight­
ing, the Government won't be recognised, but what is re­
cognised is belligerency. I shall presently point out what 
it involves,-immunity from all acts done in due prosecu­
tion of the war. 

.) 

58 



"Recognition of belligerency is, of couse, quite ~istinct 
from recognising anyone to whom you gave belhgerent 
rights as being the legitimate Government of the 
country." 

It is a· fact that the Provisional Government was not 
then and did not become the actual Government of India, 
but that does not ma.tter at all. What are the rights and 
privileges during the course of the struggle, and if I am 
right in my submission to the Court, there can be no 
doubt that during the course of struggle there was only 
one duty owed by men like the accused before you, and 
that is to prosecute that war under the orders of the Pro­
visional Government,-and anything that they did by way 
of prosecuting that war gives them complete immunity. 

"It has nothing to do with it. It is .a conception 
simply concerned with granting belligerent rights 
which are of convenience to the .donor as much as 
they are to the recipients. I will not go into the rea­
sons, but. for a variety of reasons in the present dispute 
we are not granting belligerent rights." 

So that you have here recognition of an adoption of 
the principle ,supported by precedents as stated by the 
Foreign Secretary of that day. 

Then there is a quotation from Mr. Churchill's speech 
during the course of the same discussion to which I wish 
to call your attention. That is on the 14th of April 1937, 
page 1068: 

"When I hear my Right Hon .. friend opposite speak 
of rebels, I must remind him that, sitting there as he 
does in _th~ seat of the Whigs, he is departing from 
Whig prmc1ples. The sacred right of rebellion was one 
of tlleir first doctrines. I.n regard to liberal statesmen, 
tnere the Right Hon. Gentleman sits, the successor tO: 
w. Gladstone, striving to uphold the great principles 
tor which his Party stands. But what w.as Mr. Gald­
stone's record? He was a strong supporter of rebels. 
~ 



lie Was a strong supporter of the rebels in the war of 
Alnerican secession. There, we had a civil wa.r in 
Which the rebels were not only rebels but slave owners. 
A1r. Gladstone went about the country. and in a fam­
ous speech either at New Castle or Hull, proclaimed 
that the Confederate States (i.e., the Southern States, 
had not only founded an 2.rmy, but that they had 
founded a navy, they had founded a Government, and 
l11ore than that, they had founded a nation. <An Hon. 
A1ember: "He was a Tory then.") He was not a Tory 
then. Therefore, before one takes the view that rebels 
~U:e like mad dogs to be put down and shot at sight. 
We should remember these things." 

d I_n other words, in that debate the Government of the 
ay 111 England recognised that while a rebellion may or 

may not be successful, while it has attained a stage of 
war, You must recognise and give immunity to those Peo­
ple Who fight on either side, for what justification is there 
0~ the Part of one set of them to fight and claim immu­
l~lty as against the other side? I~ the I.N.A. shot, I dare 
8 ?-Y the British Indian Army equally shot from the other 
81~e. The justification is equal in both cases in so far as 
this Particular struggle is concerned. Mr. Churchill goes 
on: 

"If we search the history of the nineteenth cen­
tury we shall find many cases where British Govern­
ment ha.ve actually espoused the cause of rebels. The 
I:lon. Member (Mr. Maxton), the leader of the Clyde­
Side party, with his customary candour and frankness 
llJ.ade "no bones about supporting rebels. He declareci 
that the question was whether or not they were rebel­
ling for the thing you wanted." 
I am quite certain that we have proved to the hilt that 

they were rebelling for a thing they wanted which is fully 
approved of by any civilised human being. There cannot 
be two different laws for two different sets of People. 

"Every one will support rebels who are fighting for 
the things of which they approve and ~hey Will criticise 
the Government which is for the thmgs Which they 
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dislike. Therefore don't let us have too much 
of an attempt to make out that the Government in 
Spain have all the right on their side and the rebels 
none." 

The Court will .appreciate that I am pleading for a 
limited right. I am not here before this Court on the 
question of the recognition or non-recognition of the un­
fortunate failure of the Provisional Government to obtain 
the independence of India. That is not the issue. There 
is a very narrow issue. It is this. While they were fight­
ing and struggling, were they or were they not entitled to 
the rights of belligerents. 

Mr. Churchill goes on: "Therefore do not let Ui> 

have too much of an attempt to make out that the 
Government in Spain have all the right on their side 
.and the rebels none. It is one of the most evenly 
balanced struggles and one of the most unpleasant 
and certainly it is the least cause for us to espouse. 
If we were to take the course which is recommended 
by the Right Honourable gentleman to break the 
blockade, if we throw the might of the British Navy 
into the scale, could he guarantee or could he be sure 
that we might not provoke that very alignment and 
crystallisation in Europe along those unnatural and 
idiotic-perhaps. I had better say ideological-lines 
which it is our whole message and mission to rupture, 
or least to avoid." 

So tha_t Sir, even up to the very last war, up to the year 
1937, JUst on the eve of last war it is perfectly obvious 
that a distinction has been maintained a distinction which 
I cannot _too often insist upon between a state of bellige­
r~ncy Which may be recognised and the rights accorded 
·without the ultimate success of those who fought for the 
cause for Which they could fight. They may fail but none 
the less In the interval they are entitled to the rights of 
belligerency. 

Then, Sirs, there is a further point and I tell the court 
that it is a question of fact. This court should find that 
this Provisional Government had ceded to it the territories 
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~~1Ch I have described. But while insisting on that find­
to Of fa.ct, because we submit that it was a fact, I wish 
l?:el' llotnt out to you that from the point of view of belli­
llle ency it is quite unnecessary that the particular Govem­
llo llt for the time being need have any territory· in its 
lll~session at all. and for that purpose, I wish to give you 
all strattons in history. Take Belgium in the last war and 
lastthe emigre Governments residing in London during the 
g., but one war and the last war. What were those eml­
c ( e Governments? Not an inch of territory which they 
t OlJld can their own at that time and yet who ventures 
0 ° say before this Court that a member of the Dutch Army 
.•. / for that matter the Polish or the French or the Yugosla-
1 Ian Army may not fight to liberate its own country and 
~ot have the right to claim, even if they failed, all the 

rtghts and immunities as far as their soldiers are concern­
ed Of belligerency. I think, Sirs, the last war has illustrat­
ed lllore than any other that some of these old princinles 
lnav be overdone and that it is quite unnecessary in order 
that you may have a state of war, that country that is 
~Rhting a war on one side need not necessarily at that 
ttrne have, wnat I may call in the common English par­
lance, a local habitation though it may have a na.me. Many 
or these emigre Governments were deprived of their terri­
tory and the fact that they were deprived of their terri­
tory temporarily, or the fact that the Indians were de­
Prived of their territories for 150 years, makes not the -
slightest difference to the point that we are submitting to 
the Court. V!ha.t we submit to the Court is this. They 
Were all liberating armies, trying to liberate their country 
and therefore were entitled to the immunities of those 
who were fighting. The next question before you, Sirs, is 
this. There is no such thing .as the law of limitations in 
dealing with nations so that if either the Dutch or the 
French or anybody else was trying to fight for the libera­
tion of their country while having lost their territory to 
the enemy, can it ever be argued in a British Court that 
those who were fighting to liberate their country were not 
fighting a struggle where, they were entitled to 

67 



the rights of belligerents? Supposing any of them 
f ·1 d · it to be said in a British Court that ale , lS t h'ch, all 
they were not fighting a struggle o w. 1 · 

the laws or immunities and privileges of a fightu:~g army 
exist? I therefore urge upon you not to take the mstance 
that you have before you as any different because .we_ 
happen to be Indians. Remember that. They were trymg 
to liberate their country. I am not here to espouse the 
ca.use of the Provisional Goverrunent. I am pleading for 
men who fought under the orders of their Government 
for the liberation of their own country. If therefore 
they were entitled to fight for their own country for the 
purpose of liberating their country, I am entitled to tell 
this Court that they are entitled to the privileges of belli­
gerency. One more instance·· on which there was a certain 
amount of struggle in proving the facts is the case of 
the Maquis in France. Remember the facts. At the time ,..,. 
when the Maquis were fighting, the 'de facto' and the 'de 
jure' Government in France was Marshal Petain's Gov­
ernment and the latter were allied with Germ'any. The 
Maquis were fighting in order to release France from their 
own French Government which was allied with Germany, 
and what did Eisenhower say? I am going to read that to 
you because it is a very short document and it is very im­
portant. At th-a.t time it was apprehended that the Ma-
quis might be dealt with unjustly by the then French 
Government, because it was the 'de jure' Government of 
the time and would shoot as rebels, very much the same 
as the Advocate General will later on argue to say about 

/ the persons who took part in the Indian National Army. 
But you have the pronouncement of no less e. person as 
Field Marshal Eisenhower that that shall not be. In other 
words, if persons with a view to liberate their Government 
fight .against their own Government, they are entitled t~ 
the rights of belligerents. That was the reason why I 
was very anxious that I should be able to prove that 
sta.tement. Sirs, this is the statement which has been 
proved and I may incidentally agree to what my learned 
friend insisted upon that I should put in also the German 
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view of the matter. If he prefers that it is his look out­
I do not. I prefer the American and the British view. 

"There is conclusive evidence that the German 
forces in France are-

(! am obliged to my honoura.ble friend for saying tha~ 
he does not doubt the authenticity of the source, meaning 
that it came from General Eisenhower. Of course he in­
sisted that I should put in the second passage and I leave 
you to judge which of the two you should prefer, with the 
submission that you should prefer Eisenhower to General 
Keitel.) 

"now recruiting members of the French resistance 
group as France Th·em·s and today an 'announcement 
issued from SHAEF in the name of General Eisen­
hower makes these four points: 

1. That the French forces of the interior constitute 
a combatant force commanded by General Koenig­
gaud forming an integral part of the Allied Expe­
ditionary Forces. 

2. Thia.t the French Forces of the interior in the Ma­
quis bear arms openly against the enemy and are 

·1 instructed to observe the rules of war. They are 
provided with a distinctive emblem and regarded 
by General Eisenhower as an Army under his Com­
mand. 

3. Reprisals against resistance groups violate the 
rules of war by which Germany is bound." 

This is what I ask you to do: that anything done 
against the members of the Indian Nation'al ArmY fight­
ing for their freedom according to the rules of war,-I 
submit that any action taken against them is a breach 
of International law. 

"Every effort will be made to trace the authors of 
4" .any atrocities against members of the forces under 
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General Eisenhower's Command. Steps to this end 
are already being taken." 

Then the rest reads: 
"General Eisenhower in a declaration broadcast 
to the B.B.C. tried to lega.lise the French partisans 
as a fighting force .... " 

The question that arose was somewhat delicate from a 
constitutional point of view, because for the time being 
the then French Government was still under the thumb of 
Germany. The people of France for the time bein~ fight­
ing against their Government which was pro-Germany 
were undoubtedly guilty of fighting against their own Gov­
ernment, but the ground of immunity accorded was that 
they were fighting alongside the al'ies for the ourno.«P of 
freeing France. What is the distinction, I ask, between 
those who fought on the side of, even if we sav Jaoan, 
for the purpose of freeing their own country? With very 
great respect it is difficult to understand any distinction. 
In other words, if the Maquis were entitled to all the pri­
vileges and immunities of a good fighting force for liberat­
ing their own country, I cannot see how you can fail to 
accord a similar treatment to those standing in the posi­
tion of the Indian National Army. 

Then, I read on:-

"General Eisenhower in a declaration broadcast 
by the B.B.C. tried to legalise the French partisans as 
a fighting force. From responsible pircles in the Wil­
helmstrasse the following statement has been given 
out: 

"This attempt by the Allied High Command is un­
justified. French partisans revolt against the legal 
French Government and violate the French laws, 
which enforce capital punishment for such violations." 

Now you are asked solemnly to adopt what the Ger-
mans said in a similta.r situation. With what face could 
ever such an argument be presented to a British Court! 

&o 



'· 

"The activities of the French partisans do not con­
stitute regular war conduct .... " 

(Precisely the kind of argument that is likely to be 
advanced.) 

"The activities of the partisans do not constitute 
a regul•ar war conduct but a malicious system of am­
bush fighting against the occupation power. Thus the 
partisans have forfeited the right to be treated as 
regular troops." 

I submit that the view put forward by General Eisen­
hower is the more correct of the two. But the other view 
clearly shows what I have to establish before you in order 
to claim immunity, namely thla.t it is a regular, organised 
army, fighting according to the laws of war, and not guilty 
of any personal atrocity beyond and outside merely fight­
ing a regular war, and it is fortunate in this case, the first 
test of its kind, because the issue is neat. There is not 
even a charge of any personal atrocity. My submission 
to the Court is that the British, and I mean no empty 
compliment, civilised instinct has recognised that if a 
struggle for freedom is waged, then if it reaches a -stage 
at which there is an organised Government and an orga­
nised army, it must be accorded all the rights, privileges 
a.nd immunities of a fighting army, and that is what r 
plead for. 

The question which arises undet Section 79 of the 
Indian Penal Code is that by all rules of civilised warfare 
what you claim for yourself you must accord to your op­
ponents, even though you may have succeeded in defeat­
ing them. You are entitled to come to your own conclusion 
on the merit of the controversy at issue before you. But 
the Government says this:-· 

"The policy of the Government of India is, how­
ever, that only these cases wlll be brought to trial 
where there are serious charges, apart from that or 
waging war against the king." 
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As I said, it is not law and in no manner binds you. 
I must fanklY. confess that much, because it must not .be 
said that I was trying to take refuge behind any executive 
statements. But the f.act remains that behind that state­
ment is almost a reluctant admission that waging war::is in 
this ca~e not an offence or at least seriously trea.ted as 
an offence. That is perf~ctly obvious, not because waging 
war per se is not an offence, but because in the circum­
stances of the case, where, with an organised government 
and an organised army, ,a war was carried on, then wag­
ing that kind of war is not an offence. I am not denying 
that if ten individuals in India collected arms and began 
to fight the Government of India, waging war is not or 
would not be an offence. But what is meant is that wag­
ing war, meaning the prosecution of war in the circum­
stances of the case, namely, of the Indian National Army 
under the Provisional Government,-that is not an offence. 
But it is a matter which I want to be judged entirely on 
the merits of the legal and fa.ctual submissions which I 
have made. 

The next issue which. really, I submit, does not arise, 
but in as much as I have only one address before this 
court I must try and anticipate things anb answer them, 
-sometimes it is unjust to one's self, because one may 
raise more things than the opponent is likely to think of 
and I may make a present of an argument to him-but 
having regard to the rules of this court, .I am obliged to 
resort to that course-it cannot be helped; otherwise I 
should have preferred to have a short reply to any new 
point which may be raised by my learned friend on the 
other side. The short way to deal with the issue is this: 

-the cases which I have cited and the authoritative works 
which I have quoted to the Court, clearly show that in 
judging this case, no question of allegiance arises. All 
insurgents, while they are fighting, are still held by alle­
giance, and all the books which I have read will be worth 
nothing if the question of allegiance had been raised,­
because until you successfully throw it off, the prima facie 
allegiance, if I may so call it, exists; and none the less 
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wh~e it is not successfully thrown off, while it is in that 
am ulatory stage the rights of fighting and the rights of 
war if · ' ' It is a properly declared war and a properly con-
d~l~ted War CI will not repeat that qualification again, you 
WI assume it from me that when I talk of the rights, of 
wa~ I am talking of a properly declared war and a pro­
p~r ~ Prosecuted war as to which I have made my sub­
~~SSIOn>-in SUch a. case exhypothesi the allegiance exists. 

e re?els want to throw off the foreign yoke, and the 
result 1S that undoubtedly if the question of allegiance 
arose or had ever arisen, no grant of immunity to insur­
gents fighting for liberty against the parent State would 
~ave ever arisen; but the fact remains that notwithstand­
mg the fact of allegiance remaining, the right and free­
d.om t.o liberate their own country being recognised at the 
~Ime, lt is given effect to by recognising belligerency; that 
IS to .say, When an organised force is fighting under an 
orgamsed government for its own freedom, while they 
ha.~e not completely succeeded and token allegiance re­
mams, they are still entitled to fight. That is recognised 
by the law of nations. But should such a question ever 
be raised by my learned friend-which I submit is irrele­
vant-! have important submissions to make. First, that. 
on the events which took place at Farrer Park on 17th 
Februa.ry, there was no allegiance left and hence it is very 
important that I try to concentrate my attention on what 
occurred .at that meeting. 

The fact which probably may remain unnoticed, but 
which was most important, was that the British officers 
and. British other ranks were sepa.rated from Indian officers 
and Indian ranks. It is an extremely important fact to 
remember, in order to be able· to appreciate the events and 
the occurrences of that day. They having been separated, 
the Indian officers and ranks, numbering anything be­
tween 30,000 to 45 ooo were all asked to assemble at Farrer 
Park.--Colonel H~nt 'made a short statement or speech, 
.saying that he was handing them over on behalf of the 
British Government to the representative of the Japa­
nese Government, Colonel Fujiwara. Colonel Fuj_iwara 
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then made a speech in Japanese which, as the evidence 
now shows, was translated both in English and in Hindu­
stani; and the statement of Col. Fujiwara amounted to 
this-using my own language-that those of the Indian 
prisoners of war who wanted to join an army for the pur­
pose of liberation of their own country were free to do so, 
and handed them over to Captain Mohan Singh. Captain 
Mohan Singh then addressed them saying that he was 
prepared to organise the Indian National Army for the 
purpose of fighting for the liberation of India: and we had 
the evidence-uncontradicted-that he was acclaimed by 
the whole of the Indian prisoners of war present. I wish 
even at the risk of repetition to submit that when an in­
surgent fights against the then constituted government 
to free his own people and his own country from the alien, 
the question of allegiance does not arise. I want in tha.t 
connection to take the statement of Captain Arshad-lt is 
a most emphatic statement he made. 

"We believed that the only allegiance we owe is alle­
giance to our country." I cannot describe better than in 
his words the result of tha.t day's proceedings. 

That brings me up to a somewhat difficult subject 
like the case of any subject people, in particular India. 
All of you are aware that every charge of treason in Eng­
iand is a charge of working against the King and the 
country. The last one is the reported case of John Amery. 
In the situation in ·which an Indian finds himself, the 
question is under what circumstances and to what extent 
this question of allegiance can be raised at an, because 
once you divide the King from the country, it becomes a 
very difficult issue altogether for any human being to de­
cide, and hence I would prefer to rest my argument on the· 
occurrences of 17th February. The position of an Indian. 
in a case of this kind is difficult and I am going to s~bmit. 
to the Court on first principles what its true solution is: 
Where the King and the country coincide there Is no. 
question of an alternative. If you fight aganst the King· 
and also fight against the interest of your own country,. 
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the question does not arise, but the question does arise 
where there is a fight for freedom, and I propose to read 
passages to show to what extent the world has progressed 
in the matter. of the recognition of human rights. When 
you are nominally fighting against the King but really 
fighting to liberate the country, then the point is whe­
ther the question of allegiance can· arise at all. Unless 
you sell your , own soul, how can you ever say that when 
you are fighting to liberate your own country, there is 
some other allegiance which prevents you from so doing? 
That means that if that happens there i~ nothing but 
permanent slavery. · 

Therefore it is that I submit that in the circumstances 
of this case a choice was presented by the force of circum­
stances to those prisoners of war who were surrendered by 
Britain-! do not say wrongly-because there are reverses 
in the fortunes of war. Who am I to say whether it is 
rightly or wrongly done? At the same time you cannot 
disregard this most important fact that for the time be­
ing by reason of the exigencies of the war Britain found 
itself unable to give any protection to her soldiers to fight 
for the country and that being so, they found themselves 
in a very unenviable position. My learned friend may say: 
'you ought to have remained prisoners of war,' and he may 
argue that they may do anything under the circum­
stances short of making war. I concede that proposition 
where allegiance to the King and country coincide, but 
where the two do not coincide, a different situation arises 
altogether. My learned friend may say that they were 
fighting on behalf of a puppet Government or they allow­
ed themselves to be used as stooges of the Japanese. Even 
accepting this somewhat unenviable expression of stooges 
or otherwise, the -question is one of fact, namely, whether 
or not it was a regular army. honestly believing that it is 
fighting for the freedom of its country. The question of 
a bad name that may b'e given has really no relevancy to 
the legal issue but in as much as a great deal of dirt has 
been thrown by expressions of this character-puppet 
Government and puppet army and words to that effect-
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and the question of the strength of that army may be 
raised, it is. my duty to tell the Court how the evidence 
stands on record. The evidence that stands on record is 
that the No. 1 I.N.A. was formed and was dissolved in 
December. I shall forget that for the purposes of this 
case, because waging war which is the subject of the 
argument, applies to what you might call I.N.A. No. 2 I 
have attempted to prove and I have established that the 
I.N.A. though small in numbers, was fighting as allies\ of 
the Japanese Army and there is no ignominy in admitting 
that or in doing that, because the objective at that time 
of both . the armies was undoubtedly to free India from 
Britain. The objective was no more and no less than that 
of the allies in fighting to free France or Belgium or any 

,.. other country, and if in that process there was a unified 
command or a single strategy, you, Sirs, will not say with 
your knowledge of military affairs that that makes one 
army the stooge of the other .. It is a phrase with which 1 
my learned friend will not be able to walk away if he 
uses it, and that is why I want to tie his legs, if I can. 
If the British and the American Armies fought under the 
command of General Eisenhower, Britain may not be call-
ed the stooge of the Americans, and I hope my learned 
friend will not descend to the level of calling the I.N.A. 
stooges of the Japanese. The evidence given by Lt. Nag 
is very important from this point of view. He was extre-
mely prolific in the results and he came to prove at the 
instance of the Prosecution that there was a very organis-
ed regular army, and that a big war was fought. My sub­
mission is that he was hoisted with his own petard. If he 
proved that a regular war was fought, that is precisely my 
defence. He was qualified to speak about it. He was legal 
adviser of the I.NA. and he told this Court in effect-! am 
quoting his words-that the two armies fought as Allies. 
Whether the alliance was right or wrong is not before this 
court. The only thing that is before this Court is whe-
ther or not this army fought as an organised army. My 
learned friend will not be able to support any allegation 
that they fought for any other objective except the libera-



tion of India. If an allegation of that kind is made, it is 
.a false allegation and we have given a complete lie to it. 
The prosecution witnesses from beginning to end admit-

•• ted that the object of the I.N.A. was to fight for the libe-· 
ration of India, and every one, whether volunteer or non­
volunteer, willing or unwilling, has admitted that they 
had no other objective except the liberation of their own 
country. That being so, my submission to the Court is 
that in so far as any allegation is made to the contrary it 
is only put forward as a point of prejudice, and I had to 
meet it with a view to remove the prejudice, because as I 
said it is not in human hands to choose your allies under 
the circumstances which may be forced upon you. And 
whether you fight with the aid of X, Y or Z for the pur­
pose of liberation of your own country, the fact that Y 
was otherwise a bad person has got nothing to do with 
the case. But in all human discussions there is always an 
argument at a tangent; many human minds confuse the 
issue, and hence it is that I have attempted to cross-exa­
mine, at all events in the briefest possible way to make 
this point clear. The point that I tried to bring out was 
that the I.N.A. was, though small, a very organised army, 
inspired by the best of motives, and fought for that pur­
pose, though unsuccessful for the time being. 

There is one other thing which I ought to have men­
tioned and I regret I omitted it while I was talking on the 
·first issue. That was with reference to the Minister sent 
by Japan to the Government of Azad Hind. I, ought to 
have stated earlier, because 'the points which I have men­
tioned were proclamation, recognition, declaration of war, 
followed by possession of territory, and also the Minister 
·Of the Nippon Government accredited to this Government. 
The last is not essential, but still in point of fact it was 
alleged, and I will state how the facts stand under that 
head. The fact is that a Minister was sent in fact. No 
less a person than Mr. Sawada of the Foreign Office told 
the Court that it was decided to send a Minister to the 
Provisional Government of Azad Hind, while he was the 
Vice-Foreign Minister and he was competent to speak 
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about their decision, that a Minister in fact was sent. As 
it 'happened he came without le.tters of credit or his cre­
dentials, and as if it mattered the whole argument was to 
show that a Minister ceases to exist because he did not 
bring the papers. Supposing one of you, Sirs, sent me your 
agent, and I choose not to demand from him his letter of 
authority and I accept him, it is a most extraordinary 
argument that the agent ceases to exist. That is a sort of 
logic which my learned friend wishes to apply to this case. 
But a good reason was given founded on diplomatic prac­
tice which you should accept. The evidence says that 
being a Provisional Government, in accordance With the 
dignity of .nations, or comity of nations, or credentials are 
required. In other words, the important point is whether 
the man came and was recognised by the person for whom 
be was intended. During the evidence, my learned friend 
got an answer from one of the witnesses to the e1l'ect that 
the head of the State, Netaji Subhas Chandra Bose, did 
not receive him. But there is further evidence which 
reallY destroys any other point on this question: Thereafter 
credentials were asked for, the head of the State accord­
ing to his conception required it, and you have the evidence 
that credentials were prepared and that they were signed 
bY the Japanese Emperor and were despatched but under 
the then conditions of war they did not reach. But be­
cause the Japanese Minister was duly acc~edited I submit 
it is a reinforcing argument in my favour. When he came 
the two Governments-meaning the Provisional Govern~ 
ment of Azad Hind and the Japanese Government--took 
a. different view of what you may call diplomatic practice, 
bUfl that does not a1l'ect the issue. The sending Govern­
anent in the end, when so required, actually sent letters of 
credit, and the. fact that it reached or did not reach does 

t affect the ISsue; at all events it completely cured such 
~~feet or deficiency as there was in the procedure. And in 

illt of fact I ask the Court to hold that there was a duly 
P.0 ointed Minister, which is all that arises here. The 
e.PP on whY we brought in the evidence was among other 
~~gs that the Provisional Government of Azad Hind was 
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a. properly organised Government, and accepted, and the 
ncceptance does not require necessarily the sending of an 
envoy, or an ambassador, or a Minister, or whatever the 

· • position or the relation between the Governments may be. 
What is it that the I.N.A. embarked upon in collabora­

tion with the Japanese? According to their agreement 
which I submit I have proved, any part of Indian territory 
which may be. liberated would be immediately handed over 
to the I.N.A. If you, as men of affairs, understand things 
rightly, it is the only thing to do. Where ~s the question 
of being an instrument? If, however, there was any in­
:;trument, it was the Japanese, because it is they who were 
assisting in liberating India, with a view that the liberated 
parts of India would . be handed back to the I.N.A. Th 
facts of the case are, that the two proclamations were . e 
sued by the representatives of both the Governmentsls­
Gen. Kawabe on behalf of the Japanese Government a­
Mr. Subhas Chandra Bose on behalf of his Goverrun nd. 
You may say nobody fights a philanthrophic war. ent. 
whether or not it was philanthrophic remains to be But 
I can well understand, and I submit it for Your cons~een. 
ation, that Japan as indeed one of the witnesses said 1~r­
the East would be better protected by a free India 0 ; at 
they might have better prospects of trade Which is th~t 
only means of maintaining their standard of life \V'~e1r 
incidentally is also the means of Britain. It w.a.~ lch 
philanthropic war at all. so far as the freedom Of not a 
was concerned, it was, I submit, the object of that lnd.ia 
and you have it in evidence on oath before the Co '\llal", 
may well be, I presume it was, that a free India might ~t. lt 
be able to assist by means of trade and otherwise ettet­
able the Japanese to maintain their high sta~dard. to ell­
Therefore it is idle, unless people appreciate the tru Of lire. 
for them, to say that unless you co~quere~ terrfto e issue 
can be no other object in assisting m getting its Jl' th.e1.e 
It is that idle argument which I wish to meet her reed.olQ 
Court. But we are not left to speculation. 1\{y ~re th~ 
friend cross-examined one of the witn~sses. lie 8 earllett 
yes, you are assisting the Indian National Artny atd., ()b. 
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view to attain your Japanese war aims, and he thought 
he had go~ away with it. But when we asked what were 
the war aims, then I am afraid all this cross-examination 
fell to the ground. He said it was with a view to assist 
the war aims which was to free India. There may be 
many who doubt promises in this country but I am not one 
of them. I am one who looks on the brighter side of life 
and believe that if India could be freed in that way, why 
honest men should not believe it, it is difficult to under­
stand. The question before the Court shortly is this. What 
were the relations between the I.N.A. and the Japanese 
Army. That is the short point. It is a point of prejudice and 
yet it is my duty in defence of the honour of those whom 
I am defending and the group to which they belong that 
they were not the stooges of the Japanese, as cheaply 
might be said by the opponents. That is the short history 
of the position of the I.N.A. vis-a-vis the Japanese Army. 

I was speaking about the quality of allegiance, and I 
submitted to the Court that in a case of this kind where 
you have got to administer the law as a matter of justice, 
equality and good conscience, you may have a case where 
the country and the King do not coincide and where there 
is an imposed allegiance on a. subject people; and I am 
not talking merely as a matter of theory. I am going to 
give you an instance of a case of this kind which has 
occurred in the days when the British Commonwealth was 
called the British Empire; and the statement that I wish 
to read is the Declaration of Independence by the United 
States of America on the Declaration of war and before 
they had attained any statehood, as it is called in the 
cases which I have given. I am reading from a book called 
"Speeches and Documents on Colonial Policy", edited by 
Keith and published by the Oxford University ·Press in 
London. It is at page 70. It says: 

'70 

"When in the course of human events, it becomes 
necessary for one people to dissolve the political bonds 
which have connected them with another, and to as­
sume, among the powers of the earth the separate and 
equal station to which the laws of nature and of na-



t'Ure's God entitled them, a decent respect to the opi­
nions of mankind reqUires that they should declare 
the causes which impel them to the separation. 

We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all 
men are created equal, that they are endowed by their 
Creator with certain inalienable rights; that among 
these are life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness"·­
(and here I would like to point out that the recent 
pronouncement of Mr. Truman and of Mr. Churchill 
are to the same effect}-

"that, to secure these rights, governments are in­
stituted among men, deriving their just powers from 
the consent of the governed, that, whenever any form 
of government becomes destructive of these ends, it 
is the right of the people to alter or to abolish it, and 
to institute new government, laying its foundation on 
such principles, and organising its powers in such form, 
as to them shall seem most likely to effect their safety 
and happiness. Prudence. indeed, will dictate that 
governments long established should not be changed 
for light and transient causes; and accordingly all ex­
perience hath shown, that tuankind are more disposed 
to suffer while evils are sufferable, than to right them­
selves by abolishing the form to .which they are ac­
customed. But, · when a long train of abuses and 
usurpations, pursuing inVIariab]y the same object, 
evinces a sign to reduce them under absolute despo-

\ tism, it is their right, it is their duty, to throw off such 
government and to provide new guards for their future 
security. Such has been the patient sufferrance of 
these colonies, and such is now the necessity which 
constrains them to alter their former systems of gov­
ernment. The history of the present King of Great 
Britain is a hi$tory of repeated injuries and usurpa­
tions, all having, in direct object, the establishment 
of an absolute tyranny over these estates. To prove 
this; let facts be submitted to a,candid world:"-

71 



(Then they cite the grievances-! will not read them 
all). Then the statement says: 1 

"Nor have we been wanting in attention to our 
British brethren. We have warned them, from time 
to time, of attempts made by their legislature to ex­
tend an unwarrantable jurisdiction over us. We have 
reminded them of the circumstances of our emigration 
arid settlement here. We have appealed to their native 
justice and magnanimity, and we have conjured them, 
by the ties of our common kindred, to dis a vow these 
usurpations, which would inevitably interrupt our 
connections and correspondence. They too have been 
deaf to the voice of justice and of consanguinity. We 
must, therefore, acquiesce in the necessity which de­
nounces our separation, and hold them, as we hold the 
rest of the mankind, enemies in war,-in peace, friends. 
We, therefore, the representatives of the United States 
of America, in General Congress assembled, appealing 
to the Supreme Judge of the World for the rectitude 
of our intentions, do, in the name and by the autho­
rity .of the good people of these colonies, solemnlY 
publish and declare"-(and this is the point)-"That 
these United Coloni~s are, and of right ought to be, 
Free and Independent States;"-(and then comes the 
important sentence)-~'That they are absolved from 
.aU allegiance to the British Crown, and that all poli­
tical connectiqn between them and the State of Great 
Britain is, and ought to be, totally dissolved; and that, 
as Free and Independent States, they have full power 
to levy war, conclude peace, contract alliances esta­
blish commerce, and to do all other acts and 'things 
which Independent States may of right do. And for 
the support of this declaration, with a firm reliance 
on the protection of Divine Providence, we mutually 
pledge to each other, our lives, our fortunes, and our 
sacred honour." 

Here you have a case in which this quality of alle­
giance came to a test. They owed allegiance in the fami-
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liar sense to the King of England. They owed allegiance 
to their own country, and they realised that the time had 
arrived when the question became one of conflict between 
the allegiance to the King and the allegiance to the coun­
try. So that in accepted history, we have got a classical 
instance of a case where the choice between allegiance to 
the King and the allegiance to the country was presented • 
to the world, and men of honour chose allegiance to their 
;Own country to the imposed allegiance to a foreign king. 
Therefore I venture to stand before this Court today with 
the most classical illustration, the illustration of a race, 
.of a country, that has saved the world today, and m the 
last war and did marvels in the cause of civilisation; and 
if that illustration is not going to be respected, I submit 
justice would be denied completely. I submit that what 
:happened at Farrek Park, by reason of the actual state of 
events in this country, was perfectly legitimate, and in­
deed legitimised by what I may call the course of history . 
.Indeed it is amazing how Jirom the year 1776 to today the 
words are as true as they were then:-

"We hold these truths to be self-evident that all men 
are created equal, that they are endowed by their 
Creator with certain unalienable rights; that among 
these are life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness." 

And I commend this to you, Sirs, in order that you in 
:your wisdom will consider it just, if ever a,ny question 
arises. ·This declaration took place on the 4th July, 1776; 
and ultimately a war was fought, which resulted in 1781 
in establishing what is today the United States of America 
as an independent republic of the world. I venture to sub­
.mit this a historical instance, important in its character, 
valuable as showing the way in which the world has func­
tioned. I want to call attention to the oath of allegiance 
to the Provisional Government of Azad Hind and its con­
text, flor it is important that you should know it. 

"Indians in East Asia today are no more the subjects 
of an alien power; they are the ~roud citizens of the 
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Provisional Government of Azad Hind. To bring this 
home to the mind of every Indian· in Malaya and to· 
rouse our community to a full realisation of the res­
ponsibilities of the new status, it has been decided to· 
ask each member of the Indian Independence League 
to take an oath of allegiance to the Provisional Gov­
ernment of Azad Hind. Detailed directions regarding 
this have already been sent to all the State branches 
along with the form of the oath. Each member, on 
taking the oath, will be given 'oath of allegiance card' 
and the 'Indian Independence League membership 
card' he or she now holds will be taken back by the 
officer administering the oath and destroyed. The pri­
vilege of owing allegiance to our government will be 
extended only to members of the Indian Independence 
League as any Indian. who is not a member of the 
League cannot be considered as a true Indian. As 
Netaji said in his speech in Syonan on 25th October· 
'we will not treat them as Indians or friends. There 
is no place for them in India'." 

What I wish to point out is that in so far as these· 
documents are concerned they evince the same interest as 
was evinced by those who issued the Proclamation of In­
dependence of the United states of America. 

The next point to which I wish to call attention in 
this context is the law of treason with reference to India . • So far as India 'is concerned, it is a loose expression. The 
whole of the law on this subject has been codified in the 
Indian Penal Code and I call attention to Chapter VI of 
the Indian Penal Code-Offences against the State. There 
you find codified what is the law of treason in other coun­
tries. Section 121 is waging or attempting to wage war­
against the Queen, 121A is conspiracy to commit offences 
punishable by 121, 122 is collecting arms; 123 is concealing 
with intent to facilitate design to wage war; 124 is assault­
ing Governor-General etc., 124A is sedition; 125 is waging; 
war against any Asiatic power in alliance with the Queen~ 
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126 is committing depredation on territories of a power 
at peace with the Queen; and 127 is receiving property­
taken by war or depredation mentioned in Sections 125 

·. '• and 126; 128 is public servant voluntarily allowing pri­
soner of State or war to escape; 129 refers to a public ser­
vant negligently suffering such prisoner to escape. These 
are the offences against the State. 

My submission to the Court is this. In so far as the· 
question of the law of treason is concerned in this cou!IP­
try, my learned friend cannot talk of treason. For what 
would be called treason in the common law of England,. 
my learned friend would have to look to the language of 
Chapter VI of the Indian Penal Code. In other words my­
submission to the court is this-that generally speaking,. 
apart from Section 121, my learned friend will not and 
has no right to resort to what he calls the principles of 
treason. 

The n~xt point to which I shall call attention is a. 
classic book on the Law of Engand wribten in old English. 
I have got a transcript of it here. It is on page 95:-

"When a nation has placed itself under the protection 
of another that is more powerful, or has even entered 
into subjection to it with a. view to receiving its pro-· 
tection,-if the latter does not effectually protect the 
other in case of need, it is manifest that, by failing· 
in its engagements, it loses all the rights it had acquir-· 
ed by the convention, and that the other being dis-­
engaged from the obligation it had contracted, re­
enters into the possession of all its rights, and recovers 
its independence or its liberty. It is to be observed' 
that this takes place even in cases where the protector 
does no~ :11ail in his engagements through a want of 
good faith but merely through inability. For the 
weaker nation having submitted only for the sake of' 
obtaining protection-if the other proves. unable to 
fulfil that essential condition, the compact is dissolv­
ed-the weaker resumes its right, and may, if it thinks 



proper, have recourse to a more effectual protection. 
Thus the Dukes of Austria, who had acquired a right 
of protection and in some sort a sovereignty over the 
City of Lucerne, being unwilling or unable to protect 
it effectually, that city concluded an alliance with the 
three first cantons; and the Dukes having carried their 
Complaint to the Emperor, the inhabitants of Lucerne 
replied "that they had used the natural right common 
to all men, by which everyone is permitted to endea­
vour to' procure his own safety when he is abandoned 
by those who are obliged to grant him assistance." 

This is the law which has been enunciated and accept-
ed in England ever since. ~is was in 1797. 

My submission is that the insurgents are in the posi­
tion of rebels up to a stage, but a stage is reached where 
if the State has an organised army it becomes possessed 
.of the right of belligerency, even though they may ulti­
mately fail. The question of allegiance does not arise then, 
but I would not be surprised if with a view to divert the 
discussion into a wrong channel any such statement is 
made. 

Before I go further, I wish to make quite clear a point 
about· the prisoners of war. The prisoners of war may 
submit even to ·the extent of assisting the enemy-that 
is passive assistance up to the point of labour. You wlll 
:find in the same books that they may not actually join the 
enemy and in this connection I wish to submit to the Court 
what was the relation of the I.N.A. to "the Japanese. You 
.belong to the profession of arms and will appreciate what 
I am submitting to you: I have stated the position as much 
.against myself as possible. I am now assuming that the 
.events which took place at Farrer Park did not take place. 
I am assuming against myself that they were just pri­
soners of war. The question still remains what is it that 
they did. The question arises whether they ever allowed 
themselves to be used as what I might call tools of the 
enemy or any other instrumlmts, whatever the phrase 

7\} 



used. Having been surrendered as prisoners of war, if the 
Japanese chose to leave the Indians to secure their liberty 
-(I am willing to agree that it suited them) that by itself 

~. does not bring the I.N .A. and the accused befbre us within 
the prohibition imposed upon the prisoners of war. It is a 
point that I wish to elaborate up to a stage. I wish to 
state that there is no obligatlion whatever which prevents 
a person who is a prisoner of war from :fighting on his own 
for the liberty of his own country. I submit that my 
learned friend will not be able to controvert that, and 
therefore I wish to make it quite plain that the question 
of the relation between !f;he Japanese Army and the I.N.A. 
the question o! the objective of the Japanese as regards. 
India-these points have got to be re-emphasized before 
this Court. Unless they are borne in mind, the Court may 
easily go inif;o a wrong track. 

The point is this. 'I quite agree that the Court or 
any member of it may say: "They were fools in believing 
the Japanese". That has nothing to do with the case. 
Other men may have been wiser. The question is whe­
ther rthose who formed the I.N.A. did believe in a boua 
fide manner that they would be able to secure the freedom 
of the country. If they bona fide believed it, the fact 
that there are wiser men on earth does not alif;er the issue­
so far as the renouncement of the guilt of: that army fight­
ing for the liberation of India is concerned. Hence it is 
that I wish if;o submit that the evidence which I submitted 
yesterday and a few more passages to which I wish to 
call attention today is relevant for that purpose. You 
have it in ,evidence and it is a matter again in which the 
question is of one's own belief. The question is not whe- · 
ther that belief was something which probably the Court 
or any member of it may think was ot; very credulous peo­
ple. That has nothing to do with the point. You have it 
definitely in evidence before . this Court, in the evidence 
of prosecution witnesses, that if any nation or any race­
or any class came into being to oppose the independence 
of. India, they were prepared to :fight that, including the· 
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.Japanese. That is why I was very anxious to point out 
that it is only when a story is completely pieced up and 
·Comes before the Court that its significance can be appre­
-ciated. The whole point of it is that the question is not 
.so much as ~ whether you or I or anybody else would 
.have relied upon it as a promise. From that point of view 
probably we are a credulous race. We have relied on 
many promises of others and of Japanese also. But that 
has nothing to do with the point. The point is that if 
these people honestly believed, as I say they did, th:tt 
they were securing the independence of India, then the 
.question of what a prisoner of war cannot do, does not 
.actually arise and will not arise.; 

In this connection I would like to read the evidence of 
Nag. The question that I put to him was: Do you remem­
ber ever attending a meeting in Singapore at which Capt. 
:Mohan Singh told the prisoners of war that if need be 
t~cy would fight the Japanese in addition to the British? 
a:e said he would fight anybody who stood in his way even 
:if it were the Japanese or anybody else. The next is P.W.9 
Havildar Sucha Singh, and this is the passage to which 
.I wish to refer. "He said that the I.N.A. has already been 
.started in Singapore and a good many people had joined 
it; and the I.N.A. will only fight for the freedom of: India 
and for no other cause. If we go to India and the Japan­
.ese go with us, we are. equipped with arms, and we will 
.fight the Japanese if they tum round against us. This 
.is a golden chance for us and we may not get such a chance 
.again." The next witness is P.W. 18. He said: "After I 
·was posted to Bose Brig&:ie, Captain Shah Nawaz Khan 
delivered a lecture which I heard. He said that the Bose 
.Brigade which was formed was to· go first of all to the 
front, and this Brigade is composed of picked officers and 
men." And then the passage goes on: "He also said that 
if and when we fight with our allies the Japanese nation, 
.it should not happen that we remain as second rate in 
·the fight and thus disgrace our nation. When we reach 
India we shall meet Indian men and women, and those 
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who are elders to us we should consider them as mothers 
and those who are younger we should consider them as 
-our daughters and sisters, and if anybody will not obey 
these instructions he will be shot dead; and- if and when 
Tndia is freed and the Japanese who are now helping us 
tried to subdue us, we shall even fight them. He also said 
that even now if a Japanese gives you one slap, you should 
give him three in return, because our Government is pa­
rallel to their Japanese Government, and we are in no 
way subservient to them, and that when we reach India, 
if we notice any Japanese maltreating an Indian lady, he 
should be first warned by word of mouth not to do so, but 
if he continued to do so, we were at liberty to use force 
and even shoot him in order to prevent it, because the 
fight which we are making now is fJor the freedom and 
well-being of India and not for rthe benefit of the Japan­
ese. This lecture was delivered in Taiping," Then, I come 
to P. W. 19. He said: "I was aware of the declaration of 
the Provisional Government of Free India. Prior to my 
joining the I.N.A. I was in a prisoner-of-war camp." Then 
I come to the other passage which is relevant for the pur­
_pose. "I knew after joining the army that the sole ambi­
tion ofj the I.N.A. was to fight for the- freedom of India 
.against any army in the world, but my own jdea was 
not to fight but to escape. By 'any army in the world' Is 
meant also the Japanese." Then I come to P. W. 24. He 
said: "In August 1943 I was in Neesoon camp. Captain 
Shah Nawaz came to address the Heavy Gun Battalion 
there. He said that the I.N.A. had been formed for the 
liberation of India and it would· fight not only British Im­
perialism but also those who would put ob..;tacles in the 
way of India's freedom or any other party which wished 
to ~ubjugate India." 

I had hitherto avoided reading any evidence because 
there was no substantial contest as to the facts which 
have been proved. The record of evidence clearly shows 
that in so far as the I.N.A. was concerned, they acted on. 
their own. No doubt, they accepted the alliance with 
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Japan on promises which they, at all events, honestly and 
sincerely believed, and if they believed them, I submit. 
there can be no question o1' any obligation. There are S() 

many matters which have been gone into and which in 
patience we suffered in the belief that there was no rele­
vancy to the charges before the Court. But now that 
othey are before the Court, I must separate them as best 
as I can and, while separating them, give answer to every 
single suggestion that was made or is likely to be made. 
Hence it is that I am here before the Court to point out 
that in doing what the I.N.A. did, there was no question 
of any breach of any obligation or the prisoner of war 
obligations or duties, remembering the extreme obligation, 
which, I submit, I have stated as strongly against myself 
as it is possible to do. 

The next point to which I wish to call attention is this. 
In addition, there is the evidence of the last witness, D.W. 
12, and that sets out ~ore or less fully the point of view 
of those who honestly believed in doing what they did. 
I am not saying that the Court is not called upon to exa­
mine the matter in its own light. At the same time, the 
Court has got to see not so much what anty individual 
member might have done as that whether you believe what 
they said before this Court and that was their object. 

This witness said: "My reasons for joining the I.N.A. 
were many. I admit that it was a difficult question to 
decide whether I should join the I.N.A. or not, because 
there were many factors which I had to consider. It was 
a momentous decision. Uptil that t~e I was not greatly 
interested in politics or the political welfare of India be­
cause I was educated that way, and moreover when I 
joined the Indian Army in 1936 I felt that politics was not 
encouraged in the Indian Army and hence I stayed away, 
but when the question of I.N.A. arose and we had to decide 
whether we should join it or not, I had to think deep, but 
it was such a big question that I could not make a deci· 
sian myself." 

80 



The reason why I am reading to the Court is this. He 
was a witness ot; truth and the very fact that theY had a 
conflict in their minds is illustrative of the extreme bona 
fides of the men who chose to take the course which they 
did. Hence it is that I shall read a few more lines of that 
evidence: "I remember sometime in the beginning of JulY 
1942, when we were being asked whether we were going to 
volunteer for the I.N.A. or not, I was staying at Mo~t 
Pleasant, Singapore, where Capt. Mohan Singh bad !US 

headquarters. I know Capt. Sehgal for the last 12 or 13 
years; we were in College together and we were friends 
there .. I felt that if I had a discussion with him along 
with a few other officers, we may come to some decision 
regarding volunteering for the I.N.A. So in the beginning 
of July, he and two or three other officers came to mY 
bungalow at Mount Pleasant and we went through this 
question of joining the I.N.A. We discussed all the 
pros and cons. We unanimously decided that under the 
circumstances we all owed our allegiance to our country. 

"We also felt and agreed upon that so far concerning 
our career in •the Indian Army, there had been distinc­
tions between the British officers and the Indian com­
missioned officers. The Indian commissioned officers had 
not been treated as well as our English comrades or bro­
ther officers. We also felt that if the senior officers pre­
sent in Singapore or in Malaya did not join the I.N.A., it 
was qui.'te possible that the Japanese would exploit the 
Indian prisoners of war, because then the Indian prisoners 
of war would be split up into small groups. Some people 
would join and some would not, and the Japanese would 
take advantage of! that and enrol people from amongst the 
prisoners of war who w.ould be willing to do any service 
for them. We felt that that would be a disgrace to In­
dians. We agreed that if the senior officers joined the 
I.N.A. and formed a strong party and organised the I.N.A. 
as a regular army and fought the Japanese on every point 
regarding the army, we would have a far stronger posi­
tion wi.oth the J"fl.paJlese than otherwi~e. We a,lso felt that 
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1f we created an army of our own, \ve may be able to 
establish a certain amount of standing with the Japane~e. 
and by doing that we may be able to stop the Japanese 
from committing any atrocitijs on the Indians in Malaya. 
we had seen what the Japanese were doing to the Chinese 
and Anglo-Indians and the Malayans. They were not 
treating them very well. Certain atrocities had "been com- . 
mitted on the Chinese and also on the Eurasian commu­
n!ty, and we thought that if the Indians refused to join 
the I.N.A. it was quite possible. that the whole of the 
Indian. community in Singapore or in Malaya m1ght suffer. 
So we had a discussion on all these points. But then arose 
the question that if we did join the Indian National Army, 
what would be the reaction of our people in India?" 

My suggestion to the Court is this that, apart from 
the process, the thought which the last witness brought 
to bear upon it and the discussions which he had with 
other people, clearly show that they did not talte the steps 
either dishonestly or hastily. They took this step after 
taking into account the whole of the situation in exist­
ence a•t that time, and the future as they saw it. 

And if that is the condition in which they did it, I ask 
the Court to hold that they honestly believed in the pro­
priety of the step they took and the justice of the cause 
for which they took it. And hence it is that I wish to 
point out to the court that it was not a case, J:l.S the text­
books say, of a prisoner of war joining the enem~: in order 
to fight his battle. That, I quite agree, according to the 
teX:t-books he may not do. But where a prisoner of war 
already released, as I have told you earlier, finds himself 
in the situation in which he did and then fights for him­
self and for his own country, being prepar:ed to fight 
against the Japanese themselves if they ever became un­
true to them, in such circumstances, I submit, there was 
no question and there could be no question of the Indian /, 
National Army being guilty and of those who joined that 
army being guilty of any act which may be regarded as 
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contrary even to what you may call the code of duties im­
posed upon a prisoner of war. I have already submitted 
and at the risk of repetition I will say, that it is entirely 
irrelevant and there is no such thing as a charge against 
these men bef-ore you of a breach of duty as prisoners of 
war. In fact there is no such charge in the Indian Penal 
Code, so far as I can see. There may be a charge under the 
Indian Army Act but no such charge is at present before 
you. There is not even a charge of desertion and indeed 
there cannot be, for when the prisoners of war were sur­
rendered there was no occasion for desertion. So let us 
not be carried away by what you may call the popular lan­
guage of desertion, breach of duty and all the rest of it. 
Let us concentrate, and I ask the Court so to do, on the 
charge on which the accused are on trial before -the Court, 
and on that only. The rest is a matter of prejudice; and 
if one has a complete answer even on a matter of pre­
judice, it is a matter of satisfaction. It is a matter which 
I understand-and I appreciate-that tribunals of this kind 
are likely to take account of, namely, that general bona 
fide, honesty and integrity all goes to the credit of indi­
viduals who are on trial as so much in their favour. 

Then, Sirs, there is one piece of evid?nce in so far as 
this particular ma•tter is concerned, a piece of evidence of 
extreme importance, and that is how the first I.N.A. broke 
up. As to how it broke up you have evidenc._e before the 
Court and it is unanimous as to the reasons for which that 
event occurred. Rash-Behari Bose was for many years in 
Japan and he was too easily inclined-to put it most mild­
ly-to believe in the Japanese. Mohan Singh on the other 
hand was very cautious. Mohan Singh in fact has himself 
evinced by his conduct that should anything happen to 
him, that is to say, if he is arrested or removed, the army 
should be dissolved. And the real reason is this, that 
while on the one hand Mohan Singh was anxious that 
there should be an army formed for the liberation of India, 
at the same time he was equally anxious that the army 
should not serve as a mere instrument of Japan. And it 
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is becauce he had his suspicions, is because-of the Reso­
lutions in the Bangkok Conference with regard to mak­
ing clear the aims of the Japanese for the purpose of fight­
ing the war so far as India was concerned,-that Mohan 
Singh began to lose faith in the promises of the Japanese. 
And as soon as the Japanese realised that through the 
agency of Rash Behari Bose-and you have picture~que 

evidence here-Rash Behari Bose came along, collected all 
the senior officers and declared that Mohan Singh had 
been removed. I could not quite appreciate, with all the 
thought that I devoted to it, the point that my learned• 
friend made or attempted to make as to whether he was 
actually removed by Rash Behari Bose or by the Japanese. 
For my own part I do not mind the suggestion that my 
learned friend made that the Japanese arrested him. That 
is precisely the point, that the first I.N.A. was at a stage 
at which there was a trial of strength between those 
Indian Nationals who were members of the I.N.A. and the 
Japanese. Later on when the Japanese realised that the 
Indian National Army and those who were likely or want­
ing to join it were not prepared to become tools in their 
hands, that there was a break, and hence when you come 
to the second I.N.A., when Subhas Chandra Bose took com­
mand of the Indian National Army, the ~:econd time you 
find an association between the two armies,-may be very 
unwilling on the par~ of the Japanese. Very often one 
has to mal!:e a choice when one finds a strong man on the 
otherside; and hence it is that I wish to insist before this 
Court that throughout the dealings between the I.N{A. and 
the head of the Provisional Government of Free India at 
this time, the position taken up by them was not of an 
instrument of the Japanese, but a body formed with the 
object of liberating themselves, no doubt getting all the 
assistance that they could from the Japanese as an allied 
army. .And that, I submit, is the key to the bona fide of 
the men, the belief· of every individual man who at all 
events thinkingly-if I may use that expression-joined 
the I.N.A. I da,resay it often happens in the world that 
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once you find a thinking and leading man taking a course, 
other people bona fide believe it to be the true course, 
and join it. Therefore I submit there is ample evidence 

i on record, evidence emanating from wilnesses which in 
ordinary courts and tribunals is the best to be relied upon 
by the defence, evidence from prosecution witnesses, not 
all willingly given, that they fbught their own ground, 
they fought their own cause, and therefore there was no 
question whatsoever of their breaking any duties which 
they owed as prisoners of war. But you have to remember 
all the time and again and again that there is no such 
charge in the trial before you. There are only two charges 
before you which I need not repeat. But I want to be 
quite careful because it will be my duty to deal with the 
material, lest it might be suggested that I did not deal 
with it, and I wish to point out its relevancy and its sig­
nificance to the extent to which these points bear on the 
conduct of the men on trial beflore you. I have no desire 
to shirk an inquiry; in fact I am here as far as I can­
apart from any questions of private opinions on political 
issues-to impress upon you the truth, integrity and sin­
cerity of men, which after all is a bigger asset sometimes 
than the legal technical isSl.ie. There is also the evidence 
of Lt.-Col. Loganadhan, D.W.7 with reference to the ques­
tion; and I am obliged to refer to it particularly because 
of the pamphlet called "Our Struggle" which was placed 
before you. There is just one point which I must make 
before I read the evidence, that all that is proved is that 
the pamphlet was issued. But I hope and trust that my 
learned friend will not suggest that the mere fact that a 
Pamphlet is issued, that by itself proves the truth of the 
~tatements made therein. Let me therefore begin by say­
ing that I am not obliged to explain why Rash Behari 
Bose said what he did. It will be an error on the part of 
the Court to say that because Rash Behari Bose said some­
thing about Mohan Singh, therefore it is true. At the 
same time I wish to call attention to this evidence with a 
view to pointing out the terms on which Mohan Singh 
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and Rash Behari Bose stood, with a view to point out that 
any allegations emanating from the disappointed Rash 
aehari Bose at that time are not to be taken as words of 
truth. Secondly, in any case an allegation made by A 
against B, neither of whom has appeared in Court as a 
witness is proof of the allegation made by him. 

With this observation I now call attention to the 
evidence of D.W. 7 (Lt.-Col. Loganadhan). 

"I know Captain Mohim Singh. When I joined the 
Indian National Army he was G.O.C. The relations bet­
ween Captain Mohan Singh and Rash Behari Bose were 
not very happy. Of my own personal knowledge I know 
that Rash Behari Bose, having lived so long with the Ja­
panese, was inclined to be guided and controlled by them. 
Whereas Mohan Singh said he felt that the Japanese 
should be dealt with a firmer hand than what Rash Behari 
would be able to do." 

I then come to D.W. 12 (Captain Arshad). The passage 
to which I call attention is this:-

"! was in the first Indian National Army Headquar­
ters, then as General Staff Officer in G. Branch. The first 
I.N.A. was dissolved in December 1942. · The I.N.A. had 
been raised after the Bangkok resolutions were forwarded 
for ratification to the Japanese Government. The Bang­
kok resolutions were the result of a Conference held in 
Bangkok in June. There were many resolutions in that 
and they were passed by the Conference and then sent to 
the Japanese Government for ratification, and we hoped . 
that the ratification would come quickly; but as the days 
went by Captain Mohan Singh, who was then G.O.C. of 
the Indian National Army, felt that the Japanese were 
delaying the ratification of the Bangkok resolutions and 
he asked the Japanese liaison body which was attached .to 
us called the Iwakuru Kikan to expedite the ratification 
of' the resolutions. They were not very clear in their re­
plies. They tried to delay them as much as possible. I 
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was present. Captain Mohan Singh kept his headquarters 
informed of' all the correspondence and the arguments 
which he wal? having with the Japanese. Captain Mohan 
Singh told us his doubts of the intentions of the Japanese. 
He said that he noticed that the Japanese were not play­
ing the game, and he said that if the Japanese continued 
with that attitude of theirs he would dissolve the Indian 
National Army, and we all agreed with him because we 
felt that unless and until there was a clear understanding ' 
between the I.N.A. and the Japanese we would not con-
tinue the Indian National Army. Besides that, there wa.s 
another main point of dissension between the Japanese 
and Captain Mohm'i. Singh. At the Farrer Park meeting, 
the Japan.ese had handed over all the Indian prisoners of 
war to Captain Mohan Singh. Until that time th~ mem-
bers of the I.N.A. as well as those prisoners of 
war who had not joined the I.N.A. were under the com-
mand of Captain Mohan Singh. But in December the 
Japanese wal').ted to take those people away from Captain 
Mohan Singh who had not joined the I.N.A. Captain 
Mohan Singh felt that the Japanese were not keeping to 
their word and he refused to part with the prisoners of 
war. These main reasons as well as the other minor rea-
sons forced us to dissolve the I.N.A." 

And, Sir, the Bangkok Resolution No. 13 which is re-
fen·ed to, reads thus: ·. 

"(13) Resolved that the Indian National Army shall 
be made use of only 
(a) For operations against the British or other 

Foreign powers in India. 
(b) For the purpose of securing and safeguarding In­

dian National Independence, and 
(c) For such. other purpose as may assist the achieve­

ment of the object, viz. Indian Independence." 

Lt. Nag (P.W.1) refers to the same subject in these 
terms. 
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''Capt. Mohan Singh left written instructions that 
if he was arrested, the I.N.A. should be dissolved. 'In 
the event of my arrest the I.N.A. will be dissolved and 
all the I.N.A. badges of rank and records will be des- ~­
troyed.' There was a general feeling from the begin­
ning that the I.N.A. should not be subordinated to the 
Japanese and that we would not allow it to be sub­
ordinated to the Japanese. There was no question of 
dissolving it at any time during those days. The pre­
dominant motive was to free India for the sake of 
Indians. 

"After the 2nd I.N.A. was formed the same feeling 
was there, until Subhas Chandra Bose arrived in July 
1943. After that everybody thought that the¥ had got 
a leader who could guide them on proper lines without 
being subordinated to the Japanese. Thereafter the 
two armies fought as Allies, i.e., the Indian National 
Army and the Japanese.'' 

This, Sir, is the evidence which has been placed before 
this· Court. As I said, my submission before the Court is 
that it was when the I.N.A. which was formed on the sec­
ond occasion, felt confident that they would not be subordi­
~ated to the Japanese that they really fought as Allies. 
And hence it is that I submit to the Court that in so far as 
relations between the I.N.A. and the Japanese Army were 
concerned, it has been established by evidence that they 
were of the character which I claim tlor them, namely as 
allies. So far as the I.N.A. was concerned it was actuated 
by only one motive and one business, and that was to se­
cure the freedom of India. That is the issue, which as I 
have said, does not actually arise, but which was bearing 
on the integrity of purpose of those who are on trial as 
members of the Indian National Army. 

Then the next point to which I wish to call attention 
is the evidence before the court that the Indian National 
Army was completely officered by Indian officers. True, an 
attempt was made by my learned friend in cross-examina-
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tion as to the question of the .High Command. i do not 
deny for a moment, though I do not understand or 
profess to understand very much the' organisation of armies 
when they fight together for apparently the same purpose 
in any case but knowing what you do about the last but 
one war and the last war, when any question arises of 
unified command it serves very little purpose to suggest that 
in so far as the higher strategy is concerned, it was no 
doubt in the hands of the Japanese. No i(loubt probably 
they claimed at all events that they understood the art of 
war better, and that after all the Indian National Army 
consisted of men of not that standing. But apart f.rom 
accepting better judgment on what should be the proper 
strategy, when it came to a question of internal administra­
tion of the I.N.A., it has been amply proved before the 
Court that the I.N.A. was entirely independent in its com­
position, including every officer. The evidence of Lt. 
Nag is in these terms: 

"The whole of the Indian National Army was train­
ed by Indian Officers and not by the Japanese. It was 
entirely and throughout officered by Indian Officers 
and not by Japanese officers. 

The colours of the Indian National Army were the 
Indian National Congress colours i.e., saffron, white and 
green. Their badges were distinct from the Japanese 
badges." 

And then he answered other questions which are immate­
rial namely that among the colours in the middle of one 
of the badges there was a brown star and it was resented .. 
by the personnel of the I.N.A. as it might be mistaken for 
the rising sun. 

P. W. 19 gave the following evidence: 

"So far as I am concerned, I took instructions from 
our own Indian officers only and not from the Japa­
nese. As far as I am aware, there were no Japanese in 
command in our area or otherwise in the I.N.A. I was 
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Assistant to Lt. Abdur Rehman who was left in charge 
of the rations at Falam. There was a long carry of 
48 miles fur rations The rations consisted of rice, salt, 
oil and sugar. Sugar was very scarce. The rations were 
very short consisting of rice, salt and a little oil. The 
Indian National Army was fighting under great hard­
ship on that front. Whilst I was in the I.N.A., I car­
ried out my duties faithfully." 

The next point which I wish to make is that apart from 
what you may call the general higher strategy, the Indian 
National Army was completely independent. And though 
I am not anticipating a point which it wlll be my duty to 
argue, namely whether or not the question arose that peo­
ple joined the I.N.A. because they might be wrose off as pri­
soners of war, the less said about it the better. The evi­
dence clea.rly shows that the only ration that the I.N.A. 
had, apart from sugar and oil which was nominal, was 
rice, and that was the luxury which attracted men to the 
I.N.A. My learned friend will consider twice over before 
trying any such argument. The question really is that one 
set of men believed in a cause and the other set or men 
either from suppineness or otherwise did not, and nobody 
ever gave thought to the question as to whether one would 
be better off or not. One thing is quite certain: that apart 
from what actually happened by the conduct of the Japa­
nese, those who joined the I.N.A. were certainly facing the 
possibilities which every soldier has to face unless he wishes 
to avoid it, which prisoners of war could, namely fighting 
with the opponent army. And, therefore, my submission 
to the Court ·is that this idea of contrasting the comforts 
of the I.N.A. and the comforts of the prisoners of war under 
the Japanese, is entirely overdone. It is entirely a quetsion 
as to what points of view appealed to one or the other sets 
of men, and therefore, Sir, my submission is that in so far 
as that is concerned, we have now been able to place· before 
the Court the actual evidence on the question. 

The next point is that the I.N.A. was a purely volun­
tary army and notwithstanding the attempt made, the Pro-
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secution entirely failed to prove that it was not voluntary, 
because from time to time it has been proved before this 
Court by the speeches made by the accused and Sri Subhas 

-~ Chandra Bose, which indicate that at every stage oppor-
tunity was given to every member of the I.N.A. to withdraw 
if he chose to do so. But the strongest evidence is this: It 
is common ground, apart ftrom actual principles which have 
not been accurately proved, that only a portion of the vol­
unteers could be armed, equipped and trained, because of 
the paucity of material, and that there was a large num­
ber of people who could_ not be trained and could not be 
armed for want of resources,-what is called the surplus 
volunteers. But I put it to you, Sir, as men of commonsense 
that it would require very much effort on the part of my 
learned friend to say that when they had more than 
enough men already, that they coerced more people to join 
the I.N.A. Or, in the language of Lord Shaw, I think it is 
a statement that stultifies itse~ because it is stated that 
'we have enough men and we cannot arm them,' and yet it 
is alleged that you go on coercing people to join. I think 
it is a folly of which no decent human being would be guilty 
if he had a grain of commonsense. What ha$ actually hap­
pened is that people have been punished for crimes of their 
own, and in order to appear glorious before this Court 
they attributed it to pressure by the· I.N.A. It Is a ver' 
clever half-truth, which is not uncommon. Y 

You get a fact which occurred. Then in order to app · 
. 1 t ear virtuous he would say that he was pums led o be coerc d 

to join the I.N.A. A more ludicrous story could not· h e 
. ave 

been presented to the Court, because m one case the \V't 
ness admitted the reason why that took place. They \V 1 -

sent to the detention camp. Having been sent there t~re 
were asked to surrender their ring-leaders. When th~y ~Y 
not, ten people came and there was a free fight-.300 0 dld 
side and 10 on the other. And f!or the ~overnll_lent t~ one 
forward this sort o~ half-baked . story m ord~r that PUt 
Court may swallow 1t passes ones understandmg, . the 



This is Lt. Nag: "I heard Subhas Chandra Bose state 
at a meeting held soon after the meeting of the 21st October 
1943 that anyone who wished to leave the I.N.A. was _per­
mitted so to do." 

P.W. 5: "PriOL" to my arrival a.t Port Dixon in Kuala 
Lumpur-at that time I was in the custody of .the 
Japanese-the bad conditions were due to the Japan­
ese. In January-February 1943 I saw Capt. Shah Nawaz 
for the first time when he came to collect volunteers. 
I .am quite clear that Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan left it 
open to everybody to join the I.N .A. or not as they 
choose. I remember that he wanted staunch men who 
were prepared to lay down their lives for the freedom 
of India. I never saw Capt. Shah Nawa.z after that 
·lecture." 

P.W. 24: "I reached Popa on the 25th or 26th Feb­
ruary Col. Sehgal said at Popa tha.t those who did not 
wish to stay in the I.N.A. and wished to go over to the 
enemy should tell him today. He will then make ar­
rangements to send them in one party to the enemy, 
but they will not be permitted to take any arms or 
papers with them .. 'I do not want that men shoUld 
desert in driblets.' As far as I understand it was 
Sehgal's intention that after the party went over men 
should not go over in driblets and so cause demorali­
sation." 

D. W. 6: "The recruitment was absolutely volun­
tary. We had surplus volunteers whom we could not 
train or arm." 

D. W. 7: "The Indian National Army was purely 
voluntary. As far as I am aware no coercive methods 
were used in recruiting. I am aware as a member of 
the Provisional Government that we declared war on 
Britain and America.'' 
Then, Sir, there is one more statement referring to 

Capt. Dhillon, to which I wish to call attention. My sub­
mission to the Court is that in so tar as the accused before 
the Court are concerned, they by their open speeches gave 
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everybody to undertsand that it- was entirely their own 
choice whether to join the I.N.A. or not. 

That brings me next to the evidence about the alleged 
coercion for the pw·pose of compelling men or inducing 
men to join the I.N.A. The position, Sir, is this with refer­
ence to that. At the time when the question arose as to 
the admissibility of the evidence, it was candidly, stated by 
the Advocate-General that he did not rely on Section 10 
but the way in which it is sought to make it relevant is 
this. He said that the accused did not participa-te in it, did 
not do it, did not encourage it. But that they knew about 
it. 

The matter did not rest there. When they asked other 
people to join the I.N.A., they gave a veiled threat; "Re­
member if you do not join, what hardships exist." And the 
matter was further strained before this Court by saying­
meaning thereby among other things-that there would be 
personal coercion. It was on that statement that this hon­
ourable Court was pleased to admit the evidence. Tile at­
tempt was made to show that the accused made this veiled 
suggestion. That attempt has completely failed because 
Capt. Dnargalkar who was called to give evidence in sup­
port of this, ~11 through. I shall read that part of his 
evidence to show that he completely collapsed in what he 
came to prove. He came to prove that the three accused, 
or some of them, went with the other officers. He came to 
support what the Advocate General was instructed to put 
forward, namely, that he was given the alleged veiled 
threat. When we came to cross-examine Capt. Dhargal­
kar, he said: "I was never asked by anybody. I was never 
addressed by anybody" and the more significant thing is, 
he ended by saying: "I cannot state to the Court who said 
what to anyone." The net result of his evidence amounts 
to this that the Government having undertaken to this 
Court to prove that the veiled threat was given in that form, 
and that meant evidence possibly relevant in the eyes of 
the court, the evidence was allowed to be given. But in the 
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light of the evidence of Capt. Dhargalkar, there is none in 
which any allegation of a veiled threat exists. I therefore 
ask the Court to hold that evidence as completely irrelevant 
because it was admitted on this provisional promise, namely 
that it would be proved that there was a veiled threat 
given by the accused, because there is no othE:r way in 
which it could be made relevant. There is no charge 
against the accused of any personal cruelty of any kind. 
There was no charge that they encouraged it, and the mere 
fact that they had knowledge would not be anything­
even that, they have failed to prove. When I pointed out 
that mere knowledge was not enough, my learned friend 
added a further point, which I presume induced the Court 
to allow that and that is when they used the words which 
they are alleged to have used-"If you do not join remem­
ber the hardships"-meaning thereby that in as much as 
they knew that wrong methods were being adopted, they 
threatened the men by saying wrong methods would be 
adopted in their case. That I submit is the only process of 
reasoning by which he attempted to make his evidence re­
levant. My learned friend has completely failed to estab­
lish either~the knowledge or alleged threat, and for these 
reasons, Sirs, I submit that this evidence should now be ex­
cluded, and I have prepared a petition so that it may re­
main on record for my submission. 

The learned Judge Advocate told the Court on the 
occasion of~ the question of admission of the evidence: 

The learned Advocate-General really bases his case 
on the speeches. of the accused which he will prove 
showing, as he says that the. accused referred to the, 
hardships which would be inflicted on pri~oners of war 
unless they joined, and thereby implying that they hac} 
}:nowledge of the methods by which he alleges that re­
cruiting for the I.N.A. was being carried on. 

At the same time, now we have arrived at a stage 
when I respectfully ask that the Court should rule that 
that evidence should be entirely disregarded, because there 
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is no proof of the promise on which that evidence was sub­
mitted. That is the formal application I make to the Court. 

' Judge-Advocate: Do you mean that you are asking us to 
make a decision on this now? 

Counsel for Defence: On this point. 

Judge-Advocate: I am afraid it is not at all procedure 
to make piece-meal decisions on parts of the case, without 
hearing the learned Advocate-General and without hearing 
me. That decision will be made in due course but I must 
ask the Court that they should go on now without making 
any piece-meal decision at this present stage. 

Sri Desai: I shall leave it at that. I thought that I would 
save the Court, and perhaps incidentally myself, the neces­
sity of having to go through that evidence, to show how 
utterly useless it is. But that being the view of the Court 
I will not pursue it. ' 

That brings me to the next question. My submission 
is that the basis on which that evidence was admitted has 
completely disappeared; and in as much as it has disap­
peared it should not be taken into consideration in this case 
at all. 

The only reason why I thought it my duty to call the 
attention of the Court at this stage was that You :might 
have to ~o through the evidence and think if it is relevant. 

The first witness, to whose evidence I think it necessa 
to call the attenti~n oft the Court,. is. Ca~t. Dhargalk::. 
This is what Captam Dhargalkar said m hiS examination 
in chief: 

"I do not remember L.t. Dhillon being there, but 
remember Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan and Capt. Seh I 
coming there. I recognize both these omcers as ace gal 
ed before the Court. Neither of the two .accused e Us­
spoke to me, but discussions usually took Place Ver 
nearly all the discussions were concerned With our j~1.nd 

n~ 
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ing the I.N.A. I was present at these discussions .. It 
is very difficult for me to quote the exact words wh~ch 
Capt. Sehgal and Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan s~i?, ut 
the gist of the thing was: 'Why don't you all JOln the 
I.N.A. rather than waste yourself living under these 
conditions?" 

That is really the whole point. Let me examine_ wh~­
ther the promise is fulfilled even in the examinat10n m 
Chief. "If "conditions" merely meant conditions as prison­
ers of war, whether flor the time being under the I.N.A. or 
the Japanese, that is not a matter of charging the accus­
ed. But I. suppose my learned friend will use the word 
"conditions" to mean almost anything, meaning thereby 
that "some people did something to wmebody else and 
that will be your condition." I submit it does not carry 
the matter far enough. 

I would then call attention to the cross-examin~tion 
of this witness. He says:-

!)G 

"! saw all the three accused on several occasions. 
I saw them anything between 20 to 50 times. I only 
spoke to Capt. Sehgal a couple of times; I do not remem­
ber having spoken to Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan or Lt. 
Dhillon. I spoke to Capt. Sehgal in Col. Bhonsle's 
house. I cannot remember any other occasion. I was 
present at fifteen occasions at which discussions took 
place. Capt. Shah Nawaz m~y have been present about 
twice and Capt. Sehgal was present about the same 
number of times. This was in a separation camp at 
Badadari. There was one huge camp at Badadari and 
also a separation camp. I was in the separation camp. 
The whole of the Badadari Camp was the Indian Na­
tional Army camp. We were taken there by Capt. 
Mohan Singh. There were about sixteen of us living in 
the room. I did not take part in the discussion nor 
was I addressed by Capt. Shah Nawaz or Capt. Sehgal. 
That is all that happened during tll~ gi§Gl,l~~ion." 



Then he goes on to say: 

"Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan came there, but I do 
not know whether he came to see Capt. Sher Dil Khan. 
I was not il1.vited to a discussion, I was living in the 
room and I overheard certain conversations. I cannot 
remember the words of these discussions accurately 
but I remember the gist of them. The gist of the con­
versation included many other subjects other than the 
Indian National Army. I was addressed but not by any 
of th~ officers present there. Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan 
was speaking to 16 other people. The gist of his con­
versation was: "Why do you not join the Indian Na­
tional Army?" I remember that occasion to the best 
of my knowledge. It may have been any time in that 
month. I cannot remember all that he said. I cannot 
say exactly what he said." 

<You will see, Sir, a change in the gist. There 
was no question of what consequences would follow.) 

"I cannot remember exactly what he said. I cannot 
single out from the others what Capt. Shah Nawaz 
Khan said. My answer is the csame with regard to 
Capt. Sehgal. What I told the Court is the general im· 
pression without knowing who said what." 

This is the evidence of c·apt. Dhargalkar, and I res­
pectfully and emphatically submit to the Court that 
the promise on which that evidence was admitted remains 
Unfulfilled; I and in aS mUCh aS it remainS Unfulfilled, my 
·SUbmission is that the evidence should be disregarded com­
pletely. 

Now, with that submission and in view of the record, 
it is my duty very briefly to examine the evidence which has 
actually been given, and I will preface the examination 
with this remark. This is a case where in some instances 
what is called a half-truth implies an untruth: e.g, there 
was a detention camp where people wer·e taken if they were 
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guilty of acts of insubordination or any other act contrary 
to the discipline of an army. Having been taken there, 
there was no doubt a certain amount of taskS and fatigues 
they were asked to do. That is perfectly true. but that 
having been done, the man wants to make a martyrdom 
of it. I will tell you why. He says he was taken there and 
he was asked to join the I.N.A. It is all. I submit, embroi­
dery of the case, and I will ask the Court to examine that 
evidence in that light, and in one or two instances I shall 
be able to show that reluctantly he almost admitted the 
case I put to him, that he was sent there because he was 
gUilty of insubordination. People very picturesquely said 
they were asked to pick up one end of a pole and every 
t!me a man followed them or hit them-I think the very 
exaggeration defeated its own purpose. I do not think 
any Court will believe such an absurd story. True, he was 
taken there, and no doubt he had to do a certain amount 
of fatigue. No doubt it may be that a non-commis­
sioned officer thought it was below his dignity to pick up 
things which were necessary. In fact you might If'member 
with what. amount of reluctance the witnesses gave the 
kind of evidence before the Court.-! would recall a pict.ure 
of; one of the witnesses when I told him that this was only 
for the purposes of manure and there was the evidence 
of a garden,-it almost taxed one's patience to be able to 
get out of him that evidence, and get him to admit those 
facts; and even then he kept on saying "Oh, there was a 
road there and in between there was something and if you 
call it a garaen it is wrong and so on." The fact remains 
that. the witness waS'_ taken there for some act of insub­
ordination; he was put to a certain amount of task, but 
then in order to glorifly himself as a martyr, he now comes 
forward before this Court and says "I was taken there be­
cause I did not join the I.N.A." And when I ~ross-examine 
him as to what particular position he held with particular 
distinction, and what distinguished career he had, and he 
ultin1ately collapses and admits he was an ordinary soldier. 
To think therefore 1 that stories of this kind would pass 
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muster before a Court composed of me~ of affairs and ex-
perience, I submit, will not do. 

I call attention first to Wolit Bahadur, P. W. 14. The 
~ kind of picture he gave-this method QJ carrying baskets 

at the end of a pole-I do not suppose "it is any great in­
novation or torture, unknown in India. The way in which 
he described it, and i17 he was not giving evidence before 
men of experience in this country, was almost insulting 
to one's intelligence. After all it is a common method of 
carrying a load on bars with a man at each end; and if 
he objects to carrying a load like that I am very sorry for 
him; but I am afraid he has to labour, and if he has to 
work, he has to work; and the more we learn to do manual 
labour, I think, the better for men of my country. 

And then he said-it was a ridiculous story-he carried 
out the order and picked up the cow dung. There came a 
road. There were six men who stood just for the purpose 
of. giving a stroke as he lifted the load. ThaL 1 submit 
defeats itself. In cross-examination-that is where I wish 
t~ call attention to a few passages-this is what he says: 

"He said that we had now fallen from the English 
into the Japanese hands and we have to carry out 
their orders and do their fatigues. He told us that 
the British had run away and left us there. He said 
that our home was in India and we have to join with 
other Indians to fight for India. He also said that for 
this reason we should join the I.N.A. He also said that 
the I.N.A. was being formed to set India free. He said 
that for this reason we should join the I.N.A. 4bout 
one or two men said that they did not know anything 
about the I.N.A. and they were not going to join it. 
At that time we did not know what this I.N.A. was. 
I know Jamadar Til Bahadur Adhikal'i." 
This is a very important thing. 'llbey are the people 

who are said to have come in this party to attack this 
gentleman and his friends in order that they may be 
coerced to join the I.N.A. It would be fortuna-te if one can 

\ think .a llttle in advance. H~ admitted that ~very single 
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one of them who took part in this raid to induce this 
gentleman and his friends to join the I.N.A. were all men 
respected in their regiment and respected in the parts of 
the country from which they came. If he had only rea­
lised what it involved, he would probably not have admit­
ted it. 

"I came to know that the I.N.A. was being formed. 
I know Jamadar Til Bahadur Adhilmri. Jamadar Pu­
ran Singh Khawas was a man who was respected by 
our unit and so was Jamadar Til Bahadur Adhikari. 
Jamadar Til Bahadur delivered only one lecture at 
which I was present. He a.lso told us about the object 
of the I.N.A. which was the same as Puran Singh had 
told us. When Til Bahadur delivered the lecture there 
were about 600 men present." 
He admitted to me that they were being asked in 

the ordinary 'course to join the I.N.A. asked by people whom 
he admitted to be respectable and the point in asking for 
the admission is this, that those were among the people who 
came armed with a view to attack these innocent men in 
order that they may join the I.N.A. I make a present of 
that kind of story for your acceptance. 

Then, Sir, comes in very common parlance the cat out 
of the bag. "Those who did not join the I.N.A. were re­
quired to do fatigues for the Japanese. Those who joined 
the I.N.A. were not required to do ~tigues for the Japa-
nese." I 

Posecution Counsel: I am afraid my learned friend is 
under a misapprehension. He gave no names. 

Defence Counsel: In his examination in chief he gave 
the names of the people who formed the party of attackers. 
It comes in cross-examination. 

Prosecution Co'unsel: He does not say that these were 
the people who came to assault him. I know my learned 
friend put those names to him. No such questions were 
asked that these were the people who were in the firing 
paxty. · 

Judge Advocate: That certainly was not said, Mr. Desai. 
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Sri Desai: The point of the argument will be perceived, 
name or no name. "Those who did not join the I.N.A. were 
required to do fatigue for the Japanese. There was dis­
pute when we refused to do fatigue duties for the Japanese. 
The leaders whom I have named told us not to object to the 

. fatigue. In spite of their persuasion some of us did not 
obey. We reported that we will do fatigues for the Japa­
nese but we have nothing to do with the I.N.A. The gaurd 
was sent because some of us did not obey". That is the 
point. The point is that it was not because they were to be 
persuaded to join the I.N.A. that the guard was sent. On 
his own admission they did not obey to do the task, they 
were sent on and that destroys the whole or that evidence, 
name or no name. His whole purpose was that these 
people came on their own with a view just to educate them, 
because they would not join the I.N.A. If my learned friend 
will follow the process of cross-examination and the ad­
mission made by Wolit Bahadur I only point out that it 
was upto the witness to say that they were not in the 
firing party., 

Judge Advocate: It is you here who IS m the wrong. 
You have said that these men were in the firing party, 
whereas it was pointed out that they were not. 

Sri Desai: There is the evidence in chief. I took the 
names from the summary of evidence. Because of that 
ruling the names were not allowed to be given. Whether 
the witness proved or failed to prove that the attack took 
place, because they would not join the I.N.A. that is the true 
issue, and remembering that to be the true issue, I beg 
leave to read where I left, and that is this: "There was a 
dispute when we refused to do fatigue duties for the Japa­
nese. The leaders wlrom I have named told us not to object 
to do fatigue. In spite of their persuasion some of us did 
not obey. We reported that we will do fatigues for the 
Japanese but we have nothing to do with the I.N.A. The 
guard was sent (that is the material point) because some 
of us did not obey." You canna~ get out of that. In other 
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words the story that the guard was sent with a view to 
shoot them because they did not join the I.N.A., is entirely 
destroyed by this evidence. "The guard was sent because 
Eome of us did not obey. The guard came to seize the ring­
leaders." That is precisely my point. I said they were all 
guilty of one or other offence against discipUne, and hence 
action was taken against them, and this is the best Hlus- · 
tration. Of course people get warned: after one man has 
been cross-examined you may not get the same type of 
admission. But here you have the clearest possible 
admission, the negation, the complete negation that any 
attack was made on them, because they did not join the 
I. N. A. Of course they always repeat like parrots, when 
it becomes necessary: that is what happens. But occa­
sionally there are lapses. "The guard was sent because 
some of us did not ob~y. The guard came to arrest the 
ring-leaders. We were about 550 men. Some of the men 
had a dispute with the guard. The guard stopped us from 
doing this and then fired in the air." What possible 
course forsooth-it was sent for the purpose of asking them 
to join the I.N.A. and they should have fired in the air! 
The whole point is that these were recalcitrants, a disobe­
dient crowd. They were asked to surrender. As a warn­
ing they fired in the air. They would not obey., Of course 
the trouble took place. "When we did not1 obey the order 

/of the guard, they fired. The guard did not prevent us 
from doing fatigue but they spoke to us about I. N. A. which 
we did not obey." All this rubbish is difficult to under­
stand. "First they fired in the air, and when we did not 
obey ultimately they fired at us. About two or three men 
were injured after the firing. Then we pursued the guard. 
The dispute between the guard and ourselves was that we 
resented the appearance of the gua.rd during the lecture 
time." I do not know what it means. Whatever that 
means, they know better. As I said here, it is a complete 
demolition and the best illustration of how the false is 
mixed up with the true. There is no doubt that there was 
a scu;ffl.e. That is not denied. But they want to annex 
the scume to something else. That is a piece with all the 
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evidence with which I am familiar. You get hold of a 
known fact which is not disputed, and then put it on to 
something else. My submission to the Court is that this 
evidence alone is sufficient to discredit the kind of evidence 
the Government has put forward with a view to show that 
atrocities were inflicted for the purpose of joining the 
I. N. A. As to the tortures, they were of two kinds. Re­
garding one, I have got definitely out of the mouth of the 
witness himself that they objected to the fatigue. They 
were persuaded not to do it. The very leaders whom they 
respected, persuaded them not to object to do fatigue. They 
were again asked to surrender their ring-leaders. These 
people would not. They fired in the air and ultimately 
they fired at them. Three people died and there were 550 of 
them. Such evidence, can my learned friend or any gentle­
man in his very high position ever place before the Court, 
name or no name? 

Prosecution Counsel: I only corrected a statement 
which was not justified by the record. 

Sri Desa.i: I admit that I was in the wrong. I say the 
point of the argument is really this that the witness who 
came to swear false to the fact that the party was sent 
armed with a view to fire at them in ord\')r ot compel them 
to join the I. N. A. here stands on his own evidence self­
condemned. He admits that the purpose was different. 
The occasion was differeqt, and that disobedience was the 
only cause. My case is that the cases which they have 
selected are cases of a similar kind where people undoubted­
ly were dealt with for breach of discipline, but which they 
now attribute to a false cause, namely, their refusal to join 
th• I. N. A. The next is the case of Muhammad Hayat. 
Tlm.t is the case in which we said that because they killed 
some cows, a quarrel arose and hence a scuffle. It is true 
a scuffle took place .. The question is-was it with a view 
to compel them to join the I. N. A. That is where I say 
they get hold of an admitted event, or a more or less ad­
mitted event, and annex it to a false cause. He said: 
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"The Camp Commandant was Captain M. Z. Kyani, 
who was succeeded by Col. Shah Nawaz Khan. I heard 
Col. Shah Nawaz Khan lecturing to the camp. I was 
not present at the lecture he delivered in the camp, 
but I was present at the lecture he delivered in the 
mosque. He said that Sikhs and Hindus have already 
volunteered, and that the Mussulmans should also join. 
He said: 'Muslims must join the I. N. A. because when 
the Hindus and Sikhs go, they will trouble you in your 
homes in India." He did not threaten us with force 
but he said that we ought to join the I. N. A. He did 
not say that he only· wanted sincere men. He said 'I 
will not give any sort of trouble to you, but you should 
volunteer. I want true volunteers'. After 'Dua Khair,' 
we said that we will not join the I. N. A. We mr::ant 
by that that none of us who were present there had a 
right to join the I. N. A. There was no charge against 
the men of my unit of having committed theft c.f seven 
cows belonging to civilians, and of having slaughtered 
and eaten them. I deny that. That charge is a lie 
and that the cows were eaten is also a lie. I am shown 
my additional statement in the summary of evidence. 
I admit that I said in the summary of evidence that 
Major Aziz Ahmad told us that we were to go to the 
concentration camp because we had killed a cow." 

That was at the time they were sent. Remember what 
was the contemporaneous statement made. I want you to 
remember that. The Court would have no doubt that 
that was the real cause of the dispute, and that joining the 
I. N. A. or not joining the I. N. A. was not the cause. 
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"No skins or bones were found, and no investiga­
tion was made. I never volunteered for the I. N. A. 
The Badadari camp was a mixed camp of volunteers 
and non-volunteers in July 1942. Neesoon camp was 
also a mixed camp .... There was no difference in 
rations for the volunteers and non-volunteers. In July 
1942 there was no separate treatment for volunteers in 
the Badadari camp. I was carrying on anti-!. N. A. 



propaganda. There was no charge against me of kill­
ing or stealing a cow when I was removed from the 
Badadari camp to the concentration camp. Aziz Ah­
mad never told us that we were being sent to the con­
centration camp because we had killed a cow. I am 
again shown my statement in the summary of evi­
dence. I signed my statement. It was read over to 
me. I made this statement about Major Aziz Ahmad 
having told us that we were all to go to the concentra­
tion camp because we had killed a cow." 

In other words, at the time when he was taken, it was 
proved from his own mouth that he was definitely told that 
the reason for his being sent was the killing of the cow. 

"On the day I went to the concentration camp 
there were approximately 60 or 70 men there ...... I 
said that after two or three da.ys men of my unit were 
sent away from the concentration camp. I and 11 
other men were kept there. After our people went 
.away, there were approximately 60 or 70 people left. 
They were all non-volunteers. I am talking of the 
month of July 1942." 

I 

Then comes the most tell-tale thing which any man 
of common-sense will understand: 

"I was released from the concentration camp after 
21 days because I had become very weak." 

The whole point is this. Any man reading between 
the lines will be able to see that these people were taken 
to the concentration camp because they were charged with 
havin·g stolen and killed a cow. He himself admits that it 
was a charge made at the time. Major Azlz Ahmad said 
'you have to go. to the camp, because this is the charge 
against you.' After investigation, he was released after 21 
days. Is that the real story, or what he now says is the 
real story? It does not, show that they were oppressed or 
coerced to join the I. N! A. 
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There is one ordinary canon of reasoning and common 
sense. Is the Court to accept the story he said at that 
time or is to accept the story told now? I submit that at 
that time nobody imagined that anybody was going to 
make anything out o"f this incident for the trial against 
some people in future.- The question is, which of the two 
stories is likely to be true, and I respectfully submit to the 
Court that there can be only one conclusion. The story he 
told then is the true story, and not the story he tells now. 
That is my submission with respect to this witness. 

The next witness I take is Ahmad Nawaz, P. W. 10. 
Every man has to undergo some sort of punishment for an 
offence. This witness is taking the story as it occurred, and 
adding to it so a~ to make out that what was done to him 
was a punish~nt to induce him to join the I. N. A. The 
only grievance -of this gentleman is that ?e was Dsked to 
carry cow-dung. It was not after all such a serious pun­
ishment as he tried to make out. When I asked him 
whether he was asked to mix cow-dung with ~oda-ash, he 
said that in his part of the country they did not do so. 
The time has not yet .come in this country for the 1..1se of 
every kind of mineral manure, of any other kind of manure 
except cow-dung. I asked him whether it was not intend­
ed to be used for the purpose of manuring the garden, and 
it took a very long time before we could get anything at 
all form this witness. The demeanour of this witness, and 
his behaviour to the Court sta.nds condemned. 
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· I am now reading part of the cross-examination: 

"I do not know what the cow dung was tal~en for. 
I only know we were made to take it as a punishment. 
We stacked the cow-dung near a road in the camp and 
on both sides of the road was the garden. We were 
never told to powder the cow-dung for manure. It is 
correct that I said that we mixed ash with the cow­
dung but I do not know for what purpose it was used. 
I only did it as a punishment." 



To this man everything is a punishment. When this 
gentleman was .asked to mix some soda-ash with cow-dung 
for manure, he thinlts it is by way of punishment. He is 
indignant when he is asked to do something and thinks 
he was asked to do it as a punishment. He says: 

' "As a farmer, in our own home. we only use cow-
dung as manure and we do not mix ash with it. Only 
for three hours on the first day I did this work of 
carrying cow-dung and stacking it near the garden. 
It was stacked at a distance-of about 10 or 12 yards 
from. the garden. For the remaining five days we 
were digging and levelling earth and preparing gar­
den plots." 

When you come to analyse the facts, the indignity this 
witness comes to nothing. He was asked to do the ordin­
ary work of preparing garden beds for the vegetable gar­
den and mixing some manures. So far as the morning is 
concerned, it only lasted three hours of his life time. If 
this is what is called austerity, I submit to the Court it 
is a ridiculous type of austerity. A man is asked to make 
beds in a garden and prepare some manure, ~nd he ima­
gines it to be a punishment. He may think so: but it is 
for the Court to say whether it is so. Does the Court be­
lieve that it was an ordinary piece of work, or it was an 
oppression, coercive methods, and I do not ' know what 
other language is used to describe it. Is it a torture to 
prepare beds and to prepare manure? I submit with great 
respect it is a ridiculous kind of evidence which is put for­
ward as an item of torture, and for what purpose?--for 
the purpose of making this gentleman join the I. N .. A.! 
Does this stand to reason and common sense? I submit 
with great respect, that in spite of the picturesque language 
used, the Court will not accept the version of the witness. 
It is a ridiculous thing. He was asked to do ordinary fati­
gue. This is legitimate work which ought to have been 
done willingly and it is ridiculous to suggest that this was 
a kind of torture used to induce or coerce the witness to 
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join the I. N. A. That, Sirs, is the evidence of Ahmad 
Nawaz. 

Then, take the next witness, Havildar Muhammad 
sa.rwar. He said, "Everybody refused to join the I. N. A. 
The Jamadar and Subedar were armed with pistols and 
they took them out and started firing on us, and ordered 
the guard also to fire on us. The guard consisted of appro­
ximately 14 men. They started firing. Two of us were 
killed ........ Everybody said Allah-o-Akbar." Now, I will 
read from the cross-examination of this gentleman. He 
said: "I was for three weeks in No. 4 hospital. It was a 
very big hospital. There were patients of all kinds there. 
I was taken to the hospital. I do not !mow who took me, 
because I was unconscious ...... There was an officer to 
whom I said that I was willing to join the I.N.A. The 
'only force that made me join the I. N. A. was that I want­
ed to escape this bad treatment and bad food. When I 
joined the I. N. A., I came to know that they were trying to 
free India." And this is the gentleman who says that 
there was a regular firing in order to make him join the 
I. N. A. He goes on: "I knew I was expected to go and 
fight. I knew it was .a question of life and death. 1 
thought th.at death was better than these troubles: I had 
no faith that they would set India free. I had every faith 
that if I went to the front, I might be able to go to the 
other side, because we had so many hardships otherwise. 
At the place where we were first, there were numerous 
other people besides the 3{}0. I do not know the Camp 
Comma.nder's name. The Unit Commander was Lt. Pur­
shotam Das. That was the Japanese Prisoners of War 
Camp. We were split up into parties for the purpose of 
fatigues. On the day prior to the firing accident, we were 
not divided into parties of 323 for fatigue purposes. We 
were not asked to form .a. party of 323 men. We were not 
given an order. I do not know anything about being ask­
ed to surrender our leaders. I never heard of it. It is not 
true that Lt. PUrshotam Das advised us not to resist. In 
the party which came to the Camp there was one Muham-
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medan Jamadar. He was second-in-command of the guard. 
There was a scuffle between the men of my unit· and the 
guard after the firing had taken place. Only one man of 
the guard was killed. The guard consisted of about 300. 
The name of the guard who was killed was Sarda1~ Singh, 
who belonged to the Kapurthala Regiment." That will 
show who attacked first. I leave it to you, Gentlemen, to 
judge who was the attacker and who was the attacked. 
And remember this that they were in a party of a few 
hundred, whereas the gua.rd consisted, as he puts it, of 30{) 
men. "Because we refused to join the I. N. A., they start­
ed firing." That is the picture which. we are asked to 
accept. I submit with very great respect that the story 
is a most incredible story. There was no conversation and 
they at once started firing! ' 

Now, Sirs, that is the story which is presented to you 
for acceptance, and I ask the Court not to accept it because 
it is a ridiculous story. What is the idea of firing at the 
men whom they ask to join the I. N. A.? What cto you 
gain by it? You gain this 'kind of soldiers with a view to 
fight! My submission to the Court is that there was this 
scuffle which he reluctantly admits, and evidently they 
were the first attaclters. But they have employed a little 
story by means of which they say that there wus- firing on 
them. If the Counsel thinks that he can walk away with 
this story, I submit he is mistaken. But wl:_len you come to 
torture, I ask, is it supposed to be· a torture·~ It was an 
ordinary fatigue duty. In this connection, I would like to 
call the a.ttention of the Court to the Geneva Conventions, 
Articles 27 to 34, with reference to the work of the pri­
soners of war on page 298. I am talking of 1929. 

"They should be kept according to their rank and 
if they are physically fit they may be employed by 
private individuals, but the captors must assume entire 
responsibility for their maintena.nce." 

Prosecution Counsel: I am afra.id I must interrupt. 
The evidence is not as my learned ·friend reads it. The 
evidence is not that the guard was killed first. 
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Sri Desai: What he said was: "The name of the 
guard who was killed was Sardar Singh. There was no 
other member of the guard who died before Sardar 
Singh was killed." I had not the least doubt about it. 

The point that I submit to the Court is thic;. The wit­
nesses fall into three types of classes. The first category 
belongs to the cow-killing incident. The second that the 
incident was with reference to refusal to do fatigues. The 
third relates to the incident of refusing to form parties 
for fatigues as required by the Japanese, whose prisoners 
they were. As a. result of these three incidents, certain 
accidents occurred. I submit to the Court that the Gov­
ernment had definitely failed to prove any torture for the 
purpose of joining the I. N. A. Each of these accidents is 
attributable-in two cases almost-to an admitted fact. 
In one case it is due to the form which the attack took. 
With reference to the other witnesses, the less said the 
better. All that they have said was that they ·were asked 
to do certain duties which they thought was an indignity, 
which they were asked to do, which, I submit, is ordinary 
decent labour. I know many men of higher rank who do 
gardening as a matter of honourable occupation, and as 
a change of occupa.tion from ordinary work. What these 
gentlemen were really asked to do was gardening, and they 
seriously come here and say what an indignity it was to 
ask .a soldier to do gardening. And that is why he re­
fused to join the I. N. A. The Counsel has entirely failed 
to prove what .he set out to prove, and I f71 the court 
should hold if it were necessary-according to my submis­
sion it is not necessary at all-that it has not been proved, 
apart from what is read or stated or alleged, beyond any 
reasonable doubt, that any torture w.as inflicted in order to 
join the I. N. A. That, Sir, is my submission on that count. 

That is all that I wish to say about the evidence on 
the subject of atrocities alleged to have been committed 
on these men to join the I. N. A. With reference to the 
point that I mentioned in the morning as regards cases 
which might possibly be relied on, I will give you a list 
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of the three cases which may be relied upon and give you 
my remarks on them. Before that I, wish to make a sub- · 
mission. I will make a request at a· later stage but J wish 

;·~ to mention to the Court in so far as any new authority is 
cited by my learned friend I do not want a general right 
of reply but I will ask the Court in the end tha.t on any 
new law that may be cited I may be allowed to give a reply 
because I could have no opportunity even by anticipation 
of doing it. I will make that request more formally to­
wards the end. The three cases which may be relied upon 
are Regina vs. Lynch (1903) 1 King's Bench, Regins vs. 
Jaegrae (1907) Appeal Cases p. 346 and Regina vs. Case­
ment {1917) 1 King's Bench. I do not wish to address you 
as if you were a high court, and therefore wh::tt I will do 
is this. There are two points which distinguish these 
cases which I will briefly state. They are case.s of a.n in-

•. dividual being charged w1der the English law for an act 
of treason; they were not cases of men who were members 
of an organised army and of an organised' Government. 
The second distinguishing ground is that in these cases 
there was no question of what I have submitted shortly 
as double allegiance. Therefore my submission will be 
that if these cases are relied upon this is the answer that 
I have got with reference to them. I will now go on with 
the regular trend of my argument. 

The next point which I have to deal with before the 
Court is the evidence relating to the charges of murder, 
but I will take them all together without attempting to 
distinguish them. But I distinguish them under two heads: 
One is with reference to the four persons alleged to have 
been shot on one · occasion and Muhammad Husain, the 
person shot on the second occasion. I will :first briefly 
state the case as I desire to present to the Court, and then 
deal with the evidence. It is a matter in which with due 
submission I probably will call attention in some greater 
detail to the evidence of three or four witnesses. As to 
the others, I will only make a submission as to what they 
said. 
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The position with reference to that is this. As regards 
the four persons there is a crime report and therefore up 
to the point of punishment there is evidence before .the 
Court, As regards Muhammad Husain there is no crune 
report. In fact as regards Muhammad Husain there is . no 
document whatever relating either to the sentence be:mg 
passed or the sentence being carried out. Further, there 
is not even a casualty record in either case that I find on 
the record. As to Muhammad Husain the only answer 
given by one of the witnesses as to why a casualty report 
was not made was that they were moving from popa that 
day, and then when r further cross-examined him-which 
you will find in the cross-~xamination when I come to it­
he has given no adequate explanation for the absence of 
the casualty report. There is this further evidence-! am 
only anticipating it-that in the case of Muhammad Hu­
sain there are three persons who are alleged to have shot, 
-Jagiri Ram and two others, whom Jagiri Ram himself 
did not know. I do not wish to enter into details at this 
moment except when r read it, but I wish to point out the, 
salient features. It is said in the evidence that Muham­
mad Husain had three shots on his heart or near there­
about. It is further said in the evidence-he said this­
that there was a tear in the shirt; and further in answer 
to the court, which is a 'most material point, he said there 
w~s no blood of any kind· or sort. That is the state · of 
evidence with reference to Muhammad Husain. 

. And now I will deal with the two sets of cases. There 
IS one other ruling which I should have mentioned and 
th~t is that there is in evidence before the Court that Lt. 
Dhillon who is said to have signed .and watched the sen­
tence carried out was in a state of complet~ collapse of 
h~~lth and on tliat the document before the Court is Ex­
hJbit VVV. And the date of that document is 6th March 
1945• the date on which it is alleged this execution was 
carried out. 1 am rea.ding the relevant part of that docu-
ment Which is at the bottom. . 
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"Jai Hind-I think 1nost of your queries have been 
answered in this order. Others I will answer when 
I come tomorrow. I ought to have come today but 
last night I went to check certain defences and on my 
arrival back I felt very weak, so weak that I have never 
felt before throughout my life. Major Shankar gave 
me an injection today t.hough for a complete course I 
must get 12 here when ther'e are none available. I 
will get one tomorrow." 

My case is that so far as carrying out the sentence­
on the four persons is concerned, though in fact the order 
was passed, it was never carried out. Not only that, but 
I will be able to point out from the evidence on record that 
there are many other similar instances, sworn to and ad­
mitted by the witnesses for the Prosecution. That is in 
outline why I submit that the case in so far as the execu­
tion of the sentence is concerned, is not proved. I may 
go a little further and state to the Court that there is n() 
presumption that because sentences were passed they were: 
therefore carried out. The charge of murder has got to 
be proved by proving completely what is called the corpus 
delicti of that particular person. And I will say that if 
there is a reasonable doubt in your mind that the Prose­
cution has failed to prove the actual execution of the sen­
tence, my clients are entitled to the benefit of that doubt. 

That is the position with referency to the executions. 
There are four witnesses with reference to Muhammad 
Husain. As regards the first witness Havildar Ghulam 
Muhammad, the evidence need not be read to the Court 
because all that he says is that he was brought up before 
Capt. Shah Nawaz, which in fact is not denied. There is 
this is Ghulam. Muhammad's evidence: 

8 

"I know Havilda.r Gang·a Saran. The First Batta­
lion Commander reported that he· (Ganga Saran) had 
refused to obey his orders. He was a sub-officer in 
the I.N.A. He was produced before Col. Sahgal for 
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this offence and was tried and sentenced to death. He 
was afterwards pardoned and released." 

Ha vildar Ganga Saran himself in his cross-examina­
tion has admitted that as a fact. 

The next witness is sepoy Allah Ditta (P. W. 24). He 
deals with the earlier part of the story, namely his inten­
tion to desert. This is what he says: 

"Muhammad Hussain said 'I had a few difficulties 
and therefore I intended to desert'. But no inquiries 
were made into his complaints. Muhammad Hussain 
was told by Col. Shah Nawaz: 'You are sentenced to 
death by shooting because you intended to desert 
yourself and were persuading 'others to do the same. 
Therefore you are not pardoned.' I heard Col. Shah 
Nawaz say: "Put off the case to the Regimental com­
mander." (Note by Court: Witness used the words in 
English). Then we all three of us were sent out. I 
recognise Col. Shah Nawaz Khan as an accused before 
the Court. We waited there for ten minutes and were 
brought back to Brigade Headquarters. Muhammad 
Husain, Jagiri Ram and myself came together back to 
Brigade Headquarters. Muhammad Hussain and my­
self were put back in the same cell in which we were 
before and Khazin Shah took away Jagiri Ram. The 
same day at about 5 p.m. Sardar Muhammad, Adjut­
ant of our Battalion and Aya Singh took away Muham­
mad Hussain. I have never seen Muhammad Hussain 
since then." 

Then, Sir, in cross-examination he said: 
"No decision was arrived at either in my case or in 
the case of J.agiri Ram." 

The Court will remember that there were three people, 
and it is common ground that as regards two the sentence 
was not carried out. 
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"It is true that all that Col. Shah Nawaz Khan 
said was: "You deserve to be shot." Col Shah Na-



waz Khan said that rebels like you will be sentenced 
to death by shooting. Col. Shah Nawaz Khan told 
Muhammad Hussain: "You yourself wanted to escape; 
secondly, you have tried to persuade others to escape; 
therefore, you are a rebel to the I. N. A. and sentenced 
to death by shooting." I saw Col. Shah Na.waz Khan 
write something on the crime report. How could I 
read the crime report without picking it up from the 
t&.ble? I do not understand English." 

I come to the part of the story which in itself has not 
the same importance as what it indicates, showing that 
the witness was a completely factual witness. The man 
does not know English and yet he says "he was writing a 
crime report", and the object of the cross-examination is 
to show that he told a set story which he himself could 
not have possibly seen or done, and that is the kind of 
witness he is. That is then object of that part of the cross­
examination. 

"I saw Col. Shah Nawaz Khan write something on 
the crime report." 

The man says he does not know what is crime, but 
he was told what is a crime report. Yet he is asked to 
tell a set, story that ther'e was a crime report which Col. 
Shah Nawaz Khan was actually writing, because he was 
called upon to prove that it was a crime report and sen­
tence was written on it. 

"I saw Col. Shah Nawaz Khan write something on 
the crime report. How could I read the crime report 
without picking it up from the table? I do not under­
stand English. I do not know what he wrote and 
where, because I do not know English and I was not 
reading the crime report ~t that time." 
And the- only re-examinatHm is: 

"The crime reports were lying on the table and Col. 
Shah Nawaz Khan read them out as he spoke to us 
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individually. He wrote on the crime report which had 
already been drawn up." 

That is his part of the story. Then we come to the 
actual evidence of persons by whom sentence is said to be 
carried out,---Jagiri Ram. You have seen him in the wit­
ness box. He is in the Nursing Department. He admittecl 
to the Court that he had never handled a gun in his life, 
or a rifle, or any shooting instrument, But in order to 
give the colour of truth, Jagiri Ram is made to say this: 
"I was unwilling; I do not know how to shoot; I have never 
handled a shooting instrument, but .a gun was put on my 
shoulder .... " I ask you, Sirs, to give me the benefit of any 
description on his part rather than attempt to construct 
the story for him as if he did so. Then he put the gun 
here and the trigger was pulled and it seellls that this W1-

tutored rifleman was extraordinarily accul"\tte, that along 
with the others all the three shots lodged in the chest of 
the deceased. Sirs, it wm be for you to judge the story. 
I am going to read out only that part of it which is 
material: 
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.. "I knew Muhammad Huss~in and Allah Ditta. 
Muhammad Hussain, myself and a Garhwali talked 
about escape when we were in Popa Hill area. While 
we were talking of escape Khajin Shah sent an orderly 
and ordered us to report to Battalion Headquarter&. 
Muhammad Hussain said that he had mentioned to 
Jagiri Ram and Alia Ditta jokingly about an escape. 
Khajin Shah questioned me and asked if they men­
tioned this jokingly. I replied that I had 110 proof of 
his intention to escape, but he mentioned it jokingly 
to me. Mohd. Hussain and myself were ti~d to a tree 
near the Battalion Headquarters, while Khajin Shah 
was questioning us. Khajin Shah questioned me as 
to who was trying to escape and I said that I did not 
know the name of any one who was trying to escape. 
Then Mohd. Hussain was questioned. He also said that 
he did not know anything. After sunset Khajin Shah 



took Mohd. Hussain and myself to Brigade Head­
quarters. When I was taken to Brigade Headquarters, 
Mohd. Hussain, Khajin Shah and one sentry were with 
me. Brigade Headquarters were near a nullah. On 
arrival at Brigade Headquarters, Khajin Shah went to 
a telephone and after that Alia Ditta also arrived at 
the nullah. After that all three of us, Mohd. Hussain, 
Alia Ditta and myself, were put in the Quarter Guard 
and our hands were tied. On the following day, we 
were brought before Col. Sahgal. Col. Sah.gal ques­
tioned me as to whether I intended to escape. I said 
no, I did not intend to escape.~ During this conversa­
tiOl'~ with Col. Sahgal, other people present were major 
Negi and Khajin Shah. Col. Sehgal asked me if I had 
reported to any one after Mohd. Hussain had men­
tio~ed to me about escape. I said I did not know any­
thing about Mohd. Hussain, and I did not reply to any 
N.C.O. I worked with my Medica], Officer. Then, we 
came out J)f the room and went back to the Quarter 
Guard. Then Lt. Aya Singh of Brigade Headquarters 
gave each one of us a beating and said that he would 
release us if we would tell him the names of the people 
who intended to escape. I continued to say that I did 
not know. Next day we were taken to Divisional Com­
mander Shah Nawaz Khan. We were accompanied by 
Major Negi, Khajin Shah and a sentry. All three of 
us, myself (Jagiri Ram), Alla Ditta and Mohd. Hussain, 
were lined up before the D~visional Commander. The 
Divisional Commander asked me to speak the truth 
whether I intended to escape. I said no intend to 
escape. Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan asked us why we did 
not report the matter. I said that I did not know any­
thing about it, and I did not intend to escape. He 
asked if there was any officer or N.C.O. near me. I said 
no, I was working with my medical officer. Then 
Captain Shah Nawaz Khan asked Alia Ditta: "When 
Muhammad Hussain had talked to you about escaping, 
did you report to any one?" Allah Ditta said: ';I do 
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not know anything about Mohd. Hussain's escape; I 
thought it was a joke, I do not know anything about 
it." Capt~in Shah Nawaz Khan then said to Alla!:l. 
Ditta: "You are an N.C.O. Why did you not report?" 
Alia Ditta begged his pardon and said that he did not 
know anything about Mohd. Hussain. Then Capt. 
Shah Nawaz Khan questioned Mohd. Hussain, and 
Mohd. Hussain replied that he was in difficulties and 
that he intended to escape and asked to be forgiven, 
Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan then told him: "You are not 
for our country; you are our enemy. I will give you 
death by shooting," Then Mohd. Hussain asked for 
forgiveness, and said he was prepared to go anyWhere 
he was o~dered. Capt. Shah Nawaz said nothing to 
this." 
The whole importance of the question is, whether in 

fact any sentence was actually pronounc.ed. But, whether 
or not it was pronounced, the ultimate issue is, whether it 
was carried out. Like the case of the other two co-accused 
-Jagiri Ram and the other man-he said that nothing was 
decided, and 

"all three of. us were then sent out, and we were taken 
to Brigade Headquarters accompani~d by Major Negi 
and Khazin Shah". · 

I need read the rest of it. 

Then comes the next material rart of the sto~·y: 

"I moved towards the Battalion with Khazin Sho.h 
and Sub-officer Barfi Singh. When I reached Battalion 
Headquarters, Khazin Shah told Barfi Singh to take 
me to company Headquarters. In the evening an orderly .. 
took me to'Battalion Headquarters. Mohd. Hussain was 
there. Khazin Shah and Aya Singh were also there 
when I arrived." 

The most important point is-and which appears from 
the evidence of witness-that both Khazin Shah and Aya 
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Singh are alive, and they are the only real proper witnesses 
to that particular transaction. Neither of them has been 
produced'. The story continues: 

"Khazin Shah told me, 'You will shoot Mohd. Hussain, 
because you are one of the men who were trying to 
escape with him.' I declined and said I will not shoot 
him ........ " 

I have understood many psychological problems but 
this particular one is curious, namely, t~at a man who does 
not know how to shoot and cannot shoot, is made to shoot 
just as a sort of punishment, which I do not understand; 
and which I trust you will not be able to understand even 
if you set a problem to yourself. 

"Khazin Shah told me: "You will shoot Muhammad 
Hussain because you are one of the men who were 
trying to escape with him.'' I declined and said I will 
not shoot him and that I did not know how to fire a 
rifie. Khazin Shah told me again: "If you do not shoot 
Muhammad Hussain, you will be shot yourself. I still 
refused and he drew his pistol.'' 

I can only express my inability· to understand this par-
ticular psychology except a very foolish invention. 

"I refused again and Aya Singh got hold of a. rifle. He 
put the rifte to my shoulder and put my finger round 
the trigger. Khazil1 Shah told Aya Singh to give the 
order to fire. There were three of us one Singh, one 

. Tamil and myself. Mohd. Hussain was blindfolded by 
Aya Singh. He was made to sit on the ground with 
his back against a tree stump and his hands were tied 
behind his back. Aya Singh ordered me to fire and 
all three fired·. Muhammad Hussain died there. 
Khazin Shah told me to report to my company and not 
to come to the Battalion Headquarters. That evening 
we marched o:tr to Logyi. Then we stayed at Logyi two 
or three days. Then I went over to the British.'' 
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The cross-examination is further continued: 

"After I had made the statement it was read over to 
me and I was asked whether it was the correct version. 
oj'J my statement and I said: "Yes, it was". I was again 
shown my statement day before yesterday and I was 
asked if the contents were correct and I said: "Yes." It 
was translated· to me in Hindustani and read over to 
me, and I also repeated my statement once again and 
they both tallied. I have had no training in the use 
of weapons. I joined the army, I worked as a servant 
and a labourer. On joining hospital, I was traimd in 
the work of bandaging patients and m:aking th·~ir beets. 
I had nothing to do with the fighting part of the army. 
Except when the patients were sent to' the hospital I 
had nothing to do with the men of the fighting units." 

The point which I wish to make is that not one of the 
persons is able to identify any of them by even the remotest 
possible description and you cannot prove the death of 
"A" by saying that I saw somebody shoot someone whom 
1 cannot identify. Continuing he said: 

1.20 

"Mohd. Hussain and the Garhwali I have referred to 
were members of the fighting units. At the time of 
the conversation they were not sick. I did not know 
them before the conversation, but they were living in 
the same company. I had no talk with them before, 
but when they came to my company I was in company 
headquarters. When this conversation took place I 
was in Popa Camp. I had nev~r been to Burma before. 
Before joining the I.N.A., we were given very hard. fa­
tigues by the Japanese in connection with the loading 
of coal at the ports day and night ........ I do not know 
the name of) the Garhwali to whom I have referred." 
'The test is whether the other alleged conspirators were 
known to him. · 

"I know he was a Garhwali because he lived with us 
and he spoke Garhwali. I had never talked either to 

' 



had never spoken to tlte Garhwali before that day in 
the Garhwali or to Muhammad Hussain before the 
day Mohd. Hussain joined company headquarters. I 
the nullah; and from that day's con.versation I say that 
he was a Garhwali. I do not know any language or 
dialect beyond the dialect which I speak. 
"I came to know Mohammad Hussain in company. He 
used to live with me at headquarters. He used to sit 
in my company. I know he was a Mohan\madan. I 
do not know anything more about him. He used to 

. speak in Punjabi with me. He used to live with me, 
surely I knew him. I cannot give a long description of 
him except his physical description. I do not know 
anything else about him. It was by chance that Mohd. 
Hussain and I got together and the Garhwali, arrived 
in the meantime ..... . 

"When I was arrested I said that I never intended to 
run away because I would have been also shot other­
wise. I knew Lt. Aya Singh because he was in my 
company. I knew he is alive. I saw him in Jigargacha 
and Chittagong. The last time I saw him was in Chit­
tagong where he arrived two or three days after my 
arrival there in about May last. 

"I saw Capt. Shah Naw~z Khan at Divisional Head­
quarters. There were other orderlies and sepoys there. 
I do not remember having seen any officers other than 
Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan. I do not know the English 
word "crime". I know the word "report" in the words 
•1crime report" which are written on a piece of paper 
now shown to me. There was no need for anybody to 
teach me the meaning of crime report when I ·was 
about to be produced." 

'r put it to him to ascertain if he understands the ex­
planation. There cannot be any other exp~anation ex­
cept tutoring. 
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"I was told that a crime report would be put up against 
me and that we three men would be brought before 
Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan. No announcement was made 
before me in respect of anybody except Mohd. Hussain 
being ordered to be shot. Capt. Shah Nawaz Khan 
did not say anything about myself and Alia Ditta. Alia 
Ditta was not present with us when we conferred in 
the nullah ........ . 

"Mohd. Hussain admitted that he had intend­
ed to run away; that he wanted to run away 
because he was in trouble; and asked to .be 
forgiven and said that he was prepared to go anywhere 
that he was ordered to. After that Capt. Shah Nawaz 
Khan said that he (Mohd. Hussain) was not for his 
country; that he was an enemy, and that he would give· 
him death by shooting. We were then marched out. 
I am quite clear that nothing else happened. 

"I was given a rifle at the time of the shooting of Mohd. 
Hussain. I do not know any weapons other than a 
rifle. The rifle was put on my shoulder in the aim­
ing position by Aya Singh. I do not know the names 
of the Tamil and the Sikh who were pi·esent at the 
shooting of Mohd. Hussain but they were both present 
on the scene when I arrived. I. do not know anything 
else about'them or what they did. I do not know their 
names but I have seen them in Battalion Headquarters. 
I cannot say anything more about them than what I 
have said. I was not 'myself then. The rifle was put 
into position and I we.s told to hold it. . I held it with 
the help of Aya Singh. The rifle was pointing to Mohd. 
Hussain. He was sitting on the ground about 5 yards 
away. I pressed the trigger when one-two-tlll'ee was 
said. Three shots were fired but I do not know which 
shot shot him down. I did not go to Mohd. Hussain's 
body to see how many shots had penetrated it. I did 
not go near Mohd. Hussain's body after the firing. The 
last time I saw it it was lying there." 



This is the accollllt given by Jagiri Ram and the most 
important points. are these: First, that he did not know 
his fellow shooters and he cannot identify them. Secondly, 
he admits that Khajin Shah and Aya Singh are both alive 
The third thing that he says is that I do not know Moham­
mad Hussain and there is no intelligible ground given 
why a man who did not kn~w how to shoot was made 
to go through this process and it is for the Court to 
give some explanation. I can only submit that I can 
find none, and under these circumstances, I ask you to say 
that this witness's evidence is evidence which falls short 
of proofl of the death of a particular individual otherwise 
not described, and in the absence of two persons who have 
not been produced before this Court. 

Theil, Sir, there is one more witness on this point, and 
that is witness LfNaik Sardar Mohammad. I will read 
the evidence which relates to this matter. 

"I knew Mohammad Hussain. On the 27th March Lt. 
Khajin Shah sent for the runners. On arrival of the­
runners he ordered them to bring the following men to 
the Battalion Headquarters; Sepoy Mohammad Hus­
sain. Lance Naik Alia Ditta, Lance Naik Mohammad 
Shafi, Sepoy Jagiri Ram and Sepoy Gobbru Singh ..... . 
Khajin Shah told me that these men intended to run 
away. He further told me that he was going to Bri­
gade Headquarters that evening to talk about these· 
inen, and he went away ...... I met Lt. Khajin Shah 
on the way and I handed over these men to his charge. 
He let off Lance-Naik Mohammad Shafi on the spot, 
because his platoon commander _had recommended 
him, and I came back. He said that Mohammad Hus­
sain had been sentenced to be shot." 

I submit with due respect that it is not good evidence. 

"to be shot. Nothing was said about others, but Jagiri 
Ram was with him at the time. He asked me to go to 
Ghulam Mohammad, the Brigade Adjutant and ask him 

123-



whether Mohammad Hussain was to be shot under 
Battalion arrangements or Brigade arrangements, .... 
I was also asked to bring Sepoy Mohammad Ibrahim 
who had been released from the quarter guard. I re­
ceived instructions that Mohd. Hussain was to be shot 
under Battalion arrangements and on the same day. 
I brought him back, with me to Battalion Headquart­
ers. . . . . . . . . I coiweyed these orders to Lt. Khajln 
Shah. Lt. Khajin. Shah then ordered me to arrange for 
the execution of Mohammad Hussain . . . . . . He asked 
me to detail 10 men with pick-axe and shovels. I de­
tailed those men to dig a grave. I know that a grave 
was dug. I was then ordered by Lt. Khajin Shah to 
take Mohammad Hussain to the edge ofl a nullah. 
Mohammad Hussain was taken to the edge of the 
nullah. Lt. Khajin Shah, 2nd Lt. Aya Singh and Ha­
vildar-Major Govind Singh, some sepoys and n1yself 
went with Mohammad Hussain to the nullah. Lt. 
Khajin Shah ordered Mohammad Hussain to be tied 
to a tree and also ordered that he should be blind­
folded. I passed on the orders to Sub-Officer Govind 
Singh who carried them out with the help of two other 
sepoys. After this Lt. Khajin Shah called two men out 
of the fatigue party to shoot Mohammad Hussain. They 
were both sepoys, one was a Tamil and the other was 
a Sikh. After the arrival of these men, Khajin Shah 
ordered that Jagiri Ram would also fire on Mohammad 
Hussain. The three men stood in a line facing Moham­
mad Hussain and Khajin Shah told Aya Singh to give 
the order to fire. Aya Singh hesitated. Khajin Shah 
once again told him to give the order to fire. Aya 
Singh gave the order, "Kneeling Fire". All the three 
sepoys fired a round each on Mohammad Hussain. 
Mohammad Hussain was killed. His body rolled over • 
si-deways. Khajin Shah then ordered me to send 
Abdul Hakim to arra~ge :(or his burial. .... No casualty 
report was sent. The sending of a casualty report was 
part of my duties. I did not make a casualty report 



because night had fallen and we had to march the 
same night. On the 3rd April I escaped• and reported \ 
to the Allied forces ......... . 

"The night that Mohammad Hussain was shot we 
moved to Logyi. That was on the 29th March, 1945." 

That question was put with a view to find out the con-
nection between that day and the day of escape. 

" ........ I did not have the time to prepare a casualty 
report of Muhammad Hussain's death. On the 1st 
April 1945 I did not take a casualty report to Capt. 
Sahgal. I do know if any was sent. I knew Jagiri Ram 
from the day he was arrested and taken to Brigade 
H. Q. I had been posted to the regiment only three 
or four days previously, and that is why I did not know 
Jagiri Ram. I knew that ·he was a non-combatant nurs-

-_:-•. ing orderly. Aya Singh was helping Jagiri Ram to fire 
the rifle. He was standing near him. Jagiri Ram firerl 
with help. Lt. Khajin Shah -ordered that Jagiri Ram 
will also be one of the firing squad. I could not see 
very well but the firing squad had been ordered to 
adopt the kneeling position and they did kneel a bit. 
I do not remember whether Jagiri Ram was standing 
or in the kneeling position. I was between 12 and 15 
yards away when Mohd. Hussain fell. I went away 
after giving order to Abdul Hakim. I went near Mohd. 
Hussain and found that he was dead. He had three 
shots in him. The shirt covering his left breast was 
torn and from the amount of tear I considered thEre 
were three shots. I was not· present at his burial. 

(Question by the Judge-Advocate): 

"When I found that three shots had gone into him 
and that he was lying on a side I inferred that he was 
dead. The firing was about 8 to 10 yards away from 
Mohd. Hussain. The shooting of Mohd. Hussain oc­
curred at about dusk. I did not see any blood on 
Mohd. Hussain." 
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This is the whole of the evidence that you have before 
the Court and with the absence of Khajin Shah and Aya 
Singh, with the inexplicable alleged joining of Jagiri Ram, 
with the complete unidentification of the other two persons 
who }oined in the shooting, with the most extraordinary 
story of three shots having gone into the body of this man 
in one a:nd the -same place and not a single drop of blood 
was found, I submit to the Court that the evidence falls 
short of any proof of the execution of this sentence. 

Though it is a small point Jagiri Ram himself said that 
.he fired the rifle standing and I have a vivid recollection 
that later on, when he was asked to say where his muzzle 
was pointing he was completely at sixes and sevens to 
answer the question or to explain the position, or to answer 
where and how he held the rifle and where he aimed and 
how he shot. That is the position in so far as the record 
is concerned. 

Then to the evidence relating to the alleged shooting 
of the four persons. The first and the most important 
point in reference to that shooting is the exhibit 3V which 
I have read to the Court. If you had such clear evidence 
it is obvious that the other evidence must be rejected. 
You have the evidence about the condition in which Lt. 
Dhillon then was. The submission I am making to the 
court is that this event did not take place because the 
whole ofl the story hinges around order after order being 
given by Lt. Dhillon. I am able to show as I submit I am 
able to show, that document was written at a time when 
there was not· the remotest occasion of makihg up any 
document whatsoever as to the condition of his health. 
But the fact remains that the previous night he had gone 
out on reconnoitring and he came back, and I ask you to 
pay attention, in a condition so weak that he had never felt 
like that in his life before. He was actually given an in­
jection by the doctor, that 11 more had to be given, and it 
was difficult to find any more medicine. For that reason 
alone, if there were no other reason, the picturesque ac-
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-count given by the two witnesses, whose evidence I am 
going to read as to the company being called out and Lt. 
Dhillon standing and giving orders and calling each man . 

. ~ is a story entirely untrue. More than that, the story of 
the location of it all seems to be completely upsetting. 

As to one of! the two witnesses a comment is necessary. 
He had no intelligible reason to be there; and he had medi­
r.:ines to give as I shall presently point out. He also hap­
pens to be one' of the members of the nursing staff and 
he said he had no reason to remain there. But the still 
more important thing is that the second person says­
his evidence shows-that the first witness was not there. 
What do you make of that? 

Counsel for the Prosecution: He does not say that he 
·wa~ not there. He only says, "I did not see any other 
man." 

\ 
Sri Desai: I say that the true inference is that he was 

not there, because he said he saw nobody, no stranger. 
The evidence suffers from such grievous infirmities, first, 
the practical improbability of the person who gave orders 
for shooting being there. Of course one can disregard any­
thing; but .afiter all you are to judge by human standards 
.and not by possibilities. In fact I do go as far as this: 
supposing a charge of this kind had been brought-apart 
:from a trial of this kind-and evidence had been given as 
to the improbability of the person who is alleged to have 
given orders for shooting being there, no jury would ever 
·venture to convict him. You may say: "Oh yes the man 
was ill but we still believe he went there." Of course you 
are entitled to do so; you are judges; I do not deny that. 
But I ask you to be judges on material before you; and 
the ~aterial befure you is such that as judges of fact it 
is impossible at all events, as I respectfully put it then and 
put it now-if you had a reasonable doubt that Lt. Dhillon 
-could not have been there that day, I submit there Is an 
end of the case. Any other picturesque description is 
immaterial. What 1s material is that the man who IS alleg-
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ed to have given orders for the shooting was not there; 
and whether ~e was there or not depends on the state of 
his health, as to which there is a contemporaneous 1·eport; 
and I submit to the Court that it would be highly dang­
erous to accept, in the state of that man's henlth, the 
story of these two men. As to both of them I will be able to 
point out inherently from their own evidence that they 
are not witnesses of truth; and that you prefer that evi­
dence and act on your own peril. I submit, that is the real 
issue before the Court. I will read the evidence of the other 
two persons who said they were there. 

There is another point which also comes out. There is. 
no identification of the persons alleged to have been shot 
with the persons mentioned in the crime report. I do 
submit to the Court that if you find a crime report and 
on the strength of that document it is quite easy to have 
two willing witnesses of this kind-people who, I submit 
on their own confession (and I can show lt by examina­
tion of their evidence) ought not to be believed. I say the 
strongest piece of evidence in my client's favour is the 
evidence of his state of health that day and yon cannot 
disregard it. You can say: "Oh, no; never mind how his 
health was; we still believe he was there." But I submit 
that that is a process of reasoning which 1s not, '.vhat I 
may call, founded on justice or will be acceptclt by this 
court. I will read the evidence of the first witness on this. 
point: 

128 

"One day I was carrying a patient and saw four men 
near a nullah whose hands were tied behind their 
backs and who were escorted by two sentries. When 
I was coming back after leaving the patient in hos­
pital, I noticed some men assembled near the nullah. 
seeing this assembly of men, I went up there. When I 
reached there, one company was fallen in, and a trench 
had been dug there. The four men were made to sit 
in the trench. Then Major Dhillon asked for volun­
tee~·s to shoot these men. Two men from that com-
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pany and one man from Brigade H. Q. came up. Their 
names were Naik Sher Singh, Kalu Ram and Hida­
yatullah. Two carried rifles and one a pistol: Sher 
Singh had the pistol. Then Major Dhillon called: out 
the name of the four men in the trench. Major 
Dhill~m told the company present that these four men 
had gone over to the enemy and had been caught, and, 
therefore their punishment would be death. Then 
Major Dhillon ordered Hidayatullah to shoot the pri­
soner who had been called out of the trench first. By 
this time this prisoner had come out of the trench. 
He was standing on the edge ofi the trench. This pri­
soner was then shot by Hidayatullah and he fell down. 
The p;risoner was not blind-folded. He was about 20 
yards from Hidayatullah when fired upon." 

Then there is the description about the other three 
men in the same way. Then he says: 

"I did not see them moving after Sher Singh had 
fired. 'l'hen I saw Captain Lee, the Medical Officer of 
the Battalion examine them. Captain Lee said some­
thing to Major Dhillon." 

Captain Lee is another witness who should have been 
called to prove this: 

"Afterwards Major Dhillon ordered the dead bodies to 
be buried. I did not see them being buried ........ I 
went over to the Gurkha Regiment a fortnight after 
these men were shot. These four men who were shot 
were Jats. I know nothing else about them." 

It is most extraordinary. You have A. B. C. and D. 
condemned to death, and you are asked to believe the one 
man who did not know who they were. In a trial for mur­
der, if you are told that A was ordered to be shot and 
some one says: "I saw somebody shot and therefore I come 
to the conclusion that A was shot," I think one would be 
shocked to hear such a thing. I submit we have our points 
quite clear in cross-examination. This witness said: 
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"I have never seen these men before. I did not know 
where they had come from." · 

It is not the charge at all that any four men \\·ere 
shot for any other crime or for no reason whatever. You 
are not called upon to say whether some other me.n were 
shot or why they were shot. That is not the charge. 

Having dealt with the first part, which I do not want 
to repeat again, you will see how many infirmities are 
there. First, the improbability of Lt. Dhillon being there, 
according to the description in the sick report; next, no 
identification of any of the four men, never having b~en 
seen by these two men be~ore. I do not say merely the 
cumulative effect of the whole thing-but even if any one 
of them was wanting you cannot say it is proved. 

Then I have tried to prove from this evidence as far as 
it is possible to do so, as to whether or not he was re­
quired to go back to his duties, and he ultimately 
had to admit that he could not be there in the proper 
discharge of his duties; and after all the way in which 
you will judge a man is not by merely saying 
what they did, but by the probabilities of circumstances. 
If a man is expected t;o be on duty, and he says he stayed 
away out of sheer curiosity, would you rather prefer to be­
lieve that he went to his duty and was not there, or are 
you prepared to say, just because he said so, that he was 
there? He says further: 

"I stopped there for about half an hour". It is rather 
important from the point of view which I submit is of a 
man in that condition, which as I said, is a fact which you 
cannot possibly disregard. In that condition, according 
to him, this process took half an hour. Then he says: 
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"I had nothing to do with either the men wllo were 
present there or the incident which took place there. 
I cannot tell the date or the week or the month on 
which this incident happened. I went over to the 



Gurkha Regiment which was in a nearby village, the 
name of which I do not know. The incident to which 
I referred happened in 1945. I did not mention this 
incident at all in the Gurkha Regiment. I did not 
talk to anybody out of the assembly in the nullah. The 
company assembled in the nullah was about 100 
strong." 

The next witness will tell you there were about 25 men 
there-

"I did not see any outsider apart from the officers, 
the company and myself." 

If in the teeth of that, the Advocate-General still in­
sists that my interpretation of the evidence of the other 
man that he was no stranger is not correct, I ask the Court 
not to acc~pt such an argumex;tt, because he may be plain 
and tell us who were there. I cross-examined the other 
witness and asked him whether besides the officers and the 
company there was any stranger, and he said 'No'; and if 
after that I am to be told that I have not proved i"rom 
the mouth of the other witness that the first witness was 
not there, it is an untrue interpretation of the evidence. 
He further says: 

"I knew the names of Hidayatullah, Sepoy Kalu Ram 
and Naik Sher Singh because they belonged to my 
Battalion. My duty was to render first-aid. I never 
preferred first-aid to the three men I have mentioned. 
While at Papa, the Battalion consisted of 200 to 250 
men. The three men do not come from the same place 
in India as I do. I do not know where they come from. 
I had no personal contact with these three men before 
that qate. I had nothing to do with them after the 
incident." 

I say the probability is one in a thousand-the man 
knows nothing before, knows nothing afterwards; does not 
shoot and does not know how to shoot; has ·no business 
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to be there; and yet you are asked to believe that evidence1 

that the shooting took place. I submit it is a story which 
men of reason, just as we have on this tribunal, will not 
accept. The evidence goes on-

"They used to be in my Battalion and I knew them. 
I cannot give the nominal roll of all the men of the 
Battalion. I know the names of some but not of all 
men in the Battalion. I can give the names of 10 or 
12 people in the Battalion ........ I did not talk to any 
of these men before that date. I have never seen these 
three men since."-(that is with reference to the per­
sons alleged to have been shot). 

"I was 10 to 12 yards away from Major Dhillon. Nobody 
asked me why I was standing there. I had nothing to 
do with what Major Dhillon said on that occasion. I 
am not a poet. I am not a writer either. I swear and 
say to the Court that I remember every detail of what 
I have told the Court. I remember very well that none 
of the first men nor any of the other me'n were blind­
folded. I omitted this detail in my evidence because 
I was not asked. I said that three volunteered to shoot 
these four men. The whole company was armed. Most 
of them had rifles and a few of; them had not. I knew 
at that time the name of the man whom Major Dhillon 
selected to shoot first. I do not know the names of 
any of the four men who were shot nor do I know their 
identity. After the shooting, Major Dhillon went away 
and so I W«;lnt away as well. At the beginning I did 
not know what was happening there but when I came 
to know what was happening there, I stayed on to 
see the end. I was 12 to 13 yatds away from the place 
where these men fell. This occurred at about 4 o'clock 
in the afternoon. I did not have a watch." 

The next improbability is that at the time there were 
sudden air raids, and this process which according to the 
witness went on for half an hour is a matter for you to 
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consider. But the important points are those which I men­
tioned first. This witness himself says: 

''The place was subject to air attacks during those 
days ........ Aeroplanes used to come over us frequently. 
There were trenches about and the nullah was a shelt­
ered area. I do not know the persons who chose the 
nullah .... I am shown my statement of the summary of 
evidence. I signed that statement and identify my 
signature. It was read over to me before I signed it. 
My attention is drawn to the passage. As far as I re­
member, I said that Major Dhillon had ordered Sher 
S~gh to fire a pistol, but it was not taken down." 
I mean, he is quite willing to improve on any story so 

long as you ask him to do so. 

"I was not interested in Captain Lee's examination or 
his report. I was not interested in their burial either. 
Darbans Singh gave oraers for their burial in rr.y 
presence." 
Questioned by the Court he said: 

"This company in the nullah was properly fallen in. 
These men were in front of! the company. The com­
pany was about ltJ or 12 yards from these men and I 
st.o~_.d near the company on one side. Major Dhillon 
ga,•e orders for the fourth man to be shot." 

. . 
Sepoy Gian Singh: ·'I remember fou:.- men being shot 

there. At about 4 o'clock one evening our company . got 
.orders to fall in in a nullah. On arrival there I saw four 
men whose hands were tied behind their backs. They were 
in a trench. Major Dhillon said that these four men had 
tried to go over to the British and so they were sentenced 
to death." Then he gives the names and details of the 
shooting of each rd.an. "These four men who were killed 
were Jats. I do not know anything more about them." 
For all I care any four Jats were killed, that would be the 
proof. That' ~his particular sentence was carrled out would 
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be, I submit, the height of improbability, and unless there 
is definite evidence that the four particular individuals 
namt.d 1n the crime report were shot, as having been iden­
tified as having been shot, I submit to the Court that you 
cannot possibly hold that these particular four persons 
were shot. The charge is aiding or abettL"'lg or the com­
mitting of the crime of shooting, and by proving that a 
.Tat was shot, I submit with very great respect, nothing is 
proved. My case is honestly and deliberately that this is 
a false story. The sentence was not carried out. But 
taking everything against myself, and standing before a 
Court of law I say you do not establish a charge of shoot­
ing A ~Y saying that you shot a Hindu. A Hindu may 
have been shot for all I know on the same day. 

Then, Sir, we come to the cross-examination of this 
witness. "The nullah to which I have referred was about 
five feet wide." Imagine the picture as this man gives and 
of course it cannot possibly agree with the other picture. 
The other picture was one hundred people were present. 
This man's picture is that "from where I stood to where 
the trench was, it was about 25 feet, 20 feet deep and five 
feet wide." Few would believe that the company had 
fallen in in such a place for such a purpose. I cannot ima­
gine that a company would be asked to fall into a kind of 
well as this gentleman has described. Then he says that 
th~ height of the room was about 20 feet. 
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"There were about 30 men in this space. Such 
men of the company as were in the lines were present 
there. Some men had gone out on fatigue. The trench 
was dug at one end of the nullah. I do not remember 
how many ofJicers were there. Capt. Dhillon was in 
front of the company. The trench was below the 
nullah bed. I did not see the depth of the trench. 
The trench was between 20 and 25 yards from where 
the company had fallen in. A person in the trench 
could hear what was said from the place where the 
company was, if it was spoken loud enough to be 
heard." 



In that narrow space it is impossible to suppose that 
the other gentleman if he was there could ever have es­
caped detection. The man says that the whole process took 
half an hour, and hence the value of the submission that I 
make. "I do not remember any person not belonging to the 
company being there." I say that it requires a lot of con­
viction to submit to a court of law that this does not prove 
what I say it proves, namely that the first witness is proved 
by the second witness not to have been there. After all he 
said that there were thirty people. He knew that they 
were members o~ his company. Others had gone out on 

- fatigue duty. This man says definitely: "I do not remem­
ber any person not belonging to the company being .. there." 
I submit with great respect that it has only one and one 
result, and that is that at all events the second wltness says 
that the first witness was not there at all. Remember that 
within that five feet space you could not escape noticing 
any man. You could not help it if he was there. 

"We were standing in a pla.ce like this room except 
that it was not so broad. At some places it was wider 
but the place where we were standing in the nullah 
was about 5 feet broad. Of these three men who volun­
teered to do the shooting, two belonged to the com­
pany and one to Brigade Headquarters Police. Those 
three men who did the shooting were fallen in with 
the rest of the company when they volunteered to 
shoot. Because of air raids men used to go and hide 
themselves in the nullah bed and Naik Sher Singh was 
hiding in the nullah at the time. At that time there 
were constant apprehensions of air raids. The trench 
wa.s about 20 yards away from where I was standing. 
The trench was at right angles to the bed of the nullah. 
I did not notice at the time what the length of the 
trench was. I did not notice whether the nullah was 
any wider at the point where the trench· was. We 
were standing in two lines in the nullah facing the 
end i of the nullah and I was in tht1 middle of the 
company. All the men were facing towards where the 
men were shot. The men were in two groups. Major 
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Dhillon was standing in front of the two groups, about 
2 paces away from me. I heard Major Dhillon order 
the four men out one by one. I do not know their 
names. I had been in the company for a long time 
and that is how I knew the names of Kalu Ram and 
Hidayatullah." 
I submit that this again falls completely short 

of the proof of anything whatever like the death of an 
individual with whose death a man is accused. Remember 
that you have got to be satisfied, not in a vague sort of 
way, that some people were ordered to be shot, 
that some people were shot and those who were, 
shot ~ere those who were ordered to be shot. It 
is a process of absolutely V1c1ous reasoning 
which I hope will not be resorted to or made use of by the 
Prosecution. Merely because the names of four persons 
who you say were shot were there, you cannot prove that 
theY were shot by saying that some people were shot. 

TherefOre, to summarise the evidence, it suffers from 
the worst infirmities, and much more so in a case where 
a man is charged with murder. First, it is improbable that 
the person who is alleged to have given orders was there 
or could have been there. It is improbable that in that 
state of health he could have been there for the period of 
time alleged for the process. Next, neither of the two wit­
:nesses is able to identify in the least degree who was shot. 
'!'.hen, the second witness says that the first witness was 
:not there, and the second witness gives a picture which it 
is for you to believe to what extent it is correct And then 
ill addition to that, I am going to call attention to the evi­
dence of witness, where in many instances of that kind, 
people were sort of sentenced but the sentence was never 
carried out. 

The evidence to which I am referring is the evidence of 
p w. 5 and it belongs to the same period to which this 

· rticular alleged shooting refers. The evidence of P. w. ·5 
~a cross-examination is: "I know Captain Rab Nawaz. He 
~as the commander of one of the P. 0. W.s ~amps at Port 
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Dixon, and the other camp was commanded by ·Capt. Karam 
Chand Bias of the first Bhawalpur Infantry. capt. Rab 
Nawaz did not volunteer for the I.N.A. nor did captain Bias 
After Captain Sahgal's conference on the 1st of March 
within the next two weeks, there were several people a:r­
.rested. After investigation all were released except Capt. 
Bedi. The reason for my remembering the date on which 
·Capt. Sehgal commanded No.2 Division was that on 28th 
February 1945 five officers deserted and on that occ~sion 
·Capt. Sahgal arrested Capt. Bedi, Captain Sahg.al arrested 
Captain Bedi on the 1st or 2nd of March 1945 as a Divi­
sionai Commander. I do not remember the exact date 
.an which Capt. Sahgal began to act as Divisional Com­
mander." 

Then, Sir, you have the evidence of Gangasaran, to 
which I have already called attention, and this belongs to 
the same period as the date of the alleged execution of this 
sentence. Considering the evidence on record, I would sub­
mit to the Court that there is such a lacuna of evidence 
of identity, of improbability, that the Court should hold 
that there is at least a reasonable doubt whether this par­
ticular erent took place. I of course put it more affirma­
tively myself, but feeling as I do in a case of this kind, it 
is my duty to put the case at the very lowes~ and I say 
that there is want of evidence that is sufficient for my 
purpose. It is not enough that A should have been ordered 
to be shot, that by any process of reasoning therefore he 
must have been shot. That is a process which I submit is 

· wrong and not permissible. The actual execution of the 
sentence has got to be proved with complete identity bet­
ween those against whom the sentence was passed and 
those whom it is alleged were shot on this occasion. The 
thing has got to be proved by affirmative evidence and the 
burden of proof is completely on the Prosecution, hundred 
witnesses notwithstanding. In this case there are only 
two. One of! them says that the other was not there. The 
point really is not how the deficiency of evidence arises. 
The question really is that the burden of proof being on 
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the Prosecution to show that a definite person, A, B, C, or 
D was killed, and died as a result of the action of a person 
who ordered the shooting is a fact, which must be proved. 

All that is proved is, taking the allegation at its face 
value, that four shots were fired, and the identity of the 
persons shot is not known. My submission to the Court 
on that is that the evidence on this point suffers from in­
firmities which I have detailed to the Court in dealing­
with the evidence. 

There:flore with reference to this charge dealing with 
murder, my submission is that the Prosecution has en­
tirely failed to prove the charges. The alternative sub­
mission is, assuming that the Court agrees with me that: 
this was done in due course of the execution of the duty 
of an officer in the I.N.A. governed ·by its own code, there 
is no question of any liability. 

I say that Kalu Ram and Sher Singh who are said to 
have fired the shots are alive, and there 1s not that sum­
ciency of evidence either on facts or identity. Therefore 
I ask the Court not to run away with the idea that a 
sentence was passed on A, B, C, and D, some people were 
shot on that day, and therefore the persons '3hot were 
those identical persons. This is a point which I cannot 
too often submit flor the consideration of the Court. To· 
say that A was shot because some persons were shot, is 
tndeed a piece of logic which ought not. to be allowed in a 
case of this grave magnitude. It is not permissible even. 
in an ordinary case. The question says: Did you see A? 
The answer is: I do not know, but I saw somebody going: 
tnto the fort and he was expected to go there. In a case 
of this kind, to say that he did go, would be the height of 
wrong reasoning. That is all I have got to say on the ques­
tion of the sentence. 

I submitted in the beginning of this case that this· 
army of the I.N.A. was an organised army. The actual 
sections of the IN.A. Act have been cited, as the Court will 
see :llrom the crime · report, and the Court will see· that 
there can be no liability for any acts done in due prose-
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cution of the war in the execution by officers of their res­
pective duties. That of course is a complete answer. r 
submit that even if the case is laid against A as a private 
individual, even then the evidence on the subject of having 
caused death, falls short. 

Then there is a small point. I come to the evidence 
of Col. Kitson and Ghulam Muhammad with reference to­
the circumstances of Captain Sahg.al's surrender. It is a 
point of, substance, because under the terms of the surren­
der which were offered and accepted, the accused are en­
titled to all the privileges of prisoners of war on the cessa­
tion of hostilities. I shall now read the evidence of Col. 
Kitson, P. W. 29. He says: 

"I then went forward myself up to thfi east comer· 
of this village, when I met my leading Company Com­
mander together with Captain Sahgal the accused. 
With him were a number of other officers of the Indian 
National Army and approximately a hundred Indian· 
troops of the I.N.A. at that particular time. More ap­
peared later. My leading Cony)any Commander hand­
ed me a note which he had iiceived from a surrend­
er party under a white fiag. I am afraid I have not 
preserved the note. I destroyed it about two months 
later when I was going through some papers, and I 
am afraid I saw no importance of this note which I 
threw away. The note was addressed to the Com­
mander of the British Forces, or may have been ad­
dressed to the Allied Forces, and it said that approxi­
mately 30 officers and 500 troops of the I.N.A. wish to.· 
surrender as prisoners of war. I then talked to Cap­
tain Sahgal, and he gave me his name and his regi­
ment. He said 'I am Captain Sahgal, and I asked him 
what his unit was both in the I.N.A. and in the Indian­
Army, and he told me then that he had been in' the 
5/lOth Baluch- and that he was then commanding a. 
regiment of the I.N.A. and that he had with him there 
at his Regimental Headquarters a 1st Aid attachinent 
and one Battalion of his Regiment. I then made ar-
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rangements for the collecting of all the arms of the 
prisoners and arranged with captain Sahgal about 
their feeding. We had no food for them." 
You have to read this evidence in the light of what 

Ghulam Muhammad said. He has given evidence before 
you to this effect that all non-commissioned officers col­
lected together, they were given an hour's time to consider 
the question of surrender as prisoners of war, and that if 
-that was not accepted they were prepared to fight. A let­
ter to that effect was written and despatched, and you 
:ba ve the evidence of Col. Kitson as to wha.t happened. 
Under these circumstances I submit that in so far as the 
:surrender of Captain Sahgal is concerned, it has been on 
·the terms on which the offer was made, and I submit he 
is entitled to be released. 

There are one or two small matters which I should like 
-to deal with before I raise three points of law. You ;must · 
have heard the evidence of the last defence witness, Cap­
tain Arshad. He gives you a truthful account of what 
o0ccurred prior to the surrender of Rangoon, and the re­
·occupation of Rangoon. I have produced four documents 
-which clearly show the recognition on the part of the 
British officers of the existence of an organised army call­
.-ed the I.N.A. The men in charge have been addressed by 
their proper designation and they have been entrusted 
·with definite duties, and there is ample evidence to prove 
that the I.N.A. was an organised army, and it was treated 
:as an organised army. I would draw your attention to 
exhibits 5 us. 5 Vs. and 5 Ws. You will find instructions 
there regarding the address of officers. This includes a 
·document by Brigadier Lauder. 

So, I submit that right up to the time of the surrender 
there has been recognition on the part of the opposing 
:armies, that the I.N.A. was an organised army and it was 
.so ref'erred to and addressed through its proper officers. 
'They were also recognised as officers for the time being. 
'That, Sir, is practically the whole of the case regarding 
·the documents and the recorded evidence. 
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I now come to certain submissions regarding further 
points of law. They are three in number and they are 
founded on a true interpretation of the Indian Army Act. 
and of the rules thereunder. Under Section 41, this Court. 
is authorised and ~s given jurisdiction to try among others. 
civil offences. 

The word 'civil offence' is defined in the Act itself .. 
Section 7, Sub-Section (18) reads; "A civil offence means 
an o:ffence which, if committed in British India, would be.:. 
triable by a Criminal Court." The question really depends 
on the true construction of the words "triable by a criminal 
court." I know and I am fully aware that the Criminal 
Procedure Code has not been applied to the proceedings of 
this Court. But that is irrelevant to the issue that I am 
now going to submit to the Court. If, by the definition 
under Sub-Section (18) you have to find out what is triable 
by a Criminal court, you cannot just do it in the air. I. 
defy my honourable friend, or anybody else, to say what 
it is unless you go to the appropriate Act which shows. 
what things are ttiable by a Criminal Court. That is not 
saying that the Criminal Procedure Code is applied here~ 
That is where there is a likelihood of false reasoning. The 
point is this. In order to understand one statute, and 
where the statute expressly refers to what is triable by a 
Criminal Court, you must go to the statute which defines. 
what is triable by a Criminal Court. It would be an extra­
ordinary thing if the whole thing were left in the air­
Therefore, if! there is another statute which shows what 
is triable by a Criminal Court, you have got to go to it,. 
notwithstanding that the statute is not applicable to the 
proceedings of this Court. What I do say is this. If you. 
have to find out what is triable by a Criminal Court, you. 
must go to the statute which shows what is triable by a 
Criminal Court, and that statute, so far as one is aware~ 
is the Criminal Procedure Code. On that two points arise. 
One is that under section 196 of the Criminal Procedure 
Code it is laid down as follows: 
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"No court (meaning no criminal court) ~hall take 
cognizance of any offence punishable under Chapter VI 
(which is this offence) unless upon the complaint made 
by the order or under the authority of the Provincial Gov­
•ernment or some officer empowered by the Provincial 
Government in this behalf." If merely for the purpose 
·of finding out what is it that is given to you for trial you 
.have to go to another statute, then it is a wrong argument 
to say that you will not. Let me put it in plainer langu­
:age. When you say that my terms of engagement are the 
.same as those of Major Preetam Singh's, it is not enough. 
~ must ascertain my terms from the contract. That is 
the simple illustration which will bring home to even a 
:layman's mind the point that I am intending to make. 
'The point that I am making is this that the civil offences 
·which are committed to you for trial are those which will 
be triable by a criminal court. Therefore, my first sub­
:mission is that what offences are triable by a criminal court 
_you can only discover by looking at another law which is 
.appropriate to the purpose and not by shutting your eyes 
.to it. When you go and look into that law, what do you 
find? That law requires that that offence would not be 
.triable by that criminal court except upon the complaint 
•Of/ an officer of! the Local Government, etc. It has nothing 
·to do with Captain Mead's case or any other case. That 
·was a case of Section 270 of the Government of India Act 
:and has got no bearing on the question. The point is this. 
How do you discover or where do you discover that the 
•offence is triable by a criminal court. That you must dis­
cover because you cannot say that anything that is brought 
to you for .trial, you will try. You will yourself ask: "What 
is it that I am entitled to try and if I am only entitled to 
try that which is triable by a criminal court, I must neces­
:sarily go to the statute which gives me that power." My 
.submission to the Court is that by reason of Section 196, 
no complaint having been made by a Local Government. 
•or an officer in that behalf appointed by them, this Court 
may not try an offence under section 121, Chapter VI. 
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My next point is again a point of construction, lt point 
which, I submit, is of' commonsense. If I am given a 
power to try offences within a certain limit, then I must 

· find out what is being triable by a criminal court. If I 
,-; find that a criminal court is incapable of trying an offence. 

then you must come to the conclusion that a criminal 
court of its own motion and of its own authority ls in­
capable of trying that offence. If a criminal court is in­
capable without more of trying the off~nce, equally this 
Court is incapable of trying the offence. In other words, 
there are two alternative arguments before the Court. 
One is that within this sphere of the offences triable by 
this court, this particular offence does not fall, in that it 
is not triable by a criminal court without more. In other 
words, a criminal court of its own motion could not pos­
sibly take cognizance of this charge. Until the Local Gov­
ernment by itself or through its proper officer. ,does not 
move, the criminal court is incapable of trying it. There­
fore, the question is two-fold. Firstly, that the criminal 
court being incapable of trying, this Court is also incapable 
of trying it. Secondly, if you put the point that the cri­
minal court is capable of trying, but with a condition 
satisfied. Therefore in either view of the case, this Court 
is not competent to try the charges before it. My sub­
mission is that, in so far as the charges of alleged murder 
by Shah Nawaz or Dhillon are concerned, they are really 
part of it and nothing else. It is not suggested on the 
record that either of them wanted to shoot anybody for 
personal enmity or for any other cause of any other kind. 
It is patent on the face of the record that they were part 
of the actions which they took as officers of the I.N.A. 
Therefore, my submission is that the Court is not com­
petent to try the two sets of offences before it. Per contra. 
if the Court is of opinion or should it come to be of opi­
nion that t~e charges of murder or abetment of murder 
are independent charges, then my submission to the Court 

~:· · is that under Rule 24 of the rules of conduct of trial jn 
this court, the joint trial is completely illegal on a decision 
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of the Privy Council in Indian Law Reports, 25 Madras,. 
Subramaniam's case. (Rule 24 was read out and the Judge 
Advocate pointed out the amendment to it}. -That does. 
not fall within the Rule because as to the murder and 
abetment of Muhammed Hussain all the persons are not 
there. So that whether you call up this rule or any other 
rule, there is what you may call in the plain language of 
the section, a complete misjoinder of the charges and of 
the accused. Shah Nawaz has nothing to do with the 
alleged murc.ier nor has Dhillon anything to do with the 
murder of Muhammad Hussain. I submit to the 
Court confidently that if you treat the second set off 
charges as independent charges, this trial is. wholly illegal. 

I will now give to the Court the judgment of the P1·i\'y 
Council in Law Reports, 25 Madras, on page 61. 

"The appellant was tried at the Criminal Sessions of 
the High court, and convicted on an indictment the 
first count of which contravened the provisions of 
sections 233 and 234 of the Code of Criminal Procedure 
<which proved that every separate offence shall be 
charged and tried separately. except that three 
offences of the same kind may be tried together in 
one charge if committed within the period of one 
year}, and did not fall within the provisions of section 
235 (1} which provides that if, in one series of acts. 
so connected together as to form the same trammc­
tion, more offences than one are committed by the 

I • 
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same person, he may be charged w1th and tried at 
one trial for every such offence. On a case certified 
under article 26 of the Letters Patent and heard by 
the Full Court, it was held by the majority of the 
Court that the union of the first count with the others 
made the whole indictment bad for misjoinder, but 
that it was open to them to strike out the first count • rejecting the evidence with regard to it, and deal with 
the evidence as to the remaining counts of the; in­
dictment. This ·was done with the result that 1 the 
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conviction was upheld on one count only, the sentence 
being reduced: 

Held, by the Judicial Committee that the disregard 
of an express provision of law as to the mode of trial 
was not a mere irregularity such as could be remedied 
by Section 537 of the Criminal Procedure Code. Such 
a phrase as 'irregularity' is not appropriate to the 
illegality of trying an accused person for more difier­
ent offences at the same time, and those offences be­
ing spread over a longer period than by law could 
have been joined together in one indictment. 

"Nor could such illegal procedure be amended by 
arranging afterwards what might or might not have 
been properly submitted. to th~ jury. To allow this 
would leave to the Court the functions of the jury. and 
the accused would never have been really tried at all 
upon the charge afterwards arranged by the Court. 
The trial having been conducted in a manner prohi­
bited by law, was held to be altogether illegal and the 
conviction was set aside." 

The judgment of the Lord Chancellor is on p. 96. 

"In this case the appellant was tried on an indict­
ment in which he was charged with no less than forty­
one acts, these . acts extending over a period of two 
years. This was plainly in contravention of the Code 
of Criminal Procedure, Section 234, which provides that 
a person may only be tried for three offences of the 
same kind if committed within a period of twelve 
months. The reason for such a provision, which is 
analogous to our own provisions in respect of embezzle­
ment, is obviously in ord'er that the jury may not be 
prejudiced by the multitude of charges and the incon­
venience of hearing together such a number of in­
stances of culpability and the consequent embarrass­
ment both to judges and accused. It is likely to cause 
confusion and to interfere with the definite proof of 
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a distinct offence which it is the object of all criminal 
Procedure to obtain. The policy of such a provision is 
:manifest and the necessity of a system of written accu­
sation specifying a definite criminal offence is of the 
essence of Criminal Procedure. Their Lordships think 
that the course pursued and which was plainly illegal 
cannot be amended by arranging afterwards what 
:might or might not have been properly submitted to 
the jury." 

It means that it is too late for even this Court to 
say, "We will either strike out the charge of waging 
War or strike out the charges of murder and abetment 
of murder in which some of the persons are uninterest-­
ed and not charged with reference to offences charged 
against others." 

Then the judgment proceeds-

"Upon the assumption that the trial was illegally 
co~ducted it is idle to suggest"-! am glad I am not 
.~~'>lUg those ~ords but the Lord C\l.ancellor uses them-

h_at there 1s enough left upon the indictment upon 
Wluch a conviction might have been supported if the 
accused had been properly tried. The mischief sought 
to be avoided by the Statute has been done. The effect 
of the multitude of charges before the jury has not 
/Jr~cn averted by dissecting the verdict aflterwarcls and 
H]JJH'oprlatJng the finding of guilty only to such parts 
(Jf the wriLten accusation as ought to have been sub­
mitted to the jury. 

"It would in the first place leave to the Court the 
function f the jury and the accused would never have 
really be!l~ tried at all upon the charge arranged after­
wards by the Court. 

Their Lordships cannot regard this as cured by 
Section 537 ." 



They do not say that any irregularity has not caused 
injustice and so doe-s not matter. But even that does not 
exist, because he must be held to the consequence in both 
way~. My learned friend says that the Criminal Pr(Jcedure 
Code dues not apply, and as such we proceed. So he can­
not have resort to Section 537. And then you get back to 
a very narrow point that the trial, as I submit, is clearly in 
contravention of Rule 24 of the Rules of Procedure. It is 
a complete irregularity and there is no way of curing it. 
Their Lord;;;hips proceed:-

"Their Lordships are unable to regard the disobe­
dience to an express provision as to a mode of' trial 
as a mere irregularity." 

In other words, you cannot in one trial charge people 
collectively unless they have committed all the otiences 
collectively, which admittedly they have not done. Even 
on the extended words which the Judge-Advocate read they 
would not apply because one thing is quite clear in relation 
to the charges, and that is this, that some of the accused 
are not in any manner liable for the offences alleged t 
have been committed by others. Therefore I submit th ~ 
this tl·ial 1s wholly illegal. The judgment proceeds:- a 

"Such a phrase as irregularit.y is not appropriate 'Co the 
illegality of trying _an accused person for many diffe­
rent offences at the same time and those offences b 

· b I e-ing :::pread over a longer pen~d ~han Y aw could have 
been joined together in one m~wttnllent1. The il~ustra­
tion uf the section itself suffic1en Y SlOWS What "' .. as 
meant." 

The _remedying of mere irregul.arities is familiar . 
most syst.E:ms of jurisprudence, but 1t would _b~ Qu extr~ 
ordinary extension of' such a branch of adml_n~stering the 
Criminal Law to say that when the Code posltlvely enact 
that such a trial as that which has :aken place here Sha ~ 
l1ot b , 'tted that this contraventwn of the Code ll e pen111 . . • . con1e 
Within the description of error, omlSslOn or Irregularity. s 



011. ..... v 

· "Some ·pertinent observations are made uPi110 v:en 
subject by Lord Herschell and Lord Russell of ~ seve­
in Smurthwaite vs. Hannay, where in a civil cas~l 5ays 
ral causes of action were joined Lord Hersch~ it is 
.tha_t •n unwarranted by any . enactment or ru e ell of 

.-much more: than an irregulanty', 8;nd Lord· R~5~ r of 
Killowe"n in the~ same ·case says, 'Such a jotn e sti­

. plaintiffs is more than an irregularity;· it is the c~tbe 
. tutioll or~ suit.. in .a way not authorised by laW an 
rules applicable to procedme." _ 

~'With all· respects to Sir Francis Maclean· and the 
; .. otllet .:r.udges ~who. agreed with him in the case ·of In 

the Matter of Abdur Rahntan, he appears to nave. fal­
len into a very manifest logical error in arguing that 
because all irregularities are illegal, that therefore all 
things that may in his view be called illegal are there­
fore by that one adjective applied to them become 
equal in importance and are susceptible of being 
treated alike. But the trial was prohibited in the 
mode in which it was condu,cted, and their Lordships 
will humbly advise." His Majesty that the. convlctlon 
should be set aside." 

. And I submit It .does n~t require much argument. .It 
lS therefore wrong on -the face of the charges with wlli.ch 
thes~ men are charged, and I submit that this trial i~ 
wholly illE:gal and I ask you to hold it so. 

TJ1at is as far as I wm go on the record on the points 
Vlhlcll al"isc fOl' your decJsJon, and there are very few point·.:; 
indcc,d. I w111 plainly and briefly state to the Court the 
oints on which I rely, so that there may be no room for 

p1istakc or E:quivocation about it. I say that this is a c~se 
!!f men not acting on their own in any struggle or wa~m.g 
0 r at all. This is a case of men as part of a regulat OI­
w~1ised army, accepted as such by their opponents, fight­
~ n· a war under the directions of a regularly formed Gov­
~~ment. 'l.'hat being so. I submit that they nre subject to 
the ol'dinary laws of war with which I :have troubled you 
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e.t ~0~"tie ~h- n~melY! they are entitledto -~tife.-7iiiiiisr 
~ne ltnnlUuitie~ of bel~xg~rents. My SUbmission is that to 
th e:letent tQ wfiich thx~ xs a Il_latter Pertaining to war and 
the col1duct of war it IS outside the municioal law. But 
1., ~111 :l.ftaid sometimes ~ the narrow precin~ts of a court 
ll .... e. thi:s, Ol'e maY saY: ·What have I got to do with inter­
natlol1'-'.l la.;_,?" BUt fortunately for myself I ~m fortified 
in this c~se ~0 that l ~an fall Within the fou~· corners of 
the I~dian enactment~ 1·~·· ~e~. 79. I _say that if my first 
submission to the JUriSdiction of municipt4l law and its 
ll~n-.~PPlica:i~n is not upheld ~Y ~his Court-though I sub­
~u~ It should be-l saY that Wlthm the meaning of Sec. 79 
lt lS CJUite 1 ·n-you are bound to give effect to it and I 
1 · Pal · · th t l~V~ SUbmitted authonties-. a the. word '"aw" as ad--
xmmstereu . Britain and India recogniSes the principles of 
internation~~ law. And ~heretore, if a thing is justified 
by law, I can plead justxfica.tlon before thic; Court undel· 
Sec. 71:1. That is mY first pomt. 

~~· second point ~ef~re the Court is that as regards 
qucst1ous which were mc1dental, I do not wish to repeat 
then\ here though I wish to submit to the Court that the 
que~tion of ailegiance is irrelevant to the issue, but to the 
extent to whicll it is relevant I have already submitted 
that When the ume arrives in relations between the crown 
and the CGlonies, the Colonies are entitled to throw off 
their nllegiance on the outbreak of war for the purpose of 
their lil•cration. And I have given you the most classical 
instance of those who aTe now the friends of Britain and 
if. I rnay sav so, their warmest and greatest supporters i~ 
the ta;sk or· saving civilisation. You could not have a 
stronger instance than that. • 

Then f.he next point which I ask the Court to hold is 
that on a question of fact entire1y, in so far as the .Indian 
National Army was concerned, it ~va~ a ~oluntary organi­
sation. Even if there were conscnpt10n, 1t does not make 
any difference in this case, because . there ar(: countries 
where there is conscription and pumshment attached t 
it even today. But it has become fashionab'e to say- ''Oho 

• 
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there Was tortm:~- ~nd coercion" and an thn rest of it, and 
I ask th,~ Court to hold that it was entirely tree rrom any 
such <.:omplaint At all events, apart from anY llCarsay, 
on the c";ti.~ · d d before this Cou t 1 1 ~vc alrcnlly b - · · "nee recor e r , 1•• • 
~u nuttP.Cl that the people who COlllPiain of tortu~e fall 
mto four classes· there were those Who Prove tlJ.:lt m. two 
cases it Was for. reasons which. are Self-confessed in on~ 
case and Z:,I"actically adnlitted In the second case. 'I'he 
first ~a~ refusing to do fatigue and the second case Was 
cow-kll!.lns. As to the other cases of an isolate1 character, 
they are f'Xaggerated, and deserve llothing cise bUt ~On­
tempt at ;~.·our hands. If men were asked to du fatigue 
rluty, merely because theY h~Ve to carry baskets or make 
beds for the purpose of soWI_ng ve~etabies, tf theY say it 
was t?rture, r hope mY lea:v'hed fnend Will not use that 
word 1n connection with that conduct . 

. Then r ask the court to hold that in any event this 
evidence is totally irrelevant for the purpose of ·this case, 
for the reasons which I have submitted, namely, that the 
ground on Which that evidence was attempted is entirely 
proved not to exist . 

. The next thing that I submit to the court is that the 
e"\'IOence with reference to the alleged charges of murder 
v:ould be really covered, if I am right in my nrst submis­
sion, by the fact that they are part of the prosecution of 
the war, in that these people were sentenced by Court 
:Man-ial to be shot under the proper law. The next thing 
I ask the Court to hold is that there was an org·anised Gov­
ernment, that a very large number of Indians in the Far 
East owned allegiance to this Government, which was re­
cognised, having had ceded to it territories which are. men­
tioned, and it was by this Government that wat· was de­
clared, and the Indian National Army fought this cam­
paig-n. 

I will hand over to the learned Judge-Advocate the 
list which I offered to give him yesterday on the point 
which my learned friend on the other side attempts to 
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:~~~d~--th~t-a;· ii-t1~:e~;: ~~:~'Y\Siot'&-~~~~~!~ 
Code "'l.g llossiblY. t~iSed Code. 1 e~~n.t the wnole ~tcb1ng 
at n. Co as an unclV' because as t lnk he WS.S sll t he 
adrnitte llllllete stro.."'• ill coJJSOJla21c0 the rest of the ~~~'2.Y' 
.Act. ~ that it w£1Stbing that he e Witll t!lt' Izuji$1, • oral 
punis~: the onlY tllerefore hancu~eferred to is c~~dvo­
cate l>t- _nt. I- alll JaW in which g to the Judg ears 
under ovlsions of tlle d in force the same thing aPP mY 
Act .... a different r.ea. ' 'When the Indian Ar 

vvas . . n ln operatlO · 

_Jlldge-Ad te: .Are you referring t s 22 of the 
Indtan voca o ec. 

J\rrny Act? 
. Sri. besai. WY learned friend tried to make out as if 

whlPPin.g Was. a punishme?t which was abolished witb re­
ference to the arlllY in thiS country, and I submit that he 
was entit-ely mistaken-

• o Judge-Advocate: 'l'l1e very :first sentence in writing that 
ih~ have given is wrong. _You have got flogging under 

. .Act as it stands. pumshment of whipping can be in­
~~~te~ on rnenial servants up to a lllax.irnum of 20 strokes-­

t ls What is written here, and the correct thing is 12 
strokes on active service. 

Sri besai: If' I am wrong, I rnust -correct myself. 

Judge-Advocate: I have corrected it now. 

Sri Desai. 'fhe point, Sirs, which I am trying to 
l~b.out- before. the court is this: In addition to the pro­
VISions in the Indian ArlllY Act, there are provisions under 
the Defence of India Act and in the Ordinances. All of 
thetn have got to be taken together to see whether or not, 
and What punishnlent is permissible. 

By Ordinance 3 of 1942-if necessary we will produce 
the actual copy of the Ordinance before you-whipping 
was ordered as a punishment. 
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a&-=-Let me get bac!t to the point: The point really is 
that in so far a·s the governance of the Army is concerned, 
it was governed by an Act which, except for the purpose of 
whipping, has been practically or tacitly admitted to be 
the Indian Army Act. As regards whipping, I submit to 
the Court that that kind of punishment exists, though not 
in the Army Act wholly, in the three Ordinances which 
are reproduced. Supposing to the extent to which there 
was an excess of the number of strokes, I submit with very 
great respect that it is not going to make an unciviliscd 
ArmY because of that. Therefore, substantially the point 
is, there is an army governed by a Code which is substan­
tially, if not actually, word for word, the same as the In­
dian Army Act. 

I next come to the question that, in fact, the alleged 
atrocities-that is the mildest word that can be used from 
the point of view of my learned friend-which are said to 
have been exercised for the purpose of getting enrolment 
to the I.N.A. are in fact not true. The accused are not 
charged with it, nor have they anything to do with it. 
They neither did it, nor permitted it, nor encouraged it, 
nor have they any knowledge of it. That, Sir, is the actual 
position so far as that charge is concerned. 

Then, coming to the alleged charge of murder and 
abetment, I have dealt with that and I have satisfied the 
court that the execution of the sentences has not been 
proved. 

My next submission to the Court is that this trial is 
wholly illegal. 

My next submission to the Court is that so far as the 
construction of the words 'offences triable by a Criminal 
court' is concerned, the Court must have reference to the 
only enactment which says what are the offences triable 
by the Court, and you cannot do by saying that the Cri­
minal Procedure Code is not applicable,-and if it has to 
be resorted to, then it has to be stated: First, this charge 
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is not triable at all. Alternatively, in any case, this ch~;g~ 
is not triable except on the complaint of a Local Govern~ 
ment or an officer authorized in that behalf, and such a 
complaint does not exist. And for this reason my clients 
should be declared iru1ocent of the charges against thein. 

The last thing that I wish to say is that if any new or 
fresh authority is cited by my learned friend which I had 
no opportunity of meeting, I should be permitted to hand 
in a very short statement, covering a single page, as to 
why those authorities if they are relied upon are not appli­
cable to the facts of this case or to the decision in this case. 

Finally, Sirs, I acknowledge with appreciation the 
courtesy and attention that has been given to us, and I 
hope that when I hand over a signed transcript to each 
member of the Court, it will receive such attention as it 
may deserve. 

Judge-Advocate: With regard to your last submission, 
under what. rule are you -applying to make another address? 

Sri Desai: I do not pretend that there is a rule. It 
'·-. is a matter of common justice. If any authority is cited 

by one side which the other side has never had any oppor­
tunity of seeing or meeting, with the best of imagination 
he could not poS'5ibly deal with it. Therefore, common 
fairness demands that he should be given a chance to ex­
plain. All that is forbidden is an address to the Court. 
But surely for your own assistance, if we may pretend that 
we are able to give any assistance, if anything is cited by 
the other side which is not' seen by me, surely I should be 
allowed to present to the Court a very short resume of my 
grounds on which it is not applicable. 

Judge-Advocate: Would that not apply to any case 
in which your opponent had the last word? 

Sri Desai: Then the law is accepted. My learned 
,... friend will not contradict it. Even when a man has no 

right to reply and a fresh authority is cited, he has a right 
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to answer. I hope my learned friend will agree with ·me 
there. It is a rule of common fairness. You do not need 
a rule for this: that a thing which is never urged before 
this Court, is urged before this Court, and no reply is 
allowed. 

Judge-Advocate: As I have often told you, gentlemen, 
a Court Martial is bound by very rigid rules outside l-7hich 
they cannot go. The rule is laid down for your strict 
obedience by the Indian Legislature, and whether rightly 
or wrongly you cannot go outside that rule. Rule ·18 of 
the Indian Army Act is the only rule I know with regard 
to the right of address, and it reads as follows: 

(Reads Rule 48 of the Indian Army Act). 

That rigid rule is for your strict comp!.iance. 

Sri Desai: There is one point I would like to urge. 
The words are: "The Prosecutor may I'eply". If the Pro­
secutor confines himself to merely replying to what I ha'le 
said, I have nothing to say. Let him be confined com­
pletely to what I have argued by way of reply, and I am 
quite content. I am glad that though the ruling is part.ly 
against me, it is partly in my favour also. Let that ruling· 
be strictly followed, namely that it will be enjoined on the 
Prosecutor that he does nothing more than reply to what 
1 have argued. Then I am quite content. 

Judge-Advocate: The Court regret they are unable 
to permit a further address by the Counsel for the De­
fence after the address of the Counsel for the Prosecution. 

sri Desai: Would the Court direct that the Prosecu­
tor would only reply what I have argued and nothing more? 
-you cannot have it both ways. 

counsel for the Prosecution: That is not the meaning 
of the w·ord 'reply', I submit. 

Sri pesai: If my friend thinks that he is supporting 
ause of justice by saying that I cannot reply to a new 
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matter in case law, that is a new law. Unless he is pre­
pared to submit to this restriction, I submit the law lays 
on him the duty merely to reply to what I have sa.id. I 
have nothing more to say, justice or no justice. I 
hope my learned friend cites nothing that is not strictly 
relevant to what I have said. 

Counsel for the Prosecution: My submission is that 
it is not replying to what you have said but it means 
addressing the Court on the case. I ask for an adjourn­
ment for my address and I have to ask for an adjournment 
up to Saturday. What I intend to do is to give my address 
in writing, if not the whole of it, at least the largest part 
of it. 

President: The whole of your address on Saturday? 
. Counsel for the Prosecution: I think so. But I would 
suggest that an extra hour might be thrown in. If I have 
it in writing, it will not take so long. 

Sri Desai: I have no objection. 

Counsel for the Prosecution: To be on the safe sidep 
an extra hour might be put in 011 Saturday. 

President: No objection? 
Counsel for the Defence: Certainly not. 
Application for adjournment by Sir P. Engineer. 

" Note by the Court 

The Counsel for the Prosecution requests an adjourn­
ment until Saturday, 22nd December 1945 for the purpose 
of preparing his closing address. The Court allowed this 
adjournment. 

At 16-30 hours the Court adjourns until 10-00 hou~s 
on 22nd December 1945. · 

18th December, 1945. 
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